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Notice of Meeting and
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Highlights

o Extraordinary General Meeting to be held on 14 July 2017 to consider the acquisition of a 70%
interest in the Foxleigh Coal Mine.

e ASX has allowed the Company’s securities to resume trading up to the date of the Extraordinary
General Meeting.

Extraordinary General Meeting

Realm Resources Limited (ASX: RRP) (Realm or the Company) is pleased to announce that it will
hold an Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) on 14 July 2017 to consider, among other items, the
acquisition of a 70% interest in the Foxleigh Coal Mine for the purposes of ASX Listing Rule 11.1.2
and 11.1.3.

The EGM will be held on 14 July 2017 at Maddocks Lawyers, Level 27, Angel Place, 123 Pitt
Street, Sydney NSW 2000 at 11.00 am.

Attached is a Notice of Extraordinary General Meeting dispatched to the Company’s shareholders
today.

Resumption of trading

The Company is also pleased to confirm that ASX has allowed the Company’s securities to resume
trading with effect from the dispatch of the Notice of Extraordinary General Meeting.

In accordance with ASX policy, ASX has confirmed that the Company’s shares will then be
suspended from the close of trading on 13 July 2017, being the last trading day before the EGM,
until such time as the Company has re-complied with chapters 1 and 2 of the Listing Rules as if it
were applying for admission to the official list.

Information on Realm Resources Limited is available on the Company’s website at
www.realmresources.com.au

For further information, please contact:

Gemma Yeates
Financial & Corporate Relations (FCR)
T: +61 2 8264 1005

g.yeates@fcr.com.au

Date 14/06/2017


http://www.realmresources.com.au/
mailto:g.yeates@fcr.com.au

REALM RESOURCES LIMITED
ABN 98 008 124 025

NOTICE OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
AND

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT

Date of Meeting: 14 July 2017
Time of Meeting: 11.00 am (AEST)

Place of Meeting:  Maddocks Lawyers
Level 27
Angel Place
123 Pitt Street
Sydney NSW 2000

This Notice of Extraordinary General Meeting and Explanatory Statement (including the
Schedules) should be read in their entirety. If Shareholders are in doubt as to how they should
vote, they should seek advice from their accountant, solicitor or other professional adviser prior
to voting.

Should you wish to discuss the matters in this Notice of Extraordinary General Meeting, please
do not hesitate to contact Theo Renard (Company Secretary) by email at
theo.renard@realmresources.com.au.
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Notice is hereby given that the Extraordinary General Meeting of Realm Resources Limited (Realm or the
Company) will be held at Maddocks Lawyers, Level 27, Angel Place, 123 Pitt Street, Sydney, NSW 2000,
on 14 July 2017, at 11.00 am (AEST) to conduct the business set out in this Notice of Meeting.

The Explanatory Statement (including the Schedules) which accompanies and forms part of this Notice of
Meeting describes the various matters to be considered and contains a glossary of defined terms that are
not defined in full in this Notice of Meeting. The Explanatory Statement and the Proxy Form are part of this
Notice of Meeting.

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT

The business of the Extraordinary General Meeting affects your shareholding and your vote is important.
VOTING IN PERSON

To vote in person, attend the Extraordinary General Meeting on the date and at the place set out above.
VOTING BY PROXY

To vote by proxy, please complete and sign the enclosed Proxy Form and return:

e online at www.investorvote.com.au;

e in person at: Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited, Level 4, 60 Carrington Street, Sydney
NSW 2000 Australia;

e by post to: Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited, GPO Box 242, Melbourne, VIC, 3001

Australia;
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e by facsimile to: 1800 783 447 (within Australia) or +61 3 9473 2555 (outside Australia); or

e Custodians, nominees, non-broker participants, portfolio administrators, portfolio aggregators and
eligible financial advisers may also lodge their proxy online. Visit www.intermediaryonline.com.

Note that the Proxy Form must be received by the Company not later than 11.00 am AEST on 12 July
2017. Proxy Forms received later than this time will be invalid.

For further information on voting by proxy a copy of the Proxy Form, please refer to Proxy Instructions
Form attached to this Notice of Meeting.

ENTITLEMENT TO ATTEND AND VOTE
The Directors have determined pursuant to Regulation 7.11.37 of the Corporations Regulations 2001 (Cth)

that the persons eligible to vote at the Extraordinary General Meeting are those who are registered
Shareholders at 5.00 pm AEST on 12 July 2017.
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BUSINESS OF THE MEETING

AGENDA

RESOLUTION 1 - Change to scale of activities

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass, with or without amendment, the following resolution as an ordinary
resolution:

"That, subject to and conditional upon the passing of each of the Resolutions, for the purpose of
ASX Listing Rule 11.1.2 and 11.1.3 and for all other purposes, approval is given for the company
fo make a change to the scale of its activities resulting from the company acquiring a 70%
interest in the Foxleigh Joint Venture, as described in the Explanatory Statement accompanying
this notice."

Voting Prohibition Statement - the Company will disregard any votes cast on this resolution by any
person who might obtain a benefit, except a benefit solely in the capacity of a holder of ordinary securities,
if the resolution is passed and any associates of those persons. However, the Company need not
disregard a vote if it is cast by a person as a proxy for a person who is entitled to vote, in accordance with
the directions on the proxy form or it is cast by the person chairing the meeting as proxy for a person who
is entitled to vote, in accordance with a direction on the proxy form to vote as the proxy decides.

RESOLUTION 2 — Consolidation of Capital

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass, with or without amendment, the following resolution as an ordinary
resolution:

"That, subject to and conditional upon the passing of each of the Resolutions, for the purposes of
section 254H of the Corporations Act, Listing Rule 7.20 and for all other purposes, approval is
given for the issued capital of the Company to be consolidated on the basis of:

(a) every 10 Shares be consolidated into one Share; and

(b)  every 10 Options be consolidated into one Option with the exercise price amended in an
inverse proportion to that ratio,

with this Consolidation taking effect on a date announced to ASX in accordance with the Listing
Rules and with fractional entitlements to a Share or an Option being rounded up to the nearest
whole number on the terms and conditions set out in the Explanatory Statement accompanying
this notice.”

RESOLUTION 3 — Approval for issue of shares under the Capital Raise

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass, with or without amendment, the following resolution as an ordinary
resolution:

"That, subject to and conditional upon the passing of each of the Resolutions, for the purposes of
ASX Listing Rule 7.1 and for all other purposes, approval is given for the company to issue up to
25,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company (on a post-Consolidation basis), on the
terms and conditions set out in the Explanatory Statement accompanying this notice.”

Voting Prohibition Statement - the Company will disregard any votes cast on this resolution by any

person who may participate in the proposed issue and any person who might obtain a benefit, except a
page 4



benefit solely in the capacity of a holder of ordinary securities, if the resolution is passed and any
associates of those persons. However, the Company need not disregard a vote if it is cast by a person as
a proxy for a person who is entitled to vote, in accordance with the directions on the proxy form or it is cast
by the person chairing the meeting as proxy for a person who is entitled to vote, in accordance with a
direction on the proxy form to vote as the proxy decides.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Resolutions Inter-conditional

Resolutions 1, 2 and 3 are inter-conditional. This means that each of these Resolutions needs to be
passed for the approval sought in respect of the company’s acquisition of a 70% interest in the Foxleigh
Joint Venture.

Given the Resolutions are inter-conditional:

a) if any person is excluded from voting on one Resolution, they will also be precluded from voting on
the other Resolutions; and

b) if any one of the Resolutions are not passed, the Company will not be able to comply with the
requirements of Chapters 1 and 2 of the Listing Rules as if it were applying for admission to the
official list and the Company will remain suspended from trading on ASX.

All Resolutions are proposed as ordinary Resolutions, requiring the approval by a simple majority of votes
cast by eligible Shareholders present and voting at the Extraordinary General Meeting.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Mr Theo Renard
Company Secretary
Realm Resources Limited

12 June 2017
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EXPLANATORY STATEMENT
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

REALM RESOURCES LIMITED
ABN 98 008 124 025

This Explanatory Statement has been prepared for the information of the Shareholders in connection with
the business to be conducted at the Extraordinary General Meeting be held at Maddocks Lawyers, Level
27, Angel Place, 123 Pitt Street, Sydney, NSW 2000, on 14 July 2017, at 11.00 am (AEST).

The purpose of the Explanatory Statement is to provide information which the Directors believe to be
material to Shareholders in deciding whether or not to pass the Resolutions in the Notice of Meeting.

The Directors recommend that Shareholders read this Explanatory Statement, which form part of the
accompanying Notice of Meeting, before determining whether to support the Resolutions or otherwise. If
you have any questions regarding the matters set out in this Explanatory Statement or the preceding
Notice of Meeting, please contact the Company Secretary, your stockbroker, your accountant, or other
professional adviser before determining whether to support the Resolutions or otherwise.

Capitalised terms used in this Explanatory Statement are defined in the glossary to this document (unless
otherwise defined in the corresponding Schedules).

1. OVERVIEW OF CHANGE TO SCALE OF ACTIVITIES
11 General background

ASX has advised the Company that it considers that the Foxleigh Transaction constitutes a
significant change in the nature or scale of the Company and that it has exercised its discretion
under Listing Rule 11.1.2 to require the Company to seek shareholder approval for the Foxleigh
Transaction.

In addition, ASX has exercised its discretion under Listing Rule 11.1.2 and 11.1.3 to require the
Company to comply with chapters 1 and 2 of the Listing Rules as if it were applying for admission
to the official list (Re-compliance).

In considering the Foxleigh Transaction, Shareholders should note that the Foxleigh Transaction
requires the approval of Realm’s shareholders under the Listing Rules and therefore the Foxleigh
Transaction may be unwound and the Company would no longer have any interest in Foxleigh in
the event that Shareholder approval is not received at the Extraordinary General Meeting.

1.2 Regulatory disclosures

In accordance with Guidance Note 12 issued by ASX in connection with ASX Listing Rule 11, the
Company has requested that ASX allow the Company’s securities to resume trading following
release of this Notice of Meeting for a period ending immediately before the Extraordinary
General Meeting is held.

In the event that ASX allows the Company’s Shares to resume trading, investors should take
account of the following uncertainties in deciding whether or not to buy or sell Realm Shares:

1.2.1 the Foxleigh Transaction requires Shareholder approval under the Listing Rules and
therefore may be unwound if that approval is not forthcoming;

1.2.2 Realm is required to re-comply with ASX’s requirements for admission and quotation
and therefore the Foxleigh Transaction may be unwound if those requirements are not
met; and
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1.3

1.2.3 ASX has absolute discretion in deciding whether or not to re-admit the Company to the
official list and to re-quote its securities and therefore, the Foxleigh Transaction may be
unwound if ASX exercises that discretion.

Realm notes that ASX takes no responsibility for the contents of this Notice of Meeting and the
Explanatory Statement.

Realm confirms that it is in compliance with its continuous disclosure obligations under Listing
Rule 3.1.

Foxleigh Transaction
As announced to the ASX on 31 August 2016, Realm through its 99.9% owned subsidiary
Middlemount South Pty Ltd (Middlemount), completed a transaction with Anglo American
Metallurgical Coal Assets (AAMC) comprising:
1.3.1 the acquisition of 100% of the shares in Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd (FCL), which holds:

(@) a70% interest in the Foxleigh Joint Venture (Foxleigh Joint Venture); and

(b) a100% interest in EPC 855; and
1.3.2 the acquisition of 100% of EPC 1669,
(the Foxleigh Transaction).
Foxleigh is owned and operated as a joint venture, with POSCO and Nippon owning 20% and
10% respectively. POSCO and Nippon are longstanding customers of the Foxleigh Coal Mine
(Foxleigh).
As a result of the Foxleigh Transaction, Middlemount has a 30% direct interest in Foxleigh via its
ownership of FCL and an indirect 40% interest via FCL’s shareholding in CAML Resources Pty
Ltd (CAML). CAML is a 60% shareholder in the Foxleigh Joint Venture. CAML'’s shareholders are
POSCO (33%) and FCL (67%). Please refer to Figure 1 below for a group structure chart of the

Foxleigh Joint Venture.

Figure 1: Foxleigh ownership chart

Realm Resources
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Under a separate operating agreement, Middlemount is the manager and operator of Foxleigh
via its 100% ownership of Foxleigh Management Pty Ltd.
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The agreement for the EPC 1669 acquisition was subject only to Ministerial consent which the
Company obtained on 12 April 2017 from the Queensland Government Department of Natural
Resources and Mines.

Foxleigh was acquired on a going concern basis and the Foxleigh Transaction includes a number
of procurement and services contracts, landholder access agreements and logistics and coal
sales contracts. The contracts include access to port and rail capacity consistent with
expectations for future Foxleigh production.

Foxleigh has a diversified base of longstanding customers and its premium high quality LV PCI
coal is sold to key export markets including South Korea, Japan and Taiwan.

Tenement details for Foxleigh and its surrounding area are provided in ASX Announcement
‘Foxleigh Transaction’ dated 31 August 2016 and set out in the Solicitor's Tenement Report in
Schedule 2 to this Explanatory Statement.

The management team has settled in and is focussing on ensuring an efficient and effective
operational transition. Importantly, the focus on occupational health and safety and
environmental, social and governance matters is ongoing.

The Foxleigh Transaction represents a significant milestone in Realm achieving its stated key
objectives and has already delivered outstanding value to the Company’s shareholders.

An Independent Geologist's Report of Foxleigh is provided in Schedule 1 to this Explanatory
Statement and a Solicitor’'s Tenement Report is provided in Schedule 2 to this Explanatory
Statement. The Board considers that this information is material to Shareholders and
Shareholders are advised to read this information carefully.

Details of Foxleigh
1.4.1 Location of Foxleigh

Foxleigh is located in Queensland’s Bowen Basin coalfield, 22 kilometres southeast of
Middlemount and 272 kilometres northwest of Rockhampton (see Figure 2 below). The
mine was established in 1999 as an open cut operation producing benchmark quality,
LV PCI coal for the export market. Saleable production in CY2016 (100% basis) was
approximately 3.1 million tonnes.

Foxleigh is comprised of seven Mining Leases and three Exploration Permits for Coal

(EPC). Ownership of these tenures is summarised in the Solicitor's Tenement Report
set out in Schedule 2 to this Explanatory Statement.
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1.4.2

1.4.3

Figure 2: Foxleigh Location and Infrastructure Map
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Principal activities and business model

Foxleigh is an open-cut coal mining operation which mines a number of coal seams in
the Rangal Coal Measures. Foxleigh has been operating since 2000, producing low-ash
Pulverised Coal Injection (PCIl) metallurgical coal.

Foxleigh was operated by AAMC which was acquired by Middlemount as part of the
Foxleigh Transaction.

For further detail on the principal activities and business model of Foxleigh, please refer
to the Independent Geologist’s Report in Schedule 1 to this Explanatory Statement.

Mining process

Mining is undertaken using truck and shovel, with raw coal delivered to Foxleigh’s coal
handling and preparation plant with a processing capacity in excess of 4Mtpa of raw
coal for washing.

Product coal is hauled 27 kilometres on a private haul road to a dedicated train loading

facility located alongside the Capcoal rail loop and is then railed 280 kilometres to the
Dalyrymple Bay Coal Terminal at the Port of Hay Point near Mackay, Queensland.
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1.5

1.6

Figure 3: Surface Mining Process
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Source: WorldCoal.org
For further details on Foxleigh, please refer to the Independent Geologist’s Report in Schedule 1
to this Explanatory Statement and the Solicitor's Tenement Report in Schedule 2 to this
Explanatory Statement.

Due diligence of the Foxleigh Transaction

Middlemount undertook due diligence in relation to the Foxleigh Transaction including detailed
technical, commercial, legal and financial due diligence.

Middlemount also engaged in discussions and negotiations with the Foxleigh Joint Venture
partners regarding transitional arrangements and revisions to existing mine plans.

Realm has conducted a detailed review of Foxleigh’s operations since the Foxleigh Transaction
was completed. As part of its review, Middlemount has undertaken the necessary geological
assessments and studies required in accordance with the JORC 2012 code and has issued a
new assessment of the coal resources (refer to the Initial JORC Statement for further details).
Realm has also obtained the Independent Geologist’'s Report set out in Schedule 1 to this
Explanatory Statement and the Solicitor's Tenement Report set out in Schedule 2 to this
Explanatory Statement. The Board considers this information is material to Shareholders and
Shareholders are advised to read this information carefully.

Material terms of the Foxleigh Transaction

The material terms of the Sale Agreement are set out below.

1.6.1 Consideration and Royalty Payments

As part of the Foxleigh Transaction:

(a) bank guarantees totalling A$87.3m have been put in place on a back to back
basis to AAMC to cover the underlying guarantees as follows:

(i) in favour of the State of Queensland in respect of the mining licences of
the Foxleigh Joint Venture and the EPC’s; and

(i) in favour of various counterparties to Foxleigh Joint Venture contracts;
(b)  the Company has also paid A$43.7 million cash to AAMC to date. This amount is
subject to a further working capital adjustment. A claim has been submitted to

AAMC and is currently under discussion;
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1.7

1.8

(c) FCL will pay AAMC a semi-annual royalty (Royalty Payment) on its 70% share
of coal extracted and sold from the assets acquired for a period of 12.5 years.
The Royalty Payments will be made based on the Average Coal Price Achieved
(ACPA) in each six-month royalty period based on the following scale:

(i) if ACPA is greater than A$105 per tonne then a payment of A$1.00 per
tonne; or

(i)  if ACPA is greater than A$115 per tonne then a payment of A$2.00 per
tonne; or

(i)  if ACPA is greater than A$130 per tonne then a payment of A$3.00 per
tonne.

Royalty payments are capped at A$75.0m in aggregate.
1.6.2 Representation and warranties

The Sale Agreement included representations and warranties from each of the parties
that are standard for an agreement of this nature.

1.6.3 Indemnities
AAMC has agreed to indemnify Middlemount against third party claims.
AAMC has also indemnified Middlemount against:

(a) any amount payable by any group company after completion pursuant to the
AAMC group tax deed; and

(b)  a tax liability of a group company that is in respect of any of:
0] period occurring on or prior to the completion date;

(i)  act, transaction, event or omission or any instrument executed or
performed on or prior to the completion date; or

(i)  supplies, acquisitions or importations made on or prior to the completion
date.

The Sale Agreement otherwise contains clauses typical for agreements of this nature.
Financial position of FCL

Please refer to Schedule 4 to this Explanatory Statement for the general purpose audited
accounts for FY2016 for FCL. Please also refer to Schedule 5 to this Explanatory Statement for
the special purpose audited accounts for FY2015 for FCL. Also set out are the corresponding
audit reports for these historical accounts.

Key operating results

Key operating results for Foxleigh (on a 100% basis) for the period 29 August 2016 to 31 May
2017 are set out below:

ROM coal
produced

283 348 406 65 40 24 133 74 341 2,915

page 11



ROM strip

raio (bem | 4584 | 674 | 571 751 544 431 (141 841  [5.9:1 6.9:1
waste /

ROM t)

Saleable
coal 260 322 282 262 311 272 199 n/a 230 2,136
produced

joalcoal o935 242 286 61 183 475 40 65 333 2,078

Product coal
stockpiles 225 256 241 398 535 321 444 411 311 n/a

The operating results for April 2017 were significantly impacted by Tropical Cyclone Debbie.
Refer to ASX Announcement dated 4 April 2017 ‘Update on impact of Tropical Cyclone Debbie
and ASX Announcement dated 24 April 2017 ‘Further update on impact of Tropical Cyclone
Debbie’ for further information.

As at 31 May 2017, Foxleigh has produced 2,136 thousands of tonnes of saleable production
and shipped and sold 2,078 thousands of tonnes since completion of the Foxleigh Transaction.

1.9 Attributable cash receipts

Cash A$19.4 A$28.9
receipts million million

million million million  million  |million million million

Attributable cash on hand for the Company as at 31 May 2017 was A$100.9 million.
1.10 Financial effect of the Foxleigh Transaction on the Company

The effect of the Foxleigh Transaction on the Company is set out below:

Total Consolidated A$15.4 A$171.5 A$186.9
Assets (rounded to million million million
nearest $ million) —

Total Equity Interests A$46.3 A$0 A$46.3

(rounded to nearest $ million million

million) —

Annual Revenue A$4.7 A$332.4 A$337.1
million million million
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1.1

Annual Expenditure A$5.5 A$271.1 A$276.6

million million million
Annual Profit before tax (A$1.0 A$62.1 A$61.1
million) million million

An Independent Geologist's Report of Foxleigh is provided in Schedule 1 to this Explanatory
Statement and a Solicitor's Tenement Report is provided in Schedule 2 to this Explanatory
Statement. The Board considers that this information is material to Shareholders and
Shareholders are advised to read this information carefully.

Capital Raise

In order to meet the conditions for Re-Compliance, the Company will need to undertake a capital
raising.

ASX has imposed a 20% minimum free float requirement on new listings (and for those entities
that have to re-comply with Chapters 1 and 2 of the Listing Rules) under Condition 7 of Listing
Rule 1.1 (20% Free Float Requirement).

For the purposes of the Listing Rules, ‘Free float’ is the percentage of the entity’s main class of
securities that are not restricted securities or subject to voluntary escrow and are held by
shareholders who are not:

1.11.1  arelated party of the Company;
1.11.2  an associate of a related party of the Company; or

1.11.3  a person whose relationship to the Company, or a related party, or its associate, of the
Company, is such that in ASX’s opinion, they should be treated as an affiliate of the
Company.

To achieve the 20% Free Float Condition, the Company will issue at least 24,780,009 Shares on
a post-Consolidation basis (and up to a maximum of 25,000,000 Shares on a post-Consolidation
basis) to investors that are not affiliated with the Company’s majority Shareholder, Taurus Funds
Management Pty Ltd or a related party of the Company.

As such, the Company intends to undertake a capital raise pursuant to a Prospectus that
complies with the requirements of section 710 of the Corporations Act. The capital raise will be
undertaken by way of an offer of at least 24,780,009 Shares on a post-Consolidation basis (and
up to a maximum of 25,000,000 Shares on a post-Consolidation basis) to institutional,
sophisticated and retail investors (Capital Raise). As part of the Capital Raise, it is intended that
a priority offer (but not an entitlement offer) will be made to existing Shareholders to allow them
to participate in the Capital Raise (Priority Offer). The Priority Offer will be at least 10% of the
Capital Raise.

It is expected that the Capital Raise will be conducted at a price which will be determined at a
future date by the Company, in consultation with the Lead Manager, taking into account
prevailing market conditions at the time. The minimum price will be determined in accordance
with:

1.11.4  the requirements of Condition 2 of Listing Rule 2.1, being an issue price of least $0.20;
and
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1.12

1.11.5 the requirements of Listing Rule 7.3.3 being, a price that is at least 80% of the volume
weighted average market price of the Company’s shares calculated over the last 5 days
on which sales in the Shares were recorded before the date of the Prospectus.

All shares issued under the Capital Raise, will rank equally with existing Shares on issue.

The Company’s majority Shareholder, Taurus Funds Management Pty Ltd, has indicated that it
will not participate in the Capital Raise (including the Priority Offer).

The offer size and structure of the Capital Raise may be subject to change at the discretion of the
Board. Further, the Board and the Lead Manager will determine to whom the Capital Raise
Shares will be issued.

The Company has mandated Morgans Corporate Limited as Lead Manager to assist with the
Capital Raise.

As noted earlier in this Notice, the Company has requested that ASX allow the Company’s
securities to resume trading following release of this Notice of Meeting for a period ending
immediately before the Extraordinary General Meeting is held.

If the Resolutions are passed, Shares under the Capital Raise will be issued after the
Consolidation has been effected.

Further information on the Capital Raise is provided at section 6 of this Notice. While the
Company will provide additional information in respect of the Capital Raise in the Prospectus to
be issued by the Company, for the purposes of Guidance Note 12, the Company provides the
following information in respect of the Capital Raise:

Nature of issue The Company is continuing to finalise the details of the of the Capital Raise. In
line with the information provided in section 1.11 of this Notice, the Capital
Raise will be undertaken via a Prospectus that is compliant with section 710 of
the Corporations Act.

The shares issued under the Capital Raise will be offered to institutional,
sophisticated and retail investors. It is intended that a Priority Offer will be
made to existing shareholders to allow them to participate in the Capital Raise.

Minimum subscription $500.

Underwritten It is proposed that the Capital Raise will be fully underwritten by the Lead
Manager, subject to the underwriting terms being agreed and formal
documentation being entered into by the parties and other market standard
conditions precedent.

Amount to be raised It is expected that the Capital Raise will raise a minimum of $5,000,000,
subject to the determination of the final issue price.

Use of funds The Capital Raise will be conducted to satisfy the 20% Free Float Requirement
and additional proceeds may be used to retire some or all of the debt sourced
for the purpose of the Foxleigh Transaction. The Company may also use the
funds raised for general working capital requirements.

Capital structure and impact on total equity interests of the Company

As the Foxleigh Transaction was debt financed, there was no impact or change to the total equity
interests of the Company. As the Company is required to conduct the Capital raise as a condition
for Re-compliance, the Company will need to issue Shares which will impact the capital structure
of the Company.

A pro-forma capital structure following completion of the Foxleigh Transaction, any approvals
received at the AGM and following the Capital Raising on a post-Consolidation basis is set out
below:
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1.13

1.14

Existing Securities 2,448,760,417 102,000,000
(pre-Consolidation)

Post-Consolidation Approximately 244,876,042 10,200,000
(Resolution 2) (subject to rounding)
Capital Raise Shares issued (under 25,000,000 Nil

Resolution 3 - post-Consolidation)

Final post-Consolidation 269,876,042 10,200,000
(subject to all Resolutions being
approved and completion of Capital
Raise)

Please refer to Schedule 3 to this Explanatory Statement for a pro-forma statement of financial
position for the last full year to 31 December 2016 for Realm prepared to show the impact of the
Capital Raising on the equity interests of the Company.

The Capital Raise is intended to be completed in accordance with the timetable set out in section
1.20 of this Notice.

Excluding the impact of the Capital Raise, the Foxleigh Transaction had no bearing on the control
or voting power attached to any of the shareholders of Realm.

Funding

Realm has provided funding for the Foxleigh Transaction through a A$50 million bridge loan from
Taurus Resources Fund No. 2. Additionally, Middlemount received a US$98.5 million
performance guarantee and working capital facility from Taurus Mining Finance Fund.

Details of these funding arrangements are provided in ASX Announcement ‘Foxleigh
Transaction’ dated 31 August 2016.

If the Foxleigh Transaction is unwound, any funding arrangements relating to the Company and
Taurus Resources Fund No. 2 and Taurus Mining Finance Fund would likely need to be novated.

Since the Company acquired its interest in Foxleigh, the corporate costs that it has incurred have
been funded by Middlemount. If the Foxleigh Transaction is unwound, the Company would need
to repay these corporate costs and there are no guarantees that Realm would be in a financial
position to do so.

Following completion of the Foxleigh Transaction and related financing arrangements for
Foxleigh, Realm has an attributable cash balance of approximately A$100.9 million as at 31 May
2017.

Recent issues of securities

Realm did not issue any securities in the six months preceding the announcement of the Foxleigh
Transaction.

Subsequent to the Foxleigh Transaction, Realm has issued 61,500,000 fully paid ordinary shares

and 2,000,000 options. For further information, please refer to ASX Announcement dated 24
March 2017.
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1.15

1.16

1.17

Modification of Realm business model

The Foxleigh Transaction was the acquisition of an operating mine. Realm has appointed
relevant officers to oversee and manage these operations. These appointees are highly qualified
and together, have many years of experience operating and managing operations of this nature.

The Foxleigh Transaction has resulted in no material change in operations for Realm. Realm
continues to operate in a manner and structure consistent with the way it operated prior to the
Foxleigh Transaction.

The senior management and operations personnel of Foxleigh report to Scott Graham as Chief
Operating Officer for Middlemount for operational matters who in turn reports to Glen Lewis as
Managing Director of Realm. In light of this structure, Realm has not been required to modify its
business model to accommodate the change in scale of its activities. Realm’s Directors and key
management personnel continue to support Glen Lewis and Scott Graham in the management
and development of Foxleigh.

Composition of the Board and Directors

Realm and Middlemount have strengthened their corporate capabilities with new board and
management appointments.

Board and management appointments have been made as follows:
1.16.1  Gordon Galt has been appointed as the Non-Executive Chairman of Realm;

1.16.2  Staffan Ever and James Beecher have been appointed as Non-Executive Directors of
Realm;

1.16.3  Glen Lewis has been appointed as the Managing Director of Realm; and
1.16.4  Scott Graham has been appointed as the Chief Operating Officer of Middlemount.

Following the appointment of Glen Lewis, Richard Rossiter stepped down from his role as
Executive Director to focus on his role of Executive General Manager — Business Development.
Likewise, Theo Renard stepped down as Executive Director but will continue in his role as Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary. Refer to ASX Announcement ‘Board and Management
Changes’ dated 10 February 2017 for further information.

JORC Resources and Reserves
1.17.1 Initial JORC statement of Coal Resources and Reserves for Foxleigh

The Company is pleased to provide further detail on the JORC Coal Resources and
Reserves for Foxleigh as disclosed in the ASX Announcement ‘Initial JORC Statement
of Coal Resources and Reserves’ dated 20 December 2016 (Initial JORC Statement)
set out in the Independent Geologist’s Report in Schedule 1 to this Explanatory
Statement.

This is provided to disclose the scheduling, financing and economic assumptions in
relation to the Coal Reserves and more detail on the Modifying Factors used in the
conversion from Coal Reserves to Marketable Coal Reserves. This does not change
the economic assessment of the mine or the previously stated Coal Resources or Coal
Reserves. Please refer to Appendix 3 of the Independent Geologist's Report attached
at Schedule 1 to this Explanatory Statement.
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1.18

1.19

1.17.2 JORC disclosure

The information contained in the Initial JORC Statement was estimated by Encompass
Mining Services on behalf of Realm. The information was reported in accordance with
the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources, and
Ore Reserves, 2012 and the Listing Rules.

Refer to the Initial JORC Statement for details of the Competent Persons Statement.

Except as set out in this Notice and the Independent Geologist’'s Report, Realm
confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the
information included in the Initial JORC Statement and, in the case of the Coal
Resources and Coal Reserves, that all material assumptions and technical parameters
underpinning the estimates in the Initial JORC Statement continue to apply and have
not materially changed.

Coal Price and Market Update

The March 2017 quarterly benchmark price for low-volatile PCI coal price has been set at
US$180 per tonne. Refer to Figure 4 below and ASX Announcement ‘Foxleigh Mine - Coal Price
Update’ dated 21 December 2016 for further details.

Figure 4: Quarterly Benchmark Coal Prices — for premium LV PCI Coals (Japanese FY)
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Note: Japanese financial year starts 1 April

Discussions for the quarterly benchmark price for low-volatile PCI (“LV PCI”) for the period April
to June 2017 (i.e. JFY Q1), have not been finalised as negotiations have been hampered by
price volatility associated with Tropical Cyclone Debbie.

Key dependencies for Foxleigh

The success of Foxleigh, and the Company as a result of its interest in Foxleigh, is affected by
and is dependent upon a range of factors, including:

1.19.1  regulatory approvals, licences to operate and regulatory compliance, particularly with
respect to safety and the environment;

1.19.2  social and community standing and ability to attract and retain quality staff;
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1.20

1.19.3 reliable mining and coal processing equipment, as well as logistics (truck and rail) and
port facilities required to transport and export the coal product;

1.19.4  discovery of additional resources and reserves to sustain the mining operations; and

1.19.5 favourable economic conditions including the coal demand and price, exchange rates,
and costs of inputs, largely being labour, fuel, and equipment.

Indicative timetable

The Board expects that requisite Realm shareholder approvals and confirmation from ASX that
the Company has met the requirements for Re-compliance permitting the Company’s securities
to be traded on ASX will occur by September 2017.

The Company will continue to keep Shareholders updated as the Re-compliance process
progresses.

Realm has provided an indicative only timetable below which may be subject to change as the
Re-compliance progresses.

1. Dispatch Notice of EGM to Shareholders 15 June 2017

2. Trading of Realm’s securities to re-commence (subject to 15 June 2017
ASX’s discretion)

3. Trading of Realm’s securities suspended and last day for 13 July 2017
trading pre-Consolidated securities

4. EGM held to approve Resolutions 14 July 2017

5. | ASX informed of Shareholder approvals (including 14 July 2017
Consolidation)

6. Last day to register transfers on a pre-consolidated basis 19 July 2017

7. First day for the Company to send notice to each security 19 July 2017

holder of the change in their details of holdings following the
Consolidation.

First day for the Company to register securities on a post-
Consolidation basis.

First day for the issue of new holding statements

8. Last day for the issue of new holding statements 25 July 2017

9. Lodgment of Prospectus with ASIC 4 August 2017
10. | End of ASIC exposure period (subject to 7 day extension) 14 August 2017
11. | Capital Raise period opens 14 August 2017
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12. | Capital Raise period closes 23 August 2017

13. | Re-compliance with Chapters 1 and 2 of ASX Listing Rules 30 August 2017
14. | Issue of Shares under Prospectus* 31 August 2017
15. | Dispatch of holding statements* 1 September 2017

16. | Expected date for Shares to be reinstated to trading on ASX 6 September 2017
(subject to ASX’s discretion) and trading of post-Consolidated
securities begins

*The Shares to be issued under the Capital Raise will only be issued after ASX has confirmed that the Company has
satisfied the requirements of Chapter 1 and Chapter 2 of the Listing Rules as if it were applying for admission to the
official list of ASX.

The Directors reserve the right to change the above timetable without requiring any disclosure to
Shareholders.

The Company will prepare and lodge a Prospectus (together with the listing application and
associated documents) with the ASX as part of the Re-compliance. The Company will also be
required to lodge the Prospectus with ASIC which it expects to do around 4 August 2017.

ASX have confirmed that the Company’s shares will be suspended from the period ending
immediately before the Extraordinary General Meeting until the Company has completed the Re-
compliance (re-complied with Chapters 1 and 2 of the Listing Rules).

1.21 Regulatory approvals or waivers required
Other than as set out in this Notice of Meeting, the Company does not require any approvals or
waivers in connection with the Foxleigh Transaction or the Re-Compliance.

2. ADVANTAGES AND DISADVANTAGES OF THE FOXLEIGH TRANSACTION

21 Advantages

The Directors are of the view that the following non-exhaustive list of advantages may be
relevant to a Shareholder’s decision on how to vote on Resolution 1 to approve the Foxleigh
Transaction:

211 the Company’s financial standing may be improved;

21.2 the Company may have the ability to self-fund further acquisitions;

21.3 the Company has acquired EPCs and tenements that will be explored for further
resources and reserves;

21.4 the Company’s ability to raise funds in the future and to attract strategic investors may
be improved;

21.5 the Foxleigh Transaction may encourage new investors into the Company which may
lead to increased liquidity of Shares and greater trading depth than at present; and

21.6 the Capital Raise may have the effect of bringing one or more key strategic institutional
or sophisticated investors to the Company.
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2.2

Disadvantages

The Directors are of the view that the following non-exhaustive list of disadvantages may be
relevant to a Shareholder’s decision on how to vote on the Resolution to approve the Foxleigh
Transaction:

2.21 the Company will change the scale of its activities which may not be consistent with the
objectives of all Shareholders; and

222 the Capital Raise to be conducted by the Company to meet the 20% Free Float
Requirement may have a dilutionary impact on existing Shareholders.

3.1

KEY RISKS

There are a number of risks, both specific to Realm and Foxleigh which may, either individually
or in combination, affect the future operational and financial performance of Realm or Foxleigh,
including the value of Realm’s shares.

The risks summarised below are not exhaustive and do not take into account the individual
circumstances of shareholders. Realm does not give any assurances or guarantees of the future
performance or profitability of Realm or the value of its Shares. Additionally, Realm does not give
any assurances or guarantees that the risks set out in this Notice of Meeting will not change. Any
future dividends, the value of Realm’s assets and the market value or price of Shares of Realm
may be influenced by these and other risk factors. Some of the risks may be mitigated by the use
of safeguards and appropriate systems and controls, however many risks that may affect Realm
are outside of its control.

Each Shareholder or prospective investor should rely on its own knowledge of Realm, refer to
disclosures made by Realm and consult its professional advisers concerning any investment in
the Company.

A summary of some of the key risks associated with Foxleigh is set out below.
Risks relating to the change in nature and scale of activities
3.1.1 Risk of not re-complying

In considering the Foxleigh Transaction, shareholders should note that the ASX has
absolute discretion in deciding whether or not to re-admit the Company to the official list
and to quote its securities. The Foxleigh Transaction may be unwound if ASX exercises
that discretion.

3.1.2 Risk of the Realm Shareholders not approving the Foxleigh Transaction

Given the Resolutions are inter-conditional, if any one of the Resolutions are not
passed, the Company will not be able to comply with the requirements of Chapters 1
and 2 of the Listing as if it were applying for admission to the official list and the
Company will remain suspended from trading on ASX.

There is also the risk that the Foxleigh Transaction may be unwound.
3.1.3 Re-quotation of Shares on ASX

The Foxleigh Transaction constitutes a significant change in the scale of the
Company’s activities and the Company. The Company’s Shares will be suspended from
the date of the Extraordinary General Meeting and will remain suspended until the
Company completes the Re-compliance (re-complies with Chapters 1 and 2 of the
Listing Rules as if it were seeking admission to the official list of ASX).

There is a risk that the Company may not be able to meet the requirements of the ASX
for re-quotation of its Shares on the ASX. Should this occur, the Shares will not be able
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3.2

to be traded on the ASX until such time as those requirements can be met, if at all.
Shareholders may be prevented from trading their Shares should the Company be
suspended until such time as it does re-comply with the ASX Listing Rules.

Dilution Risks

As noted in section 1.11 of this Notice, ASX has imposed a ‘20% minimum free float’
requirement on new listings (and for those entities that have to re-comply with Chapters
1 and 2 of the Listing Rules) under Condition 7 of Listing Rule 1.1.

As at the date of this document, the Company’s majority Shareholder holds
approximately 88% of the total Shares on issue. This Shareholder has stated that it
does not wish to sell any of its Shares.

In order to satisfy the 20% Free Float Requirement, the Company has decided to
undertake the Capital Raise. To satisfy the 20% Free Float Requirement, the Company
will be required to issue at least 24,780,009 Shares on a post-Consolidation, based on
the number of Shares on issue at the date of this Notice (and up to a maximum of
25,000,000 Shares on a post-Consolidation basis).

Should existing minority Shareholders not participate in the Capital Raise, they may be
diluted by approximately 8.3%.

Realm’s majority shareholder
Realm’s majority Shareholder, Taurus Funds Management Pty Ltd, has advised the

Company that it will vote in favour of any Resolution to approve the Foxleigh
Transaction and intends to provide the Company with a voting intention statement.

Foxleigh Project risks

Foxleigh is subject to key project risks. Some of these are set out below.

3.21

3.2.2

3.2.3

3.24

3.2.5

Mining

Foxleigh commenced operations in 1999. The geology of Foxleigh is well understood
and a conservative approach to mine design is in place to manage associated risks.
Also, additional exploration is currently underway and further exploration is being
planned however, as with all other mining projects, geology remains a risk.

Plant and machinery

There are risks associated with the plant and machinery at Foxleigh, however in order
to minimise and mitigate any such risks, full preventative maintenance is scheduled and
undertaken. Further, reasonable insurance cover is in place, including business
interruption.

Infrastructure

Full preventative maintenance is scheduled undertaken. Further, reasonable insurance
cover is in place, including business interruption.

Exposure (flood)

Construction of levees and creek diversions has been completed to a high standard.
Further, reasonable insurance cover is in place which includes coverage for floods and
business interruption.

Fire Protection

Fire protection systems are in place and are maintained with regular inspections. There
are gaseous fire suppression systems in high risk switch rooms and foam systems on
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3.3

all major mining equipment. Further, reasonable insurance cover is in place, including
business interruption.

3.2.6 Supply Chain
The Company considers that appropriate contracts are in place to secure the supply
chain for Foxleigh and such contracts contain the usual contractual protections
available to the parties under contracts of this nature.
3.2.7 Management systems
A PULSE ERP system has been implemented at Foxleigh operations. The Company
now has an integrated production and financial system in place.
3.2.8 Concentration
Greater than 50% of Foxleigh product is sold to one customer. This one customer has a
very high credit rating, and further the customer is a party to the Foxleigh JVA.
3.2.9 Social
Foxleigh is subject to various environmental, social and community risks.
Operational

A number of operational risks have the potential to impact Realm. Some of these are:

3.3.1

3.3.2

3.3.3

3.34

General operation risks

The Company’s mining operations may encounter operational difficulties that may
impact the amount of coal produced, delay coal deliveries or increase the cost of mining
for varying lengths of time. Such difficulties include weather, natural disasters,
availability of personnel with appropriate skills, industrial action, unexpected
maintenance or technical problems and failure of key equipment. These factors may
have an adverse impact on the Company’s performance.

Mining and development risk

Mining and development operations can be hampered by force majeure circumstances,
environmental considerations and cost overruns for unforeseen events. In respect of its
business activities, the Company has made estimates of capital expenditures, operating
costs and working capital requirements based on current circumstances and its current
understanding of those matters. There is a risk that actual circumstances may differ

from the Company’s estimates and current understanding, with adverse consequences.

Risk of adverse publicity

Following completion of the Foxleigh Transaction, the Company’s activities involve
mineral exploration and mining and regulatory approval of its activities may generate
public controversy. Political and social pressure and adverse publicity could lead to
delays in approval and increased expenses for Foxleigh’s activities. The nature of the
Company’s business may attract a high level of public and media interest and, in the
event of adverse publicity, the Company’s reputation may be harmed.

Strength of the natural resources and coal sector

The prices of coal and other natural resource commaodities fluctuate widely and are
affected by numerous factors beyond the control of the Company, such as industrial,
retail supply and demand, technological change, government policy, exchange rates,
inflation rates, changes in global economies, confidence in the global monetary system,
forward sales as well as other global or regional political, social or economic events.
Future serious price declines in the market value of coal could cause the continued
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3.3.5

3.3.6

development of, and eventually the commercial production from, company projects to
be rendered uneconomic. Depending on the prices of coal, the Company could be
forced to discontinue production or development. There is no assurance that, even as
commercial quantities or coal are produced, a profitable market will exist for it.

Dependence on key management personnel

The Company’s future depends, in part, on its ability to attract and retain key personnel.
It may not be able to hire and retain such personnel at compensation levels consistent
with its existing compensation and salary structure. Its future also depends on the
continued contributions of its executive management team and other key management
and technical personnel, the loss of whose services could be difficult to replace. In
addition, the inability to continue to attract appropriately qualified personnel could have
a material adverse effect on the Company’s business.

Current and future funding requirements

The Company’s activities will require substantial expenditure. There can be no
guarantees that the Company will be able to raise sufficient funds to successfully
achieve all of the objectives of the Company’s overall business strategy. If the
Company is unable to use debt or equity to fund development after the exhaustion of
the existing cash position, there can be no assurances that the Company will have
sufficient capital resources for that purpose, or other purposes, or that it will be able to
obtain additional resources on terms acceptable to the Company or at all. Any
additional equity financing may be dilutive to Shareholders and any debt financing, if
available, may involve restrictive covenants, which may limit the Company’s operations
and business strategy.

The Company’s failure to raise capital if and when needed could delay or suspend the
Company’s business strategy and could have a material effect on the Company’s
activities.

34 Other risks

3.41

3.4.2

Country and State risk such as changes to the economic, political, judicial,
administrative and/or security climate

The financial performance of Foxleigh may be adversely impacted by current or future
fiscal or regulatory regimes, local laws and regulations or changes to the economic,
political, judicial, administrative and/or security climate, policies or conditions in those
States and geographies.

Market risks

Share market conditions may affect the value of the Company’s quoted securities
regardless of the Company’s operating performance. Share market conditions are
affected by many factors such as:

(a) general economic outlook;

(b) interest rates and inflation rates;

(c) currency fluctuations;

(d) commodity price fluctuations;

(e) changes in investor sentiment towards particular market sectors;

() the demand for, and supply of, capital; and

(g) terrorism and other hostilities.
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344

3.4.5

3.4.6

Legislative changes

The Company has no control over the actions of State or Federal governments and the
legislation that they pass. Legislation may be passed that has an adverse effect on the
ability of the Company to operate in all or part of its business or on the ability of the
Company to continue to own its tenements or other assets, including legislation that
may result in the tenements being revoked and the Company being unable to recover
the value of the tenements, including the expected profits from the exploitation of the
tenements, or the costs expended by the Company in exploring and mining those
tenements.

Government regulation

The mining, processing, development and mineral exploration activities of the Company
are subject to various laws governing prospecting, development, production, taxes,
labour standards and occupational health, mine safety, toxic substances, land use,
water use, land claims of local people and other matters. Although the exploration and
development activities of the Company are currently carried out in accordance with all
applicable rules and regulations, no assurances can be given that new rules and
regulations will not be enacted or that existing rules and regulations will not be applied
in a manner which could limit or curtail production or development. Amendments to
current laws and regulations governing operations and activities of mining or more
stringent implementation thereof could have a substantial adverse impact on the
Company.

Commodity and exchange rate risk

To the extent that the Company is involved in mineral production, the revenue derived
through the sale of commodities may expose the potential income of the Company to
commodity price and exchange rate risks. Commaodity prices fluctuate and are affected
by many factors beyond the control of the Company. Such factors include supply and
demand fluctuations, technological advancements, forward selling activities and other
macro-economic factors.

Furthermore, international prices of various commodities are denominated in United
States dollars, whereas at present the income and expenditure of the Company are
mainly, and will be taken into account, in Australian currency, exposing the Company to
the fluctuations and volatility between the relative values of the United States dollar and
the Australian dollar as determined by international markets.

In addition to adversely affecting any reserve estimates of the Company and its
financial condition, declining commaodity prices can impact operations by requiring a
reassessment of the feasibility of a particular project. Such a reassessment may be the
result of a management decision or may be required under financing arrangements
related to a particular project. Even if a project is ultimately determined to be
economically viable, the need to conduct such a reassessment may cause substantial
delays or may interrupt operations until such a reassessment can be completed.

Domestic and global economic conditions

The financial performance of Foxleigh could be affected by changes in economic
conditions in Australia and overseas. Such changes include:

(a) changes in underlying cost structures for labour and service charges;

(b)  changes in fiscal, monetary or regulatory policy by governments or government
agencies or instrumentalities, including in relation to inflation and interest rates,
which may impact the profitability of Realm or cause a general fall in the demand
for Realm’s goods or services;

(c) declines in aggregate investment and economic output in Australia or in key
offshore regions; and
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(d)  national or international political and economic instability or the instability of
national or international financial markets including as a result of terrorist acts or
war.

347 Asset impairment

The Realm board regularly monitors impairment risk. Consistent with accounting
standards, Realm is periodically required to assess the carrying value of its assets.
Where the value of an asset is deemed to be less than its carrying value, Realm is
obliged to recognise an impairment charge in its profit and loss account. Impairment
charges can be significant and operate to reduce the level of a company’s profits and
potentially, its capacity to pay dividends. Impairment charges are a non-cash item.

3.4.8 Changes in accounting policy

Accounting standards may change. This may affect the reported earnings of the
Foxleigh and its reported financial position from time to time.

349 Taxation

Future changes in taxation law, including changes in interpretation or application of the
law by the courts or taxation authorities in Australia, or other relevant jurisdictions in
which Foxleigh operates, may affect taxation treatment of an investment in Realm
shares or the holding and disposal of those shares. Further, changes in tax law, or
changes in the way tax law is expected to be interpreted may impact the future tax
liabilities of Realm.

3.4.10 Litigation

As with all businesses, Foxleigh is exposed to potential legal and other claims or
disputes in the course of its business. Although Realm seeks to minimise the risk of
such claims arising, and their impact if they do arise, such claims will arise from time to
time and could adversely affect Realm’s business, operations or financial performance.

3.4.11 Investment speculative

The above list of risk factors ought not to be taken as exhaustive of the risks faced by
the Company or by investors in the Company. The above factors, and others not
specifically referred to above, may, in the future, materially affect the financial
performance of the Company and the value of the Company’s securities.

4.1

4.2

RESOLUTION 1 - CHANGE TO THE SCALE OF ACTIVITIES

General

Resolution 1 seeks approval from Shareholders for the Company to make a change in the scale
of its activities resulting from the company acquiring a 70% interest in in the Foxleigh Joint
Venture as described at section 1.1 of this Notice.

Statutory and regulatory requirements

ASX Listing Rule 11.1 provides that where an entity proposes to make a significant change,
either directly or indirectly, to the nature or scale of its activities, it must provide full details to ASX

as soon as practicable and comply with the following:

421 provide to ASX information regarding the change and its effect on future potential
earnings, and any information that ASX asks for;

422 if ASX requires, obtain the approval of holders of its shares and comply with any
requirements of ASX in relation to the notice of meeting; and
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4.3

423 if ASX requires, meet the requirements of Chapters 1 and 2 of the ASX Listing Rules as
if the entity were applying for admission to the official list of ASX.

ASX has indicated to the Company that as a result of the significant change in the scale of the
Company’s activities as a result of the Foxleigh Transaction, the Company is required to obtain
Shareholder approval in accordance with ASX Listing Rule 11.1.2.

ASX has also indicated to the Company that the change in the scale of the Company’s activities
as a result of the Foxleigh Transaction requires the Company to (in accordance with ASX Listing
Rule 11.1.3) re-comply with the admission requirements set out in Chapters 1 and 2 of the ASX

Listing Rules.

Accordingly, if Resolution 1 is approved at the Meeting, it is expected that the Company will,
subject to the satisfaction of the relevant conditions to admission and quotation set out in
Chapters 1 and 2 of the Listing Rules, be re-instated to quotation on ASX when the Re-
compliance occurs.

For this reason, the Company is seeking Shareholder approval pursuant to Resolution 1 for the
Company to change the nature and scale of its activities under ASX Listing Rule 11.1.2.

Guidance Note 12 issued by the ASX requires that the contents of the Notice of Meeting must
include a reasonable level of detail about the Foxleigh Transaction, including an assessment of
the financial effect of the Foxleigh Transaction on the Company and on the interests of the
Shareholders.

If Resolution 1 is not passed, the Company will not be permitted to change the nature and scale
of its activities and the Foxleigh Transaction may be unwound.

Directors’ recommendation and voting intention

All of the Directors are of the opinion that the Foxleigh Transaction and the change to the scale of
the Company’s activities are in the best interests of Shareholders and, accordingly, the Directors
unanimously recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of Resolution 1.

The Directors’ recommendations are based on the reasons outlined above.

Each of the Directors intends to vote all of their Shares in favour of this Resolution.

5.1

RESOLUTION 2 — CONSOLIDATION OF CAPITAL
Background

Resolution 2 seeks Shareholder approval to consolidate the number of Shares and Options on
issue on a one for 10 basis.

The purposes of the Consolidation is to implement a more appropriate capital structure for the
Company and to enable the Company to satisfy Chapters 1 and 2 of the Listing Rules,
specifically Condition 2 of Listing Rule 2.1 which requires the issue price for which the Company
seeks quotation to be at least 20 cents, and to facilitate approval from ASX for the re-instatement
of the Shares on ASX should Shareholder approval be obtained for all of the other Resolutions.

In addition to reducing the number of Shares on issue, the Consolidation should increase the
imputed value of each Share which is expected to establish a share price more appropriate for a
listed entity of its size and more comparable to those of its peer companies. This is also expected
to assist in positioning the Company for long term growth by making an investment in the
Company’s securities more attractive to institutional and other investors.

Resolution 2 is interconditional which means that each of the other Resolutions needs to be
approved for Resolution 2 to be effective.
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5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

5.7

Legal Requirements

Section 254H of the Corporations Act provides that a company may, by resolution passed in a
general meeting, convert all or any of its shares into a larger or smaller number.

ASX Listing Rule 7.20 provides that if an entity proposes to reorganise its share capital, it must
advise Shareholders of certain matters, which are set out below.

Fractional Entitlements

Not all Shareholders will hold a number of Shares or Options that can be evenly divided by 10.
Where a fractional entitlement occurs (as a result of a Share holding not being divisible by 10),
the Company will round that fraction up to the nearest whole number.

Taxation

Shareholders are advised to seek their own tax advice in relation to the effect of the
Consolidation and the other Resolutions proposed in this Notice. Neither the Directors, nor their
advisers, accept any responsibility for the individual taxation implications arising from the
Consolidation or the other Resolutions.

Holding statements

From the date of the Consolidation, all holding statements for Shares and Options will cease to
have any effect, except as evidence of entitlement to a certain number of securities on a post-
Consolidation basis.

After the Consolidation becomes effective, the Company will arrange for new holding statements
for Shares and Options to be issued to holders of those securities.

It is the responsibility of each security holder to check the number of securities held on a post-
Consolidation basis prior to disposal.

Options

In accordance with Listing Rule 7.22, the Options will be consolidated on the same basis as the
Shares, that is every 10 Options will be consolidated into one Option and their exercise price
amended in an inverse proportion to that consolidation ratio.

Other than the number of Options and corresponding exercise price of the Options, there are no
other changes to the terms of the Options. In all other respects, the terms of the Options are
confirmed and remain in full force and effect.

Accordingly, the existing Options will be consolidated on the following basis:

Number of Expiry Date Exercise Price Number of Expiry Date Exercise Price
Options Options

100,000,000 12 February 2018 | $0.05 10,000,000 12 February 2018 | $0.50
2,000,000 21 March 2020 $0.0615 200,000 21 March 2020 $0.615

Effect on capital structure

The effect which the Consolidation and the Shares issued in connection with the Capital Raise
will have on the Company’s capital structure is set out in section 1.12 of this Notice.
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5.8

5.9

Indicative timetable

If this Resolution 2 is passed, the Consolidation will take effect in accordance with the indicative
timetable contained in section 1.20 of this Notice.

Recommendation of the Directors
The Board unanimously recommends that the Shareholders approve Resolution 2.

Each of the Directors intends to vote all of their Shares in favour of this Resolution.

6.1

6.2

RESOLUTION 3 - APPROVAL FOR THE ISSUE OF SHARES UNDER THE CAPITAL RAISE
General

Resolution 3 seeks Shareholder approval under Listing Rule 7.1 for the Company to issue up to
25,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company (on a post-Consolidation basis) under the
Capital Raise at a price to be determined by the Company in consultation with the Lead
Manager. This price will take into account market conditions at the time. The minimum price for
the Capital Raise will be determined in accordance with:

6.1.1 the requirements of Condition 2 of Listing Rule 2.1, being an issue price of least $0.20;
and

6.1.2 the requirements of Listing Rule 7.3.3 being, a price that is at least 80% of the volume
weighted average market price of the Company’s shares calculated over the last 5 days
on which sales in the Shares were recorded before the date of the Prospectus:

Resolution 3 is inter-conditional which means that each of the other Resolutions needs to be
approved for Resolution 3 to be effective.

The Capital Raise will be conducted to satisfy the 20% Free Float Requirement and additional
proceeds may be used to partially repay the bridge loan and performance guarantee sourced for
the purpose of the Foxleigh Transaction. The Company may also use the funds raised for
general working capital requirements.

The Shares to be issued under the Capital Raise will only be issued after ASX has confirmed that
the Company has satisfied the requirements of Chapters 1 and 2 of the Listing Rules as if it were
applying for admission to the official list of ASX.

Listing Rules information requirements

Listing Rule 7.1 provides, in summary, that a listed company may not issue equity securities in
any 12 month period which exceeds 15% of the number of issued securities of the company held
at the beginning of the 12 month period, except with the prior approval of shareholders of the
company in general meeting of the precise terms and conditions of the proposed issue.

If approval is obtained for Resolution 3, the issue of the Shares under the Capital Raise will not
be included in calculating the Company’s 15% issuing capacity for the purposes of Listing
Rule7.1.

In accordance with Listing Rule 7.3, the following information is provided to enable Shareholders
to assess the merits of Resolution 3 for the purposes of Listing Rule 7.1:

6.2.1 the maximum number of securities to be issued is 25,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares
in the Company for the purposes of satisfying the 20% Free Float Requirement;

6.2.2 the Shares issued under Resolution 3 will:
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6.3

(@) only be issued after ASX has confirmed that the Company has satisfied the
requirements of Chapters 1 and 2 of the Listing Rules as if it were applying for
admission to the official list of ASX; and

(b)  all be issued at the same time as soon as reasonably practicable following
completion of the Capital Raise but in any event, the Shares will be issued no
later than 29 September 2017, being the date 3 months after the date of the
Extraordinary General Meeting;

6.2.3 the issue price of the Shares will be determined closer to the time of the Capital Raise
but in any event will be in accordance with:

(a) the requirements of Condition 2 of Listing Rule 2.1, being an issue price of least
$0.20; and

(b)  the requirements of Listing Rule 7.3.3 being, a price that is at least 80% of the
volume weighted average market price of the Company’s shares calculated over
the last 5 days on which sales in the Shares were recorded before the date of the
Prospectus;

6.2.4 the Directors and the Lead Manager will determine to whom the Capital Raise Shares
will be issued. The allottees will likely be a combination of institutional and sophisticated
investors, existing Shareholders and retail investors but none of these persons will be
related parties of the Company;

6.2.5 the Shares issued will be fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of the Company
issued on the same terms and conditions as the existing Shares on issue and the
Company will apply for quotation of the Shares on ASX;

6.2.6 the Priority Offer will be at least 10% of the Capital Raise; and

6.2.7 the Company will limit the number of Shares it issues to a Shareholder to the higher of
5% of all the Shares being offered under the Priority Offer and the number the
Shareholder would be entitled to under a Pro rata issue of all of those Shares.

The Company currently expects that the Capital Raise will be undertaken at a premium to the
minimum price stated in section 6.2.3 above.

Recommendation of the Directors

The Directors consider that the Capital Raise is in the best interests of the Company and
necessary to meet the 20% Free Float Requirement under Condition 7 of Listing Rule 1.1.

The Board unanimously recommends that the Shareholders approve Resolution 3.

Each of the Directors intends to vote all of their Shares in favour of this Resolution.

page 29



GLOSSARY OF TERMS

The following terms and abbreviations used in the Notice of Meeting and this Explanatory Statement have
the following meanings:

20% Free Float Requirement has the meaning given to that term in section 1.11 of the Explanatory
Statement.

AAMC means Anglo American Metallurgical Coal Assets Pty Ltd.

AEST means Australian eastern standard time.

AGM means the AGM to be held by the Company on 31 May 2017 or any adjournment thereof.
ASIC means the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

ASX means ASX Limited ACN 008 624 691, or the securities exchange conducted by ASX, as the context
requires.

Board means the board of Directors of the Company.

CAML means CAML Resources Pty Ltd.

Capital Raise has the meaning given to that term in section 1.11 of the Explanatory Statement.
Chair means the person appointed to chair the Meeting convened by this Notice.

Company or Realm means Realm Resources Limited ABN 98 008 124 025.

Consolidation means consolidation of the Company’s share capital on the basis that every 10 Shares be
consolidated into one Share and every 10 Options be consolidated into one Share

Corporations Act means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Director means a director of the Company, from time to time.

Encompass Mining Services means Encompass Mining Services Pty Limited.
EPC means exploration permit for coal.

Explanatory Statement means this explanatory statement (including the Schedules) that accompanies
and forms part of this Notice.

Extraordinary General Meeting or Meeting means the extraordinary general meeting of Shareholders to
be held at Maddocks Lawyers, Level 27, Angel Place, 123 Pitt Street, Sydney NSW 2000 on 14 July 2017
at 11.00 am (AEST) or any adjournment thereof.

FCL means Foxleigh Coal Pty Limited (formerly Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd).

Foxleigh means the Foxleigh coal mine located in Queensland’s Bowen Basin coalfield, 22km southeast
of Middlemount and 272km northwest of Rockhampton.

Foxleigh Transaction has the meaning given to that term in section 1.3 of the Explanatory Statement.

Foxleigh Joint Venture means the joint venture between FCL, POSCO and Nippon which owns and
operates Foxleigh in accordance with the Foxleigh JVA.

Foxleigh JVA means the Foxleigh joint venture agreement between FCL, CAML and Nippon.
Independent Geologist’s Report means the independent geologist report dated 17 May 2017 prepared

by Encompass Mining Services Pty Limited on Foxleigh, as set out in Schedule 1 to this Explanatory
Statement.
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Initial JORC Statement means the ASX Announcement ‘Initial JORC Statement of Coal Resources and
Reserves’ dated 20 December 2016.

JORC means the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore
Reserves’ 2012 edition published by the Australasian Joint Ore Reserves Committee.

Lead Manager means Morgans Corporate Limited.
Listing Rules means the official listing rules of ASX.
Middlemount means Middlemount South Pty Ltd.
Nippon means Nippon Steel & Sumitomo Metal Pty Ltd.

Notice or Notice of Meeting means the notice of extraordinary general meeting to which this Explanatory
Statement (including the Schedules) and the Proxy Form is attached.

Option means an option to acquire a Share.
POSCO means POSCO Australia Pty Ltd.
Priority Offer means the priority offer to existing Shareholders as detailed in section 1.11.

Prospectus means a full form prospectus in accordance with section 710 of the Corporations Act with
respect to the Re-Compliance.

Proxy Form means the proxy form attached to this Notice.

Re-compliance means the re-compliance with chapters 1 and 2 of the Listing Rules as if the Company
were applying for admission to the official list.

Related Party has the meaning given to that term in section 228 of the Corporations Act.
Resolution means a resolution in this Notice of Meeting.

Sale Agreement means the sale agreement entered into between Anglo American Australia Limited and
AAMC and Middlemount in respect of the Foxleigh Transaction.

Schedule means a Schedule attached to the Explanatory Statement and forming part of this Notice of
Meeting, including:

a) Schedule 1 — Independent Geologist’s Report;

b) Schedule 2 — Solicitor's Tenement Report;

c) Schedule 3 — Realm Pro-Forma Statement of Financial Position 31 December 2016;
d) Schedule 4 — Audited General Purpose Foxleigh Accounts FY2016; and

e) Schedule 5 — Audited Special Purpose Foxleigh Accounts FY2015.

Shareholders means registered holders of Shares.

Shares means fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

Solicitor’'s Tenement Report means the report on the Foxleigh tenements dated 17 May 2017 prepared
by ClarkeKann, as set out in Schedule 2 to this Explanatory Statement.
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EPC Exploration Permit for Coal
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PCI Pulverised Coal Injection
PoB Point of Observation
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1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Realm Resources Limited (“Realm Resources”) acquired a 70% interest in the Foxleigh Mine through its
99.9% owned subsidiary Middlemount South Pty Ltd from Anglo American Metallurgical Coal on the 29"
August 2016. For further detail refer to ASX company announcement dated 30" August 2016.

The Foxleigh Mine is an open-cut coal mining operation located in the Bowen Basin in Central Queensland.
The mine is located 22km to the southeast of the town of Middlemount. The Foxleigh Mine has been in
operation mine since 1999 producing a low ash, low volatile Pulverised Coal Injection (PClI) coal from the
Rangal Coal Measures within the Bowen Basin. The Foxleigh Mine has been primarily targeting the
Middlemount, Tralee and Pisces seams of the Rangal Coal Measures.

The Foxleigh Mine is located between the Jellinbah Fault to the west and the Foxleigh/Yarrabee Fault to the
east, a strip about 6 km wide. Strikes of both strata and structure are north-north-northwest/north-west.
The Jellinbah Fault has a throw of about 600 metres. The main faults are thrusts with east over west
displacements. The Foxleigh deposit is a syncline which is orientated in a NNW-SSE direction, with the apex
of the syncline in the SSE. The length of the syncline under mining lease is approximately 22 kilometres, and
at the widest point, the width is 6 kilometres. There is extensive folding and thrust faulting causing seam
repetition and more synclines and anticlines within each of the main eastern and western limbs of the
syncline. Substantial exploration has occurred within the Foxleigh Mine tenements since its beginning in
2000. Over 4,081 exploration holes have been drilled ranging from rotary and partially cored holes (slim
core, medium diameter and large diameter). 2D seismic surveys have also been conducted over the
tenements to target the more structurally complex geological areas.

The Foxleigh Mine is currently producing approximately 3 Mtpa of PCl coal (product). The wash plant has a
capacity of 4.5 Mtpa (ROM) which the operation supplies. Customers for the PCl coal are steel
manufacturers in Korea, Japan, China, Taiwan, India and throughout Europe. The Foxleigh Mine produces an
8% — 8.5% ash PCl product coal. The coal is of semi-anthracite rank, with a maximum vitrinite reflectance
(RoMax) of 2.0% - 2.4% and low volatile matter content of 10% — 13% (adb). Due to the high rank of the coal
the coking properties of the coal have diminished.

The Foxleigh Mine has been subdivided into ten different project areas (Roper Creek, Eagles Nest, Foxleigh
Plains, Foxleigh North, One Tree-Pipeline, Western Corridor, Foxleigh West, Far South, Carlo Creek and
Daggers Tip). The coal seams have been predominantly mined out in Foxleigh North and Carlo Creek with the
remaining resource mostly confined to the northern, southern and eastern parts of the syncline (Foxleigh
Plains, Far South, One Tree-Pipeline). Potential additional resource areas are at Eagles Nest, Far South and
Daggers Tip.

The Foxleigh Mine has a Resource estimate of 86.9 Mt (33.3 Mt Measured, 29.2 Mt Indicated and 24.4 Mt
Inferred) as of 31°' October 2016 (JORC Code 2012).

The following table details the Resource tonnages at the 31" October 2016.
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Foxleigh Mine - Resource Summary

Coal Resources (Millions of Tonnes In Situ)

Measured Indicated Inferred
33.3 29.2 24.4 86.9

This report also contains additional information for the ASX Company Announcement released on 20"
December 2016 - Initial JORC Statement of Coal Resources and Reserves for Foxleigh Coal Mine provided as
Appendix 3 Sections 2 — 6 (Summary of Information to Support the Coal Reserves Estimate).
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2 INTRODUCTION

2.1 Terms of Reference

Encompass Mining Services Pty Ltd (“Encompass Mining") were commissioned by Realm Resources Limited
(“Realm Resources”) to provide an Independent Geologist’s Report on the Foxleigh Mine located in the
Bowen Basin in Queensland, Australia.

This Independent Geologist’s Report has been prepared in accordance with the Code and Guidelines for
Assessment and Valuation of Mineral Assets and Mineral Securities for Independent Expert Reports (“The
VALMIN Code” — 2015 Edition) and the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral
Resources and Ore Reserves 2012 Edition.

Both codes are binding upon Members of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists (“AlG”), the Australasian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (“AusIMM”), the Australasian Code of Reporting of Identified Mineral
Resources and Ore Reserves and the rules and guidelines issued by such bodies as ASIC and Australian
Securities Exchange (“ASX”), which pertain to Independent Experts’ Reports.

The author has taken due note of the rules and guidelines issued by such bodies as the Australian Securities
and Investments Commission (“ASIC”) and the ASX, including ASIC Regulatory Guide 111 — Content of Expert
Reports and ASIC Regulatory Guide 112 — Independence of Experts.

2.2 Qualifications and Experience

Encompass Mining is a consulting group specialising in the provision of business solutions in the fields of
geology, geotechnical engineering, open cut and underground mine design, planning services, site
secondment and professional development for the mining industry.

Lyndon Pass is the author of this report. Lyndon is a geologist working since 1995 in the coal industry in
Australia, Indonesia and India. He specialises in geological databases, modelling and resource estimation.
Lyndon has also been extensively involved in geological audits and due diligence studies for many major
mining clients. His expertise ranges from developing and evaluating geological models to updating resource
models to produce Resource statements in accordance with the JORC code. Lyndon is a Member of the
AusIMM and has the appropriate relevant qualifications, experience, competence and independence to
author this report.

2.3 Principal Sources of Information

The principal sources of information used to compile this report comprise previous technical reports and
data variously compiled by Realm Resources Limited and their partners or consultants, publically available
information such as ASX releases, historical reports and discussions with Foxleigh Mine technical and
corporate management personnel.

Encompass Mining has endeavoured, by making all reasonable enquiries, to confirm the authenticity,
accuracy and completeness of the technical data upon which this report is based. A final draft of this report
was also provided to Realm Resources Limited, prior to finalisation by Encompass Mining, requesting that
Realm Resources Limited identify any material errors or omissions of facts prior to its final submission.
Encompass Mining does not accept responsibility for any errors or omissions in the data and information
upon which the opinions and conclusions in this report are based, and does not accept any consequential
liability arising from commercial decisions or actions resulting from errors or omissions in that data or
information.
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This review is based on the information provided by the current title holders, the technical reports of
consultants and previous explorers, as well as other published and unpublished data relevant to the areas.

2.4 Statement of Independence

Neither Encompass Mining nor any of the authors of this report have any material present or contingent
interest in the outcome of this report, nor do they have any pecuniary or other interest that could be
reasonably regarded as being capable of affecting their independence or that of Encompass Mining.

Encompass Mining has no prior association with Realm Resources Limited in regard to the mineral assets
that are the subject of this report. Encompass Mining has no beneficial interest in the outcome of the
technical assessment being capable of affecting its independence.

Encompass Mining's fee for completing this report is based on its normal professional daily rates plus
reimbursement of incidental expenses. The payment of that professional fee is not contingent upon the
outcome of the report.

2.5 Warranties

Realm Resources Limited has represented to Encompass Mining that full disclosure has been made of all
material information and that, to the best of its knowledge and understanding, such information is
complete, accurate and true.

2.6 Consents

Encompass Mining consents to the Report being included in full in the Realm Resources Limited “Notice of
Extraordinary General Meeting” to the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX"), in the form and context in
which the technical assessment is provided.

Encompass Mining provides this consent on the basis that the technical assessments expressed in the
Executive Summary and in the individual sections of this report are considered with, and not independently
of, the information set out in the complete report.

2.7 Inputs, Subsequent Changes and No Duty to Update

Encompass Mining has created this report using data and information provided by or on behalf of Realm
Resources Ltd (and the Company’s agents and contractors). The opinions stated herein are given in good
faith. Encompass Mining has exercised all due care in reviewing the supplied information and believes that
the information and data supplied to it are factual and correct and the interpretations are reasonable.
Encompass Mining has independently analysed the data for the Foxleigh Mine but the accuracy of the
conclusions of the review largely relies on the accuracy of the supplied data.

The conclusions and opinions contained in this report apply as at the date of this report. Events (including
changes to any of the data and information that Encompass Mining used in preparing this report) may have
occurred since that date which may impact on those conclusions and opinions and make them unreliable.
Encompass Mining is under no duty to update the report upon the occurrence of any such event, though it
reserves the right to do so.

2.8 Competent Persons Statement

The information in this Independent Geologist’s Report that relates to Exploration Results, Mineral
Resources or Ore Reserves is based on information complied by Lyndon Pass, who is a Member of The
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Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (“AusIMM”). He is a consulting geologist, trading as
Encompass Mining, and is not employed by Realm Resources Ltd. He has more than 20 years’ experience in
the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration, and to the activity that he is
undertaking, to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in JORC 2012. He consents to the inclusion of this
report in the Realm Resources Limited Notice of Extraordinary General Meeting, in the form and context in

which they appear.
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3 LOCATION AND TENURE DETAILS
3.1 Location

Foxleigh Mine is an open-cut operation located in the Bowen Basin in Central Queensland. The mine is
situated approximately 22 km southeast of Middlemount and 200km northwest of Rockhampton.
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Figure 1 Location Plan
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Figure 2 Foxleigh Mine Location Relative to Middlemount
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3.2 Property Tenure

Foxleigh Mine is comprised of seven Mining Leases (ML) and three Exploration Permits for Coal (EPC).
Ownership of these tenures is detailed in the tables below. No application for tenure renewal on existing
mining leases is required until 2034.
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Figure 3 Foxleigh Mine Tenure Location Map
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3.3 Property Boundaries

The Foxleigh Mine is adjacent to the western boundary of Anglo American’s Capcoal operation. Figure 4
illustrates the location of the Foxleigh Mine with respect to the surrounding mining operations.
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Figure 4 Neighbouring Operations
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3.4 Community Relations and Environmental Regulation

Middlemount South Pty Ltd (a 99.9% owned subsidiary of Realm Resources Limited) acquired the majority
stake (70%) in the Foxleigh Mine in August 2016 from Anglo American Metallurgical Coal (AAMC). The mine
was acquired as a going concern and continues to be run as an owner operator style operation. As part of
the transaction, all licenses, mining tenements and liabilities were acquired.

This operation has environmental guidelines in place such as a Plan of Operations to detail the
environmental requirements for the operation. There is no present requirement to alter mining strategy or
location based on environmental considerations.
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4 EXPLORATION HISTORY

4.1 Historical Information
The early historical information and exploration for the Foxleigh Mine area is summarised below.

Utah Development Corporation (Utah): early to mid-1960s: a brief relinquishment report, but no borehole
records are available.

Geological Survey of Queensland (GSQ): there was a mapping programme at a regional scale of 1:250000
during the 1960s, and Roper Creek East borehole drilling program, in what is now the German Creek East
area and at other locations to the north and south of German Creek East.

Capricorn Coal Management (Capcoal): exploration drilling programs at:

e German Creek East — subsequently developed as an open-cut mine,

e Middlemount — the Foxleigh North area, now part of EPC 597 held by Ellrock,

e Roper Creek East — the Foxleigh South area, now part of the Foxleigh Joint Venture’s EPC 1139
e Capcoal named the area between the Jellinbah and Foxleigh Faults the Foxleigh Block, and

e A preliminary mining feasibility study at Foxleigh South was made by Shell on behalf of Capcoal.

Girrah (Lake Lindsay): exploration drilling programs at the Girrah (formerly Lake Lindsay) prospect.

Australian Bulk Minerals: exploration drilling program at Duneed (Wilpeena), south of the Foxleigh
prospect.

Kanematsu, C.0.A.L., Ingwe: successive holders from late 1995 to late 1997 of EPC 1139 and its immediate
precursor EPC 598. No field work was done.

C.A.M.L.: Conducted exploration drilling programs and a mining feasibility study on the Foxleigh prospect,
from early 1998.

4.2 Exploration by Other Parties

There have been numerous phases of exploratory drilling programs carried out by past tenement holders, as
listed beneath:

Utah: drilled one traverse line which included holes east of the Jellinbah Fault (at least five of them east of
Roper Creek), but the data is not publicly available. The bore locations may not have extended quite far
enough easterly to intersect the Rangal Coal Measures of the Foxleigh Block, or, if they did, the Rangal Coal
Measures were not recognised and the drillhole sites cannot be located in the field.

G.S.Q: Scout drilling in the German Creek East area, west of the Jellinbah Fault.

Capcoal: 44 scout boreholes in the northern part of the current EPC 1139. The great majority of sites were
located along fence lines, and are still easy to find. Cores of coal intersections were taken at some of the
bore locations. Foxleigh has made use of Capcoal borehole data collected within Foxleigh tenure areas.

Girrah: Five scout boreholes in the south-west of EPC 1139; only the Burngrove was intersected.

Lake Lindsay: The Burngrove Formation was present at sub-crop. The sites were east of the Jellinbah Fault,
but not far enough east to intersect Rangal Coal Measures.
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Duneed (Wilpeena): one west-east traverse about ten kilometres south of EPC 1139, drilled in 1997; the
Rangal Coal Measures were sought, but only the Burngrove Formation was found. It is unclear where the
Rangal sub-crop might be in relation to the Duneed traverse; both folding and faulting are present in the
area. The only data directly relevant to the current operations, and publicly available, is that of Capcoal.
However, exploration at Girrah has encountered structures which have many similarities to those at
Foxleigh, and which require a similar density of drilling to define them. The area with the most attractive
open-cut mining potential at Girrah has been drilled at a density similar to that to be achieved at Foxleigh at
the end of Stage 3 exploration, and several faults with displacements of 10 — 20 m have been interpreted
there.

4.2.1 Foxleigh Joint Venture Drilling

Exploration drilling after the early historical exploration has largely been undertaken by CAML Resources Pty
Ltd. Exploration after 2007 has been conducted under AAMC and been governed by AAMC standards and
requirement documents. The following details the exploration history under the Foxleigh Joint Venture
(CAML).

Stage 1A: The first work in the field for Stage 1A was to drill validation bores within the area previously
drilled by Capcoal, at four sites close to representative Capcoal sites, on traverse lines spaced two kilometres
apart. This validation was for thickness and quality of the Rangal seams at open-cut depths. More bores
were then drilled on each line, to investigate the previous structural interpretation and to obtain additional
core intersections. 34 open and partly-cored holes were drilled for structural and quality control in April,
May and June 1998; hole diameter was approximately 120 mm, core diameter was 63.5mm (HMLC).

Capcoal’s conclusions on coal quality were confirmed. However, Capcoal’s structural interpretation and
open-cut reserve quantities, and Shell’s mining study, were found to be only partially valid, as their drilling
did not locate the main Rangal subcrop in the north-western part of EPC 1139.

Stage 1B: the Stage 1B investigations took the form of drilling on traverse lines spaced one kilometre apart,
in the area previously drilled by Capcoal, and also to the south as far as the south-east boundary of the EPC.
In total, 58 open holes of diameter about 120 mm were drilled.

Drilling began in August 1998. Completion was delayed by rain from late August to early October 1998, and
the remaining bores were drilled in October, November and December 1998 in conjunction with Stage 2.
These holes confirmed extension of the sub-crop of the Rangal Coal Measures to the south-eastern
boundary of EPC 1139, 5.5 kilometres further south than had been reached by Capcoal drilling.

Stage 2: for Stage 2 exploration, drill traverses were spaced 500 metres apart between all the 1 kilometre
lines drilled previously, and also for 2 km north of the MLA boundary (Lines 6500, 6000, 5500 and 5000).
Exceptions were Traverse Lines 8500 East (partly compensated for by Capcoal holes), 7500 East, 6500 East
and 6000 West. On each traverse line, from two to five open holes were drilled for structural control. The
number of holes on each line was controlled by the proximity of Capcoal bores and the strata dip. Holes
generally were 200 m apart. Each seam of the Rangal Coal Measures was cored within open-cut depth on
each traverse, using HMLC equipment cutting core 63.5 mm in diameter. The Roper Seam was an exception;
only a few cores of it were taken, as it is not relevant to the first 10 or so years of mining. Two fully-cored
geotechnical holes were drilled on Traverse Line 13000, in the centre of the mineable area.

Thirteen large-diameter bores which retrieved 200 mm diameter cores were taken in each seam at intervals
of 3 to 4 km along strike. Priorities changed during the course of drilling; more slim open-holes than had
been anticipated were drilled for structural control and to control the 200 mm diameter coring, and fewer
200 mm cores than anticipated were taken as quality along strike was found to be generally quite consistent.
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In total, 91 bores were drilled.

Figure 5: Historical Drilling Summary for the Foxleigh Mine

. Holes
Company Year SEZSIB 5233:1 t n- g;::;
Slim
Utah 1963 Coking 5 5
Capcoal 1989-91 Coking 38 T 1 44
CAML 1998 1A PCI 21 13 34
CAML 1998-9 1B PCI 45 13 58
CAML 1998-9 2 PCI 58 18 13 2 91
All 167 49 14 2 232

All of CAML’s holes have been cased to the base of the Quaternary, and so far have not been sealed, but
have been secured with PVC caps.

4.2.2 Large Diameter Drilling

A total of 13 large diameter sites have been drilled. Each seam has been intersected at intervals of three to
four kilometres along strike; originally, bores were planned for intervals of one kilometre along strike, but
consistency of coal quality has made this unnecessary, particularly for the Middlemount Seam.

Five cores of the Middlemount Seam have been taken, five of Tralee 1 Seam, five of Tralee 2 Seam, four of
Pisces 1 Seam, four of Roper 1 Seam, and one of Roper 2 Seam. Some fault repetitions were also cored. The
cores were sampled on site in accordance with quality data obtained previously from slim bores. The
probable workable section was sampled as a single ply where possible; where the workable roof or floor was
not obvious, separate samples were taken. Probable workable sections were based on known quality and on
visual assessment of realistic mining horizons. At least 150 mm each of roof and floor were taken as separate
samples.

4.2.3 Geotechnical and Drilling

Two geotechnical holes were drilled on Traverse Line 13000. Borehole CF 164c intersected the Pisces 1
Seam, which at this location was sheared and attenuated. Borehole CF 166¢c intersected the Roper and
Middlemount seams; little shearing was encountered at this site.

Borehole locations were designed to intersect the main seams at their approximate final highwall positions,
Pisces 1 Seam at about 60 m and Middlemount Seam at about 90 m; the Pisces 1 Seam was intersected
shallower than predicted, probably because of the local shearing.

4.2.4 Anglo American Metallurgical Coal (AAMC) Exploration (2007-2016)

Anglo American Metallurgical Coal (AAMC) has undertaken considerable exploration since acquiring the
Foxleigh Mine in 2007. The AAMC exploration has occurred during 2007-2016 and focussed on increasing the
geological confidence and knowledge within the existing mining areas but also allowed for the exploration of
new potential resource areas such as Foxleigh Plains, Far South, Roper Creek and Eagles Nest. The
exploration used a combination of rotary holes and cored holes (slim core and medium diameter) to
investigate the Foxleigh deposit.
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Non-Cored Boreholes

The non-cored boreholes drilled by AAMC are rotary drilled holes. Geophysical logging is undertaken
routinely, and seam depths are corrected to the geophysical logs. Given structure is the biggest issue at
Foxleigh, rotary holes were often drilled rather than cored holes due to the significantly lower costs
associated with rotary drilling.

Cored Boreholes

The number of cored boreholes at Foxleigh is less than that observed for other similar deposits. The cored
holes undertaken by AAMC are a combination of slim core (63 mm) and medium diameter (either 83 mm or
100 mm). The slim core holes are fully cored, and drilled predominantly for geotechnical data, but the coal is
sent for quality analysis as well. The large diameter holes are partially cored and the coal sent for analysis.

The AAMC drillholes use a naming convention to differentiate the types, the initial D in the name denotes
slim core, and an L denotes large diameter core. All of the AAMC cored holes are geophysically logged, and
seam depths and sample depths are corrected to geophysics.

2D seismic surveys have been conducted by AAMC during their ownership. The 2D seismic surveys were
used to assist with identifying the structure due to faulting and folding at the Foxleigh Mine. The seismic
surveys targeted the more complex geological areas.

Figure 6: Drilling Summary for the Foxleigh Mine including AAMC Exploration Drilling

Ge ical
Modelled Holes Open Holes Cored Holes Lc;:::?-loh::
Foxleigh Plains 365 350 % 15 4 301 82
Pipeline 1065 1045 98 20 2 887 83
One Tree 1082 1063 98 19 2 901 83
Carlo Creek-Daggers Tip 1129 1005 97 34 3 1129 100
Far South 348 292 84 56 16 233 67
Westem Corridor 326 306 9 20 6 222 68
Foxleigh North 1519 1495 98 24 2 1280 84
Eagles Nest 308 304 9% 4 1 254 82
Roper Creek 126 126 100 0 34 27
Foxleigh West 226 220 97 3 152 67

4.2.5 Middlemount South Exploration (2016 to Present)
At the time of writing this report, an exploration campaign had just been completed by Middlemount South

Pty Ltd. The exploration drilling focussed on the Foxleigh Plains area with an aim of increasing the resources
defined in the area and validating historical drilling results.
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5 GEOLOGY

5.1 Introduction

The Foxleigh Mine has been operating since January 2000 with extensive geological and mining knowledge
obtained during this period. The Foxleigh Mine is a structurally complex mine with many faults and synclinal
or monoclonal structures. The coal quality of the deposit is well understood with seam qualities generally
showing consistent ash, yield and other quality properties. Seam faulting has disrupted this quality
continuity in localised areas of the Foxleigh Mine. The experienced gained from over 17 years of mining at
Foxleigh has shown that seam quality can be reasonably well predicted at Foxleigh, whereas seam structure
tends to be less consistent due to regional and localised faulting.

5.2 Regional Geology

The Bowen Basin is the northern part of the 1,800 km long Bowen-Sydney-Gunnedah Basin. The Bowen
Basin is a thick accumulation of Permian and Triassic sediments with extensive coal measure development.
Two major groups of economic coal measures are present within the Bowen Basin. The basin-wide Rangal
Coal Measures (and equivalents) and the German Creek/Moranbah Coal Measures, restricted to platform
areas on the western side of the basin. The Foxleigh Mine is located within the Central Bowen Basin along
with numerous other operating mines such as the German Creek Mine, Lake Lindsay Mine, Middlemount
Mine and Oaky Creek Mine.

The Foxleigh deposit is in a plunging syncline with strike north-north-west/north-west, flanked by large scale
regional faults, the Jellinbah fault to the west which divides Foxleigh Mine from Foxleigh West, and the
Foxleigh/Yarrabee fault to the east. The area is very structurally complex with folding and thrust faulting
causing seam duplication.

The regional stratigraphy of the region comprises the Late Permian Fairhill Formation and overlying
Burngrove Formation (Fort Cooper Coal Measures equivalents). The Burngrove Formation is overlain by the
coal bearing Rangal Coal Measures which are overlain by the Early Triassic Rewan Group and more recent
Tertiary and Quaternary sediments (refer to Figure 7). The Rewan Formation and underlying Rangal Coal
Measures are the predominant formations within the Foxleigh Mine area.

The generalised stratigraphic sequence is:

e Quaternary —unconsolidated sand, clay, and basal gravel and pebbles,

e Tertiary — weathering profile, with unconsolidated sediment,

e Triassic — Rewan Formation sediment,

e Permian — Rangal Coal Measures — siltstone, fine-grained sandstone, mudstone and coal,

e Permian — Burngrove Formation — siltstone, claystone, sandstone, and coal; often tuffaceous,
e Permian — Fairhill Formation - banded with tuffaceous claystones, siltstones with coal.

5.3 Local Geology

The Foxleigh Mine is located between the Jellinbah Fault to the west and the Foxleigh/Yarrabee Fault to the
east, a strip about 6 km wide. Strikes of both strata and structure are north-north-northwest/north-west.
The Jellinbah Fault has a throw of about 600 metres. The main faults are thrusts with east over west
displacements.

The Foxleigh deposit is a syncline which is orientated in a NNW-SSE direction, with the apex of the syncline in
the SSE. The length of the syncline under mining lease is approximately 22 kilometres, and at the widest
point, the width is 6 kilometres. There is extensive folding and thrust faulting causing seam repetition and
more synclines and anticlines within each of the main eastern and western limbs of the syncline.
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The Foxleigh Mine has been subdivided into ten different project areas (Roper Creek, Eagles Nest, Foxleigh

Plains, Foxleigh North, One Tree-Pipeline, Western Corridor, Foxleigh West, Far South, Carlo Creek and
Daggers Tip).
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Figure 7 Solid Geology of the Foxleigh Mine
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In Foxleigh Plains, there are multiple seams in the resource, the deepest is the Pisces 2 seam at
approximately 200 m, and the shallowest are all the seams where they subcrop. In Pipeline, the resources
extend down to the Middlemount and Middlemount Lower where the depth ranges from subcrop to 150 m.

The Foxleigh Mine area contains a complete sequence of the Rangal Coal Measures. The Rangal Coal
Measures contain the five main target seam groups for the Foxleigh Mine; Roper, Middlemount, Tralee,
Pisces 1 and Pisces 2 seams. The Rangal Coal Measures are overlain by the Rewan Formation and underlain
by the Burngrove Formation.

To date, the main seams mined at Foxleigh from the Rangal Coal Measures are the Roper, Middlemount,
Tralee and Pisces 1 seam groups. The Pisces 2 seam group straddles the division between the Rangal Coal
Measures and the Burngrove Formation. The Pisces 2A split is located within the Rangal Coal Measures
above the Yarrabee Tuff (a recognised marker band within the Bowen Basin) which means the Pisces 2B split
is located below the Yarrabee Tuff within the traditionally less economic seams of the Burngrove Formation.
There is limited exploration data below the Pisces 2 seam for the other less attractive seams of the
Burngrove Formation. The lithology and character of each major seam group is discussed in more detail
below in downhole stratigraphic order. A typical stratigraphic section for the Foxleigh Mine area is shown in
Figure 8.

5.3.1 Roper Seams

The Roper seams are the uppermost seam group of the Rangal Coal Measures and there are typically one to
three Roper seams present across the Foxleigh deposit. The Roper 1 seam is the more consistent of the
three seams and is generally present, the Roper 2 seam is common but not as pervasive, whilst the Roper 3
seam has only a limited presence at Foxleigh.

The Roper 1 seam has a density in the 1.30 — 1.50 g/cc range, being a bright coal with dull bands. The Roper
2 has a density in the 1.50 — 1.60 g/cc range, being a dull coal with bright bands. The Roper 3 is thinner,
averaging 0.5 m, with a density in the 1.60 — 1.70 g/cc range, being a dull coal.

There is limited quality data for the Roper 1 and 2 seams and none for the Roper 3 Seam. The Roper 3 is not
regarded as a Resource as it is too thin and too intermittent with no quality data. The Roper 1 and Roper 2
quality data is mostly on the western limb and in the Foxleigh Plains area.

The Roper 1 seam is the main target seam for the Foxleigh Mine. The seam tends to be mined if it is present
with the Middlemount seam and if it exhibits reasonable qualities.

5.3.2 Middlemount Seams

The Middlemount seam is the main economic target seam in the Foxleigh Mine area and has been almost
entirely mined out on the western limb of the syncline. The Middlemount seam ranges in thickness from 3- 6
metres, with the average thickness being approximately 4.5 metres. The Middlemount seam is bright coal
with dull bands; it has a low density in the range of 1.30 to 1.36 g/cc. On the eastern limb of the syncline the
Middlemount seam has been faulted and over-thrusted to a point where seam thicknesses can reach more
than 20 metres. The occurrences of fault thickening in the Middlemount seam are usually restricted to small
localised areas.

Locally, the Middlemount Upper and Middlemount Lower seams occur above and below the Middlemount
seam. These splits are often localised and are not consistent across the deposit. The correlation of the
Middlemount Lower seam is also often an issue as it can occur as a discrete seam entirely separate from the
Middlemount seam or as a dull coal / shaley coal contiguous with the floor of the Middlemount seam. In
some drill holes where the Middlemount Lower seam is contiguous with the Middlemount seam, the two
seams have been sampled and analysed together. This practice often results in a poorer quality
Middlemount seam with higher ash and lower yield results.
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Figure 8 Typical Stratigraphic Section of the Foxleigh Mine
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The Middlemount seam contains the most quality data of all the Foxleigh seams. The quality data on the
western limb, where it has been sampled and analysed the most, indicates that the quality for the
Middlemount seam is very consistent. Recent quality results from the Foxleigh Plains area suggest that there
is increasing variability in the quality of the Middlemount seam at the northern end of the eastern limb and
more data is required. This review has highlighted that a number of the quality results for Foxleigh Plains are
questionable and are inconsistent when comparing ash and vyield to ash and relative density quality
relationships. It is recommended that the quality samples for Foxleigh Plains be reviewed and re-checked
with the testing laboratory.

The raw ash content of the Middlemount seam ranges between 8% and 14% on an air-dried basis (adb). The
total sulphur content is typically between 0.45% and 0.70% (adb) with occasional isolated values greater
than 1%. Phosphorus content is variable, but generally in the range 0.06% to 0.10 % (adb).

Product coal yields generally range between 75% and 90%, with an ash content of 7% to 8.5% (adb). The
total sulphur is generally less than 0.5% and phosphorus generally less than 0.08%.

The Middlemount seam is the main target seam for all of the Foxleigh Mine pits. The consistent nature of
the Middlemount seam thickness and quality, results in the seam being the most attractive seam for mining
purposes.

5.3.3 Tralee Seams

The Tralee seam group consists of two Tralee seam splits, Tralee 1 and Tralee 2. The Tralee seams are dull
coal with thickness ranging from 0.3 — 1.5 metres, with the average thickness approximately 0.8 metres. The
overall Tralee seam has an average thickness of 7 — 8 metres. Both the Tralee 1 and Tralee 2 seams split
further into sub-seams with a suffix of A and B.

The Tralee 1 is generally a thin poorly developed seam consisting mainly of dull coal, with the thickness
ranging from 0.3 - 1.5 m, with the average about 0.8 m. When the Tralee 1 seam splits into Tralee 1A and 1B
the interburden in between the splits can reach up to 5 metres. The Tralee 2 seam is a thicker, more
consistent seam, up to 2.5 m thick, with an average thickness of approximately 1.5 metres. When the Tralee
2 seam splits, the Tralee 2A is a thin, poor quality shaley coal, averaging 0.3 m, forming a gradational roof to
the better seam below. The Tralee 2B is a thicker split of approximately 2 metres seam of mainly bright coal
with a few dull bands.

The majority of the sampling has been undertaken on the Tralee 2 seam, with only a few samples available
for the Tralee 1 seam. Where the Tralee 2 seam is not split, it has a raw ash content generally ranging
between 15% and 40% (adb). Total sulphur and phosphorus contents are higher than the overlying
Middlemount seam and range between 0.5% to 1.0% and 0.01% and 0.20%, respectively (air-dried basis).
The Tralee 2B has raw ash values ranging between 10% and 16% and similar total sulphur and phosphorous
to the entire seam.

Product coal yield ranges for the entire Tralee 2 seam between 30% to 35% at 9% ash, except for in the
Foxleigh Plains area, where the yield is 70% to 90% at 9% ash. In the other areas the Tralee 2A yields at
about 40% at 11% ash, and the Tralee 2B yields at about 70% at 9% ash. Total sulphur contents are generally
between 0.5% and 0.6 % and phosphorous between 0.01% and 0.02%.

The Tralee 2 seam is the targeted seam as it contains more consistent and economically attractive quality
and structural results.

5.3.4 Pisces1 Seam

The Pisces 1 seam is generally divided into the Pisces 1A, Pisces 1B and Pisces 1C splits. The Pisces 1 seam
ranges in thickness from 2.5 — 5.5 metres. The Pisces 1A and 1B coalesce in some areas, but remain mostly as
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discrete seams. The Pisces 1A and 1C are not consistent over the Foxleigh Mine area and tend to pinch or
shale out. The Pisces 1A and 1C are both thin, averaging approximately 1 metre in thickness and have high
relative densities in the range of 1.70 g/cc to 2.0 g/cc. There is only limited quality data for the Pisces 1A and
1C seams.

The Pisces 1B is the seam of economic interest, particularly at Foxleigh Plains, where the seam is well-
developed. The Pisces 1B seam is on average a 2.5 metre thick seam of mainly bright coal with a few dull
bands. On the eastern limb of the Foxleigh Syncline the Pisces 1B has only been sampled at Carlo Creek and
Foxleigh Plains. The raw ash content of the Pisces 1B seam ranges between 10% and 20% (adb) and has a
total sulphur content of between 0.5% to 1.0% (adb). The phosphorus content of the seam ranges between
0.04% to 0.15%.

Product coal yield for the Pisces 1B seam ranges between 70% and 75% with an ash content of 8% to 8.5%
(adb) in Foxleigh Plains to 55% to 65% vyield at 8% ash in the rest of the deposit. Product sulphur ranges
between 0.45% and 0.65% (adb). Product phosphorus results range between 0.05% and 0.10%.

The Pisces 1B seam is the target seam of the Pisces 1 seam group.

5.3.5 Pisces 2 Seam

The Pisces 2 Seam is at the junction of the Rangal Coal Measures and the Burngrove Formation. The Pisces 2
seam contains the tuffaceous marker horizon, the Yarrabee Tuff. The Yarrabee Tuff marks the base of the
Rangal Coal Measures and the top of the Burngrove Formation. The Pisces 2 seam splits into the Pisces 2A,
Pisces 2B and Pisces 2C seams.

The Pisces 2A is the thickest split averaging 2.5 m in thickness. The Pisces 2A has a moderate density in the
1.50 g/cc range. The Pisces 2A seam is mostly a dull coal, with calcite veins and is immediately underlain by
the Yarrabee tuff. Below the tuff is the Pisces 2B seam which is generally a poorer quality coal with a high
density in the range of 1.70 g/cc. The Pisces 2C is not always present, it is very poor quality dull coal, with a
high density in the range of 1.90 g/cc.

Quality data for the Pisces 2 seam only exists in the Foxleigh Plains and Carlo Creek areas. The Pisces 2A has
a raw ash of about 24%, total sulphur of 0.44% and phosphorous of 0.90% (adb). The Pisces 2B has a raw ash
of approximately 38% and Pisces 2C raw ash of approximately 49% (adb).

The Pisces 2 seam is generally not targeted at Foxleigh mainly due to the limited drilling and quality
information for the seam and the general poor quality results the seam produces.

A typical cross section through the Foxleigh Plains deposit is shown in Figure 9 (Roper seam =magenta,
Middlemount seam = red, Tralee seam = blue, Pisces 1 seam = orange, Pisces 2 seam = green).
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Figure 9 Typical Cross Section through the Foxleigh Plains Area
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6 GEOLOGICAL DATA AND MODEL REVIEW

The following section covers the key issues dealing with various aspects of data acquisition. The data in
question can have material adverse effects on estimates if not acquired or managed properly.

6.1 Collar Surveys

The majority of drill holes in the Foxleigh Mine area were located by conventional surveying methods using
the GDA94 MGA Zone 55 coordinate system. All drill hole collar elevations have been checked against the
DTM topography surface and have been found to be within less than 2 metres of the DTM surface for the
Foxleigh Plains and Pipeline geological model areas.

6.2 Drilling and Sampling

The majority of the drill holes in the Foxleigh Plains and Pipeline geological data set are holes drilled by Anglo
American Metallurgical Coal. There are a small number of older drill holes in the Pipeline geological model
area that were drilled by the previous owners (CAML).

The exploration holes used for modelling are a combination of three types of drilling; open holes, 63 mm
fully cored holes (geotechnical and coal quality) and large 83 mm or 100mm diameter partially cored holes
(coal quality). It is important to note that the partially cored holes do not always intersect the full suite of
seams (Roper to Pisces 2) for each hole. Therefore only subsets of the seams were intersected in each drill
hole.

The drill hole data does not contain any downhole verticality data so all holes are modelled as vertical. This is
not ideal as it can lead to modelling inaccuracies where downhole deviation is present in drill holes.
Generally, the deeper the drill hole the increased chance of downhole deviation. Overall the lack of
verticality data will only have a small impact on the elevation of seams and should not have any material
impact on the geological models for Foxleigh Plains and Pipeline.

6.3 Logging

The Foxleigh Mine drilling data has been logged to standard geological dictionaries using conventional
lithological codes and logging standards. The exploration data has been logged in coding sheets in the field
and transferred to Microsoft Excel for loading in the Acquire database. The exploration data was reviewed in
ABB'’s Stratmodel software. There were no major issues identified with the exploration drilling data, with all
correlations, seam naming, lithological logging and depths mostly free of errors. There were a few minor
errors identified regarding the logging of the Middlemount (MMT1) and Middlemount Lower (MMTL) but
they were considered by Encompass to have minimal impact on the resulting geological model. ABB's
Stratmodel software validates data upon loading according to predefined rules and parameters. During the
process of checking there were no problems identified with the drill hole data for the Foxleigh Plains or
Pipeline geological data sets. Additional checks were undertaken to examine for discrepancies in
topography, collar locations and base of weathering thickness issues. No issues were identified with the
logging of these intervals.

The majority of the drill holes in the Foxleigh Plains and Pipeline geological models have been geophysically
logged (on average over 83%). The ratio of logged to not logged drill holes is quite high and provides
considerable confidence in the accuracy of the drill holes and correlations. The holes that were not
geophysically logged were due to either poor ground conditions or historical data not being available. All drill
holes without geophysics have not been utilised for the Resource estimation.

Currently all exploration holes are routinely geophysically logged using a standard suite of sondes.
Geophysical data acquired includes, but is not limited to:
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e gamma ray
e density (long and short spaced)
® sonic

e caliper

e verticality/dipmeter

e resistivity

6.4 Sample Preparation

Conventional field sampling methods have been used at the Foxleigh Mine to date. Historical coal quality
coring programs focused on collecting both HMLC (63 mm) and large diameter 4C (100 mm) samples for all
seams. The cores were sampled on site in accordance with quality data obtained previously from slim bores.
The probable workable section was sampled as a single ply where possible; where the workable roof or floor
was not obvious, separate samples were taken. Probable workable sections are based on known quality and
on visual assessment of realistic mining horizons. At least 150 mm each of roof and floor were taken as
separate samples.

Currently holes drilled for geotechnical purposes are HQ (63 mm) cored holes. These holes are fully cored
and are also sampled for coal quality. The dedicated coal quality holes are partially cored and are either 83
mm (PQ) or 100 mm (4C) in diameter. The seams are sampled as plies, which are analysed at the laboratories
for apparent relative density (ARD). These results are returned, and the plies are allocated to working
sections for further analysis.

All quality testing for the analytical programs, and the majority of the historical data sets, has been carried
out by NATA accredited laboratories. In 2007, a quality control program was developed by the owner of the
Foxleigh Mine at the time for analytical laboratories to monitor the repeatability and reproducibility of
analyses including check analyses and round robin testing. This quality control program was introduced in
2008 and is a routine part of all analytical testing. The SGS laboratory in Mackay is the currently contracted
laboratory for coal analyses.

Washability data treatment changed around 2005-2006, mainly due to the changeover from using Capcoal
CHPP to the new Foxleigh wash plant. AB Mylec rationalised the disparate sets during their study in July-
August 2009.

Responsibility for the sampling process rests with the exploration geology supervisor, as follows:

e Prior to any coal quality analysis Foxleigh personnel need to ensure that the borehole passes >90%
core recovery in coal (although 95% is the standard, in the Foxleigh environment this is difficult to
achieve, and 90% recovery can be accepted).

e The ply samples are analysed for apparent relative density (ARD). The ARD goes back to the geology
supervisor, who decides on working sections, and advises the laboratory accordingly.

e Once the working section is identified the plies are combined into the working section sample, a
portion undergoes raw analysis, and the remainder is drop shattered, dry sized, drum tumbled, wet
sized and taken into washability.

e On completion of the washability the Clean Coal Composite (CCC) needs to be determined. The CCC
is simulated from the washability curves and the laboratory is advised of its makeup. The CCC for the
different seams may vary based on the natural washability, but in general it would be between 7.5
and 12% ash.

Raw coal and non-coal analysis is controlled by the site-specific analytical procedures. Figure 10 summarises
the analytical standards used in these analyses.
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Figure 10 Summary of Raw Coal Analysis Parameters and Standards for Foxleigh Mine

Raw Coal Analysis Analysis Standard

RD AS1038.21.1.1 (+2); AS2434 4
Moisture AS1038.3 (+4,5,7)

Ash Content AS1038.3 (+4, 8)

Volatile Matter AS1038.3 (+4)

Fixed Carbon AS2434 6.1

Total Sulphur AS1038.6.3.1 (+2,3); AS2434 6.1
Phosphorous AS1038.9.1 (+2, 3)

Specific Energy AS1038.5

Hardgrove grindability AS1038.20

Moisture Holding Capacity AS1038.17

Washability is usually carried out on working sections, but due to the thickness of some seams, two or more
composite samples may be analysed across a seam. The float/sink methodology currently employed
attempts to mirror the coal sizing and beneficiation process of the Foxleigh CHPP which uses dense medium
cyclone, reflux classifiers and froth floatation. A summary of the sizing and washability float fraction
parameters used for Foxleigh sample analysis is contained in Figure 11.

Figure 11 Summary of Sizing and Washability Float Fraction Parameters for Foxleigh Mine

Washability size fraction Washability float fraction Analyses

50 +1.4 1.30 Mass
14 +025 135 Ash
025 +0 14 Total sulphur

1.45

1.50

1.60

1.70

1.80

1.90

2.00

For the first two size fractions, the sample is washed to the ten float fractions in the table, then the ten float
fractions plus the final sinks fraction are weighed and analysed for ash and total sulphur. The fines (-0.25 to
+0) fraction, undergoes tree flotation and ash and total sulphur are analysed on four froth and two tailings
samples.

The washability and sizing data are used to simulate yields at set ash cut-offs. The resulting data is then used
to calculate default yield and product ash values which are used for reporting Reserves.

Clean coal product analysis is controlled by the site-specific analytical procedure(s). Figure 12 summarises

the analytical standards used in the clean product analyses. Washability data is processed through a program
that simulates plant factors. A ‘recipe’ of proportions of size and float fractions is generated to produce an
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approximation of a PCl product. The recipe is sent to the laboratories where the ‘clean coal composite’ (CCC)
sample is combined from the washed fractions in the specified proportions and then the combined float
fraction samples is analysed. The target ash varies from seam to seam, and has evolved over the years.
Currently the targets are approximately:

e Roper - 10.5% ash
e Middlemount - 8% ash

e Tralee- 9% ash
e  Pisces - 8% ash.

Figure 12 Summary of Clean Coal Analysis Parameters and Standards for Foxleigh Mine

Raw Coal Analysis

Analysis Standard

RD

Moisture

Ash Content

Volatile Matter

Fixed Carbon

Total Sulphur

Clean Phosphorous
Specific Energy
Hardgrove grindability index
Petrographics

Ash analysis

Trace Elements

Ash Fusion temperature

Ultimate Analysis

AS1038.21.1.1 (+2); AS2434 4
AS1038.3 (+4, 5, 7)

AS1038.3 (+4, 8)

AS1038.3 (+4)

AS2434 6.1

AS1038.6.3.1 (+2,3); AS2434 6.1
AS1038.9.1 (+2, 3)

AS1038.5

AS1038.20

AS2856.1 (+2)

AS1038.14.3

AS1038.10.1

AS1038.15

AS1038.6.1; AS1038.6.2

All recent quality results collected from drilling have been received from the laboratory in electronic format
(Microsoft Excel) in standardised reporting templates. Previously an independent consultant has been used
to undertake Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC) on all of these results. Currently, QA/QC is carried
out by the site geologist using a template set up by the original consultant. Any anomalous data is sent back
to the laboratory for checking and re-analysis if required.

Typical checks undertaken by the site geologist on the analytical results are:

e datain expected ranges

e proximate sum to 100

e Ashvs. CV ratios realistic

e Ash vs. RD ratios realistic

e Ash oxides sum to between 98 and 102
e Ash fusion temperatures consecutive

e  Fluidity temperatures consecutive

e Vitrinite reflectance steps sum to 100
e  Macerals + minerals sum to 100

e Reflectance (RoMax) realistic.
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6.5 Deposit Type

The Foxleigh deposit produces a low ash, low volatile PCI coal for the export market. The Foxleigh Mine is
located in the central part of the Bowen Basin which contains numerous important coal producing intervals
in the Permian stratigraphy. The Late Permian Rangal Coal Measures host the coal intervals mined at
Foxleigh. The main rock types of these measures are sandstone, siltstone and conglomerate which occur
with coals and tuffaceous claystones. The Foxleigh deposit is in a plunging syncline with strike north-north-
west/north-west, flanked by large scale regional faults, the Jellinbah fault to the west which divides Foxleigh
Mine from Foxleigh West, and the Foxleigh/Yarrabee fault to the east. The area is structurally complex with
folding and thrust faulting often causing seam duplication.

The economic coal seams at the Foxleigh Mine occur within the Rangal Coal Measures of the Permian
Blackwater Group. Coal seams within the Rangal Coal Measures include: Roper, Middlemount, Tralee 1,
Tralee 2, Pisces 1A, Pisces 1B, Pisces 2A and Pisces 2B. Splitting and coalescing of the seams occurs in a
number of the seams. The Yarrabee Tuff is a marker bed beneath the Pisces 2B seam which marks the base
of the Rangal Coal Measures and the start of the underlying Burngrove Formation.

Coal seams from the Rangal Coal Measures have been mined at Foxleigh from sub-crop using the open-cut
strip mining method since 2000. The Foxleigh Mine is located between the Jellinbah Fault to the west and
the Foxleigh/Yarrabee Fault to the east, a strip approximately 6 km wide. Strikes of both strata and structure
are north-northwest/northwest. The Jellinbah Fault has a throw of approximately 600 metres. The main
faults in Foxleigh are thrust faults, with east over west displacement. The coal measures are contained
within a plunging syncline. Geological structure, including seam continuity, sub crops and oxidation zones
and faulting is generally well defined with a moderate density of open hole drilling in advance of the
operating areas. Overall, the structure of the Foxleigh deposit is considered favourable to open-cut mining
methods.

6.6 Deposit Dimensions, Production and Expected Mine Life

The Foxleigh Mine extends 18km from north to south and 2km from east to west in the current mine plan.
The mine is projected to have a life of 21 years extending until 2038 at an average production rate of 3.3M
ROMtpa. The mine is currently an open-cut truck and excavator operation and will remain in this
configuration for the anticipated mine life.
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7 DATA COLLECTION AND SAMPLING

7.1 Deposit Definition

The coal at the Foxleigh Mine is defined by a program of core drilling (5.4%) and open hole drilling (94.6%).
The ratio of cored holes to open holes is low in regards to other comparable operations. The structural
drilling coverage is reasonable, so an increase in the number of core quality holes would most likely see a
distinct lift in Resource categories for a number of the model areas. Coring has predominantly been
undertaken using a combination of slim core (63mm) and medium diameter (either 83mm or 100mm) cores.
The slim core is fully cored and drilled predominantly for geotechnical purposes, but the coal is sent for
quality analysis also. The medium diameter holes are partially cored and the coal sent for coal quality
analysis. All of the modern exploration cored holes are geophysically logged and seam depths and sample
depths are corrected to the geophysical logs.

The non-cored drillholes in the geological models are rotary holes which yield chips for logging via samples
every one metre. The modern drillholes have geophysical logging undertaken routinely and seam depths
corrected to the geophysical logs.

The coal seams at Foxleigh are within a plunging syncline, with the axis in an approximately NNW-SSE
direction, and the apex of the syncline being in the southern end of the Carlo Creek — Daggers Tip model
area. The eastern limb is a high structural complexity domain, drillholes are drilled at a 12m-50m intervals
down dip, and at a 75m—120m intervals along strike, in the mining areas. On the western limb, which is the
domain of lower structural complexity, holes are drilled at 50m intervals down dip and at 100m—300m
intervals along strike. This excludes drilling for the limit of oxidisation (LOX), close to subcrop which is at 5m—
10m intervals down dip.

Due to the structural complexity and generally sparse quality data, only limited areas are regarded as having
sufficient data to be a Measured Resource. In view of the structural complexity, infill structural and coal
quality drilling will be required before predominantly Measured and Indicated Resources can be achieved.

Structural data for Foxleigh West, Eagles Nest and Roper Creek is sparse, and there is insufficient coal quality
data for these areas to produce a reliable and representative coal quality model. Hence, these deposits are
not reported as containing a Resource.

The drillhole data for each geological model is summarised in Table 3 and

Table 4. Note that there is duplication of drillholes between geological models due to overlapping model
areas.
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Table 3 Summary of Modelled Boreholes for Foxleigh Resource Areas

‘ Total No. Open Holes Cored Holes Geophysically Logged
Project of Holes
Area Modelled No. % No. No. %
Holes
Foxleigh
. 450 428 95 22 5 443 98
Plains
Pipeline 1065 1045 98 20 2 887 83
One Tree 1082 1063 98 19 2 901 83
Carlo
Creek-
1129 1095 97 34 3 1129 100
Daggers
Tip
Far South 348 292 84 56 16 233 67

Table 4 Summary of Modelled Boreholes for Foxleigh Mined Out or Not Classified Areas

Geophysically Logged

Project Modelled Open Holes Cored Holes

Holes
Area Holes
No. % No. No. %
Western 326 306 94 20 6 222 68
Corridor
Foxleigh
1519 1495 98 24 2 1280 84
North
Eagles 308 304 99 4 1 254 82
Nest
Roper 125 125 99 1 1 34 27
Creek
Foxleigh 226 220 97 6 3 152 67
West

The survey control network at Foxleigh consists of coordinates based on Map Grid Australia, Zone 55
(MGAS55) in compliance with Section 59 of the Coal Mining Safety and Health Regulation 2001. The table
below contains the existing parameters of the survey control system.

Encompass Mining 48 |Page



Foxleigh Mine - Independent Geologist’s Report 2017 is

Table 5 Survey Control Network Details

Coordinate System UTM Zone 55 South
Projection Transverse Mercator
Ellipsoid GRS80
Scale Factor on central meridian 0.9996
Zone width 6° (3° either side of each central
meridian)
Latitude of Origin 0° (Equator)
Central Meridian 147° E
False co-ordinates at origin + 500 000mE + 10 000 000MN
Horizontal Datum GDA94 (Geocentric Datum of
Australia)
Height Datum AHD (Australian Height Datum)
Unit of measure International Metre

This control was established in 2005 by surveyors Edmundson & Associates and a re-adjustment in 2012
concluded that the quality of the survey control for Foxleigh Mine was within the tolerances outlined in the
Queensland Recognised Standard 10, 2011.

The pre-mining topography is normally derived from LiDAR aerial data which has historically had an accuracy
of +0.15 m on-site. LiDAR over the active areas is completed monthly and for all other areas it is carried out
on request. Full flights covering all Foxleigh leases occur intermittently due to the scale and the costs of the
flight; the last flight of this scale was completed in December 2009. Drillholes are set-out by RTK GPS and
following drilling, collars are surveyed using the same method which carries a centimetre level accuracy.

All exploration sites are laid out by the Exploration Senior Geologist managing the exploration program.
After the drillhole is completed the final collar position is re-surveyed by the survey crew. The collar position
is measured from the ground level, with drill cuttings around the hole cleared so that an accurate ground
level position can be measured. Several validation checks are performed on the final surveyed coordinates to
ensure the correct hole location has been measured. The final surveyed easting and northing coordinates of
the holes are compared to the original GPS coordinates to confirm that the position is consistent with the
original planned location. The elevation of the final surveyed collar is compared to the topographical
elevation at the coordinate to ensure that the elevations are consistent.

Standardised logging systems are utilised for all modern drilling, logging and sampling at the Foxleigh Mine.

At the time of writing this report, the new owners, Middlemount South Pty Ltd had just completed its
maiden exploration program since acquiring the Foxleigh Mine from AAMC in August 2016.

A plan of the Foxleigh Mine drillhole locations by type and holes with geophysical logging is provided in
Figure 13 and Figure 14, respectively.
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Figure 13 Location Plan of Drillhole Types
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Figure 14 Location Plan of Drillholes with Geophysical Logging
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7.2 Geological Information

Geological and geophysical logging of the Foxleigh drillholes has been, up until September 2016, governed
by AAMC standard(s) and Requirements Document(s). Based on recent checks and validation procedures,
the standard of logging and data capture is considered to be high. All core holes are logged for geological
and geotechnical changes, with open hole chip samples taken every metre and logged as lithology changes.
Quantitative logging of lithology, stratigraphy, texture and hardness is conducted using standard dictionary
definitions. Colour and any additional qualitative comments are also recorded.

Historically, down-hole geophysical logging was carried out by BPB (Reeves) Wireline Services, Geoscience
Associates, Auslog, Robertson Geologging Services Australia and Weatherfords. All holes were logged with
the DD3 tool, which records Bed Resolution Density (BRD), Long Spaced Density (LSD), Natural Gamma, and
Caliper for borehole diameter. All recording was digital, with data obtained both as hard copy and in digital
form. In selected drillholes, verticality and discontinuity dip were also measured. An analysis of drillhole
verticality results determined that deviation is minimal at depths less than 50m, and at depths between 50m
and 100m is not large enough to need consideration for current mine planning purposes. All holes at
Foxleigh are assumed to be vertical, and are modelled as such. The seams, however, can dip from 0°, to close
to 90°.

In geotechnical drillholes, neutron and sonic logs are also run; the neutron logs provide additional
lithological information and the sonic logs provide information on sound velocity and hence give an
indication of the hardness of the lithology.

The AAMC exploration drillholes have been routinely geophysically logged using a standard suite of sondes.
Geophysical data acquired includes, but is not limited to: gamma ray, density (long and short spaced), sonic,
caliper, verticality/dipmeter and resistivity.

Geological interpretation under AAMC ownership occurred in the following series of steps:

e Initial seam correlations were determined for the encoded data collected in the field, with reference
to geophysical logs and site geology reference manuals. Individual holes were entered electronically
in the logging software (LogCheck) formatted text files, Excel spreadsheets, and LAS files. Drillhole
data obtained during exploration and mining activities was stored both physically in a compactus
system and electronically. With the hardcopy, each borehole on file contains a summary sheet,
original log sheet, paper copies of the downhole geophysics, and paper originals of any point load,
geotechnical, spontaneous combustion, and coal quality laboratory testing.

e The lithology and seam data was loaded into an acQuire database, which was the primary repository
of all drilling data. Data was also loaded into a GDB database which was used prior to the
establishment of the acQuire database, and was used for correlating and modelling purposes.

e A QA/QC process in acQuire tracked the completion and integrity of data in the database, with
signoff once all borehole data was deemed, by the responsible person, to be corrected and valid.

e A structural geology model was created and drillhole postings, contours and sections were created
to identify and validate seam correlations.

e Correlations were examined and fixed where required after close consultation with drillhole data
and geophysical logging.

e Faulting was determined from missing or repeated sequences in drillholes in conjunction with
regional and local structural interpretation.

Base of weathering data was determined from a combination of visual base of weathering data from the
original exploration drillhole logging and the chemical base of weathering from limit of oxidation holes (LOX)
where they were available. The base of weathering is adjusted 2m higher in the geological model than that
recorded in drillholes as the Foxleigh Mine has historically had the mining practice of removing the first 2m
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of weathered coal and blending with the fresh coal mined. The poorer quality weathered coal has no
significant impact on the resulting coal properties.

7.3 Sampling

A combination of open holes (for structural definition) and cored (for coal quality and geotechnical
definition) have been used at Foxleigh. The data collection and coal sampling has largely been governed by
AAMC standard(s) and Requirements Document(s). The documents outline the sampling, storage and testing
procedures to be used for all sampling at site.

The early coal quality coring programs at Foxleigh focussed on collecting both HMLC (63mm) and medium
diameter 4C (100mm) material for all seams. The cores were sampled on site in accordance with the quality
data obtained previously from slim cores. The probable workable section was sampled as a single ply where
possible; where the workable roof or floor was not obvious, separate samples were taken. Probable
workable sections are based on known quality and on visual assessment of realistic mining horizons. At least
150mm each of roof and floor material were taken as separate samples.

Holes drilled for geotechnical purposes are HQ (63mm) cored holes. These holes are fully cored and are also
sampled for coal quality. The dedicated coal quality holes are partially cored and are either 83 mm (PQ) or
100mm (4C) in diameter. The seams are sampled as plies, which are analysed at the laboratories for
apparent relative density (ARD). These results are returned, and the plies are allocated to working sections
for further analysis.

All quality testing for the AAMC monitored analytical programmes, and the majority of the historical data
sets, has been carried out by NATA accredited laboratories. In 2007, AAMC developed a quality control
programme for analytical laboratories to monitor the repeatability and reproducibility of analyses, and carry
out check analyses and round-robin testing. This quality control programme was introduced in 2008 and has
been a routine part of all analytical testing.

The SGS laboratory in Mackay (NATA accreditation number 1397) is currently contracted for coal analyses.
Previously the SGS laboratory in Gladstone (NATA accreditation number 626) was contracted for coal
analyses, prior to closing in 2014.

Responsibility for the sampling process rests with the exploration geology supervisor, as follows:

e >90% core recovery in coal (although 95% is the standard, in the Foxleigh environment this is
difficult to achieve, and 90% recovery is accepted).

e Ply samples are analysed for apparent relative density (ARD). The ARD goes back to the geology
supervisor, who decides on working sections, and advises the laboratory accordingly.

e The working section is identified and the plies are combined into the working section sample, a
portion undergoes raw analysis, and the remainder is drop shattered, dry sized, drum tumbled, wet
sized and taken into washability.

e On completion of the washability the Clean Coal Composite (CCC) needs to be determined. The CCC
is simulated from the washability curves and the laboratory is advised of its makeup. The CCC for the
different seams may vary based on the natural washability but in generally varies between 7.5% and
12% ash.

To date, sample recovery has been measured by typical industry standards and requirement documents.
Core recoveries at Foxleigh can vary widely between 55%-100%. Core run details are recorded in historical
log sheet data, Prolog, and LogCheck. For modern holes, core recovery is stored in the acQuire database. The
diligence in recording core recovery in historical holes is unknown. Sizing at Foxleigh is carried out according
to Australian Standards AS3881, as detailed in Table 6.
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Table 6 Sizing Group Ranges

Sizing
Type

Sizing Range

Drvsize | 20 +0, 504315, -31.5 416, -16 +8, -8 +4, -4 +1.4, -1.4 0.5, -0.5 +0.25, -0.25 +0.125, -
y 0.125 +0.063, -0.063 +0

Wet Size -50 +0, 50 +31.5, -31.5 +16, -16 +8, -8 +4, -4 +1.4, -1.4 +0.5, -0.5 +0.25, -0.25 +0.125, -
0.125 +0.063, -0.063 +0

Raw coal and non-coal analysis is controlled by site-specific analytical procedure(s) and tested to NATA
industry recognised standards. The table below summarises the raw coal analytical standards used for these
analyses.

Table 7 Raw Coal Analysis and Standards

Raw Coal Analysis Type ’ Analysis Standard
Relative Density AS1038.21.1.1 (+2); AS2434.4
Inherent Moisture AS1038.3 (+4, 5, 7)

Ash Content AS1038.3 (+4, 8)

Volatile Matter AS1038.3 (+4)

Fixed Carbon AS2434.6.1

Total Sulphur AS1038.6.3.1 (+2,3);
AS2434.6.1

Phosphorous AS1038.9.1 (+2, 3)

Specific Energy AS1038.5

Hardgrove Grindability Index AS1038.20

Moisture Holding Capacity AS1038.17

Washability analysis has generally been conducted on a working section basis, but due to the thickness of
some of the seams, two or more composite samples may be analysed across a seam. The float/sink
methodology currently employed attempts to mirror the coal sizing and beneficiation process of the Foxleigh
CHPP which uses Dense Medium Cyclone, reflux classifiers and froth flotation. The samples in the first two
size fractions are washed to the following ten float fractions - 1.30, 1.35, 1.40, 1.45, 1.50, 1.60, 1.70, 1.80,
1.90, 2.00. The ten float fractions plus the final sinks fraction are weighed and analysed for ash and total
sulphur. The fines fraction (-0.25 to +0), undergoes tree flotation and ash and total sulphur are analysed on
four froth and two tailings samples. The resulting washability and sizing data is used to simulate yields at set
ash cut-offs. The resulting data is then used to calculate default yield and product ash values which are used
for reporting reserves.

Table 8 summarises the washability analysis sizing, density fractions and analyses used at the Foxleigh Mine.
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Table 8 Washability Analysis Sizing, Density Fraction and Analyses

-50+1.4 1.30, 1.35, 1.40, 1.45, 1.50, 1.60, 1.70, 1.80, | Mass, Ash, Total
1.90, 2.00 Sulphur

-1.4 +0.25 1.30, 1.35, 1.40, 1.45, 1.50, 1.60, 1.70, 1.80, | Mass, Ash, Total
1.90, 2.00 Sulphur

-0.25 +0 Tree Flotation Mass, Ash, Total
Sulphur

Clean coal product analysis has been controlled by site-specific analytical procedure(s). Washability data was
processed through Resource Mastor simulation software used to simulate plant factors and inefficiencies. A
‘recipe’ of proportions of size and float fractions was generated to produce an approximation of a PCl
product. This clean coal product recipe is then sent to the laboratory, where the ‘clean coal composite’ (CCC)
sample is combined from the washed fractions in the specified proportions, and then it is analysed.

Table 9 summarises the analytical standards used in the clean coal product analyses at Foxleigh Mine.

Table 9 Analytical Standards used in Clean Coal Product Analysis

Relative Density

AS1038.21.1.1 (+2); AS2434.4

Inherent Moisture

AS1038.3 (+4, 5, 7)

Ash Content

AS1038.3 (+4, 8)

Volatile Matter

AS1038.3 (+4)

Fixed Carbon AS2434.6.1

Total Sulphur AS1038.6.3.1 (+2,3);
AS2434.6.1

Clean Phosphorous AS1038.9.1 (+2, 3)

Specific Energy AS1038.5

Hardgrove Grindability Index AS1038.20

Petrographics AS2856.1 (+2)

Ash Analysis AS1038.14.3

Trace Elements AS1038.10.1

Ash Fusion temperature AS1038.15

Ultimate Analysis

AS1038.6.1; AS1038.6.2

The product target ash can vary from seam to seam, and has evolved over the years at the Foxleigh Mine.
The current product ash targets are detailed in Table 10.
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Product Ash of Seam (ad)
Foxleigh Area Roper 1 Seam M'd::n:unt Tralee 2 Seam Pisces 1B Seam
Pipeline 8.0% 8.0% - -
Foxleigh Plains 9.2% 8.4% 10.0% 8.0%
One Tree - 7.1% - 8.0%
Daggers Tip 8.2% 8.5% - -
Far South 9.8% 6.8% 11.9% -

The key quality parameters analysed for Foxleigh are:

7.4

Ash (impacts on mining decisions)

Phosphorous (affects PCI products)

Chlorine - raw (affects PCl product)

Specific Energy (required for meeting marketing specifications)

Washability (required for yield simulations and clean coal composite makeup)

Quality Assurance and Quality Control

The Foxleigh Mine drillholes have been geophysically logged where possible, so that coal seam thicknesses
and depths can be checked and any core losses assessed. Coal quality sampling procedures are then set up
based on the geophysical signatures of the plies and seams. This procedure has been developed to ensure
that a consistent approach to the sampling of the coal seams is maintained.

Recent analytical results from exploration drilling have been received from the laboratory in electronic
format (Microsoft Excel), in standardised reporting templates that are password protected after data entry
has been completed. Previously an independent consultant was used to QA/QC these results. Currently
QA/QC is carried out by the site geologist using a template set up by the independent consultant. Any
anomalous data is sent back to the laboratory for checking and re-analysis if required.

The QA/QC checks for analysis results are:

Analysis data within expected ranges

Proximate Analysis sums to 100%

Ash vs. CV ratios within regression tolerance

Ash vs. Relative Density ratios within regression tolerance
Ash oxides sum to between 98 and 102%

Ash fusion temperatures are consecutive

Fluidity temperatures are consecutive

Vitrinite reflectance steps sum to 100%

Macerals + minerals sum to 100%

Reflectance (RoMax) realistic

Encompass Mining
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7.5 Bulk Density

In situ relative density is the density of materials at an in situ moisture basis. It is determined using the
Preston and Sanders equation.

RDadX (100- Mad)
100+ RDadX (ISM- Mad) - ISM

Where:
RDad = Relative Density (ad)
Mad = Inherent Moisture (ad)

ISM = In Situ Moisture

7.6 Data Management

All data collected during exploration drilling is validated at site by the exploration geologists. The data is also
subjected to additional validation checks upon loading into Logcheck, GDB and acQuire databases. Coal
quality data is also subjected to validation checks derived by an external coal quality consultant prior to
loading into the geological databases. The GDB database contains automated validation checks which are
activated during loading and prevent un-validated data being loaded.

Encompass Mining 57 |Page



Foxleigh Mine - Independent Geologist’s Report 2017 is

8 RESOURCE ESTIMATION

8.1 Geological Modelling

The Foxleigh Mine contains a total of nine geological models covering mining leases and exploration permits
for coal. Four of these nine models have been used to generate the Resource estimate; the other five models
are either depleted or covering low potential deposits. The geological models have all been generated by
AAMC geologists prior to the acquisition of the Foxleigh deposit by Middlemount South Pty Ltd. All of the
geological models have been created under the rigor of the standards set for resource models in Anglo
American. The Daggers Tip and Carlo Creek deposits have been combined into a single geological model as
has the One Tree and Pipeline deposits. The Roper Creek and Foxleigh West models have been built as
resource models, but prior to the existing AAMC standards. The Foxleigh Plains and One Tree/Pipeline
geological models have been recently updated in 2015 and 2016, respectively.

The geological models are of the coal seams only and waste modelled by default and not assigned any
quality. Resource estimates are therefore for the coal seams only and restricted to a whole seam group basis
only. The Foxleigh geological models were generated directly from the GDB database, with validation of new
data against geophysics and correlation taking place in GDB. Additional data such as in pit survey and
interpretation from seismic surveys have been used to control structure data. The stratigraphic models were
constructed using ABB’s Minescape Stratmodel modelling package. The key modelling parameters for the
four models are summarised in Table 11. Modelling standards have been used for the building of resource
models.

Resources have not been reported for the Western Corridor, Foxleigh North, Eagles Nest, Roper Creek or
Foxleigh West model areas as these areas have either been mined out previously or do not contain sufficient
geological confidence to classify Resources from the geological model.

At the time of development, the Foxleigh geological models were validated according to strict standards for
the validation of geological models. The model validation process includes but is not limited to the following
checks:

e Contours: thickness, roof and floor contours checked for:
o bullseyes
O gaps in contours
o seams flattening
o seams steepening
e Cross-sections checked for:
correlations
model honouring borehole data
seam thickness modelling properly
how seams model at subcrop
faults
e Postings of seam thickness checked against contours of seam thickness
e Check faults are modelled suitably
e Check intrusions are modelled suitably
e Run model statistics and compare with borehole statistics
e Check how structure has modelled when limits are used
e Check how unconformable surfaces have modelled
e Check how survey and seismic data has modelled
e Check cross sections and contour plots against seismic sections

O O 0O OO
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Encompass Mining also reviewed the Foxleigh Mine geological models. The geological models were reviewed
for data integrity, model accuracy against drillholes and 2D seismic data. The model generation process and
documentation for all geological models was also examined. The Encompass Mining review of the Foxleigh
Mine geological models concluded that the models were fit for purpose for Resource and Reserve
estimation.

The only issue identified that required correction was the simulated yield data for the Foxleigh Plains
geological model. It was observed that three drillholes in the north (LDF0899, LDF0610, FK390C) contained
anomalously low yields compared to nearby holes with similar raw ash values. It was evident that the
simulation process had failed for these three holes. The simulated yields for these three holes differed by 30-
40% to the other nearby holes with similar raw ash values.

An external coal quality specialist (Chris McMahon) was engaged to reprocess the
Foxleigh Plains washability data for all holes in an attempt to correct the three erroneous values. The
reprocessing of the washability data did increase the simulated yield results for the three erroneous holes.
However, the results were not as high as expected but were a marked increase in the original simulated
yields processed by AAMC. It was concluded by Encompass Mining that the corrected simulated yield grids
were more representative and would be used for the basis of the Resource and Reserve estimation process
instead of the original AAMC simulated yield grids. Middlemount South recognised that the three drillholes
with lower simulated yield results needed to be validated and investigated further. A small exploration
program was designed to focus on the quality and washability of the three lower simulated yield results. The
exploration results were not available at the time of writing this report as the drilling was still in progress.

A summary of the Foxleigh geological models used for the Resource estimation are contained in Table 11.
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Table 11 Summary of Foxleigh Geological Models used in Resource Estimation

Area Foxleigh Plains Treez’ri‘:eline Ck /D::;Ieors Tip Far South
Project Fp_15sd2 Op_1l6sd1l Cd_13sd1 Farsouth
Schema Fp_15sd2 Op_1l6sd1l Cd_13sd1 Farsouth_a_dec10
Last Updated (Grid 20-Oct-2015 11-May-2016 07-Mar-2014 22-Dec-2010
File)
Topo DTM Topo_Op Topo_Ccdg Topo_Orig_Far
Model Option ALL All All All
Table File Fp_15sd2 Op_1l6sdl Cd_13sd1 Farsouth_a_decl0
Grid File Fp_15sd2 Op_1l6sdl Cd_13sd1 Farsouth_a_dec10
Grid Cell Size 15 15 20 20
Grid Rotation 25 25 25 28.269
Grid Spec Fp15sd2_15rot25 | Opl6sdl_15rot25 Cd20_rot25 Fs_decl0_20m
Drillhole Design File Dholes_Fp15sd2 | Dholes_Opl6sd1l | Dholes_Cd13sd1 | Dholes_fox_farsouth
Fault File Faults_15sd2 Faults_op16sdl | Faults_Cd13sd1 Faults_master_fs
Survey File Survey_ Fpl15sd2 | Survey_opl6sdl | Survey Cd13sdl Foxsth_survey
Limit File Limit_Fp15sd2 Limits_op16sdl - -
Constraint/Penetration Pen_Fp15sd2 - Pen_Cd13sd1 -
File
Used in Resource Yes Yes Yes Yes
Estimation
A summary of the vertical seam thickness from drillholes is contained in Table 12.
Encompass Mining 60| Page




Foxleigh Mine -

Table 12 Summary of Foxleigh Vertical Seam Thickness from Drillholes

Independent Geologist’s Report 2017

5

Minimum Maximum Average Standard
Thickness Thickness | Thickness Deviation
(metres) (metres) (metres)

Foxleigh Plains Roper 1 0.42 2.00 1.20 0.20
Foxleigh Plains Middlemount 2.14 9.49 4.49 1.03
Foxleigh Plains Middlemount Lower 0.16 1.30 0.52 0.26
Foxleigh Plains Tralee 2 0.30 7.28 2.88 1.11
Foxleigh Plains Pisces 1B 1.00 9.44 2.72 0.97
One Tree/Pipeline Roper 1 0.09 4.66 1.04 0.61
One Tree/Pipeline Middlemount 1.50 35.00 7.85 4.61
One Tree/Pipeline Middlemount Lower 0.15 12.22 2.31 1.39
One Tree/Pipeline Pisces 1B 0.35 15.44 2.20 1.69
Carlo Ck/Daggers Tip Roper 1 0.30 4.05 1.26 0.47
Carlo Ck/Daggers Tip Middlemount 1.40 47.48 4.59 3.49
Carlo Ck/Daggers Tip Tralee 2 0.40 7.29 2.45 1.15
Far South Roper 1 0.09 1.70 0.89 0.32
Far South Middlemount Upper 0.11 0.57 0.27 0.13
Far South Middlemount 0.20 9.8 4.98 1.35
Far South Middlemount Lower 0.09 1.31 0.45 0.31
Far South Tralee 2 0.15 3.30 0.99 0.58
Far South Pisces 1B 0.90 3.15 2.13 0.45

The Middlemount seam (MMT1) is the main seam mined at Foxleigh, with some Middlemount Lower
(MMTL) and Tralee 2 (TRA2) mined also. The Middlemount has been mined out entirely in Foxleigh North
and Western Corridor areas, and partially mined out in Foxleigh Plains, Foxleigh South, One Tree, Pipeline
and Carlo Creek. The Middlemount seam has not been mined in Daggers Tip, Eagles Nest, Roper Creek or
Foxleigh West.

8.2 Quality Compositing

The Foxleigh Mine’s coal quality models have all been generated by AAMC prior to the acquisition of the
deposit by Realm Resources Limited. The construction of the Foxleigh coal quality models is governed by
strict Anglo American Coal standard(s) and requirements document(s).

Quality compositing is conducted within the Minescape Stratmodel module. The compositing function allows
users to weight the qualities being composited by thickness and other qualities being modelled. The Foxleigh
quality model parameters are weighted by both thickness and relative density (ad).

Default qualities have also been generated to be used for Resource and Reserve estimation for areas where
quality information is limited. The default qualities have been generated from the best data available at the
time. The defaults have been generated per seam per pit area.

A summary of the Foxleigh coal quality models is contained in Table 13.
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Table 13 Summary of Foxleigh Coal Quality Models used for Resource Estimation

Model Area Foxleigh Plains One Tree / Pipeline Dcaagrgke)r?fl'i/p Far South
Project Fp_15sd2 Op_16sdl Cd_13sd1 Farsouth
Raw Quality Model Q_Raw_Fp15sd2 Q_All_Op16sdl Qual_Cd_13sd1 Rawl1l_Qual
Product Quality Model | Q_Clean_Fp15sd2 Q_All_Op16sdl Qual_Cd_13sd1 Prod11_Qual
Sim”'f\;i‘igua”ty Q_sim_FP16atman |  Q_All_Op16sdl Qual Cd_13sd1 | Sim11_Qual
Quality Interpolator Inverse Inverse Inverse Inverse
Quality Weighting 2 2 3 2
Quiality Search Radius 15,000 - 10,000 15,000
Grid Spec Fpl15sd2_15rot25 Opl6sdl_15rot25 Cd20_rot25 Fs_decl0_20m
Used in Resource Yes Yes Yes Yes
Estimation

The only change to the existing AAMC quality models was the update to the simulated yields quality model
(Q_Sim_FP16atman) for the Foxleigh Plains geological model as previously detailed in this report. The
updated simulated yield quality model was generated by external consultants (Chris McMahon and Mark
Biggs) on behalf of Realm Resources Limited.
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8.4 Resource Estimation

A 3D gridded resource model of topography, structure and quality are used for in situ Resource definition.
Mine design strips and blocks are applied to the in situ resource model to generate the raw reserves used to
create a separate mine schedule database. The mine schedule database also reflects the working sections
and seam aggregations, mining methods and associated loss and dilution impacts. The Resource estimation
techniques applied to the Foxleigh Mine are generally in alignment with those applied to previous Resource
estimates.

8.5 Estimate Validation
Resources were defined by applying the following economic criteria:

e Reasonable mining depth
e Insitu strip ratio of <= 15:1 (BCM/t)
e Raw ash less than 40% (ad)

8.6 Resource Definition

During the estimation process a number of physical limits and constraining assumptions were required to be
applied. Appropriate Modifying Factors were applied at the Coal Resource stage to ensure compatibility
between the Resource estimates and the associated converted Reserve estimates.

The physical limits used were:

e Resources were not reported outside of the mining leases or Exploration Permits for Coal for the
Foxleigh Mine area
e Previously mined areas of seams were excluded from the Resource estimation

The constraining assumptions were:

e Minimum thickness cut-off of 0.3m

e Base of weathering plus two metres is the upper limit for all seams

e Thein situ relative density model is referenced where it exists; otherwise defaults were used
e  Maximum raw ash cut-off of 40% (ad)

e Intruded coal is excluded

e Overburden ratio (vertical) cut-off of 15:1 BCM/t

An overburden ratio (vertical) cut-off of 15:1 BCM/t was used as a constraining assumption for the Resource
estimate. Encompass Mining considered the constraining assumption to be a valid cut-off. It was also
considered important that the same limit was used in the current Resource estimate to allow a more direct
comparison to previous Resource estimates.

8.7 Resource Classification

Resource categories were classified using the standardised process of utilising Points of Observation (PoB).
Drillholes are assessed according to their reliability and value in estimation. The PoB are used to categorise
structure and quality continuity (or both), or to support continuity.

PoB can be definitive in nature whilst supportive data is more indirect in nature. A PoB allows the presence
of coal to be unambiguously determined, and include sections of coal-bearing strata, at known locations,
which provide information about the coal by observation, measurement and/or testing. Supportive data are
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observations supporting the existence of coal, gathered by interpretive or indirect methods, and may include
results from mapping, 2D and 3D seismic, magnetic, gravity and other geophysical and geological surveys.
Supportive data can be used to improve confidence in seam continuity but should not be used quantitatively
in any estimate, and are used in conjunction with PoB to improve confidence levels.

Mined out areas have also been used as valid PoB as the structure and quality of the mined coal is now
known at these mined locations. The geological confidence in the seam structure and quality in the area was
increased significantly by the extraction of the coal seams. Areas of influence were then applied to the
mined out areas to define the mined out areas as PoB. The PoB distances used were consistent with those
used for drillhole PoB.

Table 15 Summary of Foxleigh Points of Observation Criteria

Quality Point of Ash, Moisture, Caliper, Density, Cored Quality Holes with
Observation Relative Density Gamma Geophysics
Structure Point of Caliper, Density, Open Hole with Geophysics
Observation Gamma

The confidence limits applicable to PoB for the Foxleigh areas are summarised in Table 16.

Due to the structural complexity, and the relatively consistent quality within each coal seam at Foxleigh, a
combination of structural and quality criteria is used to define the Resource categories. Only where there is
an overlap of the structural and quality polygons of influence, does the area meet the requirements of the
category. The spacing selected for structural data is less than that of the quality data.

No geostatistical assessment of the data has been undertaken, so the Resource categories are defined on
data point spacing. Geostatistics were not considered to be a viable option due to the limited quantity of
coal quality intersections (often less than 15 per seam) for each area. It was determined that geostatistics
would not have a large enough representative data set to produce reliable drillhole spacing estimates.

The Foxleigh Mine has always been recognised as structurally complex due to its close proximity to major
regional thrust faults, especially on the eastern flank of the regional synform. In contrast, the coal quality has
historically remained relatively constant, with the mine producing a benchmark PCl product coal. It was
recognised that this structural complexity must be considered when classifying Resources into Measured,
Indicated and Inferred categories.

The drillhole spacings used for this Resource estimate are reasonably consistent with the Canadian
Geological Survey Paper classifications as the Foxleigh Mine has “severe” geology, defined as “deposits that
have been subjected to extreme levels of tectonic deformation. Tight folds, steeply inclined and overturned
beds and large displacement faults are common. The stratigraphical succession between faults may be
difficult to ascertain owing to the level of deformation, and coal seams are commonly structurally thickened
and thinned from their pre-deformational thicknesses. Exploration of these deposits follows a more
conventional ‘ore body’ approach rather than the more conventional ‘tabular ore-body’ approach commonly
applied to stratified ore bodies”.

In accordance with this definition, the recommended maximum drillhole spacing for Measured, Indicated
and Inferred Resources is 200m, 400m and 800m respectively. The structural confidence radii (100m, 200m,
400m) proposed for Foxleigh is consistent with this definition (refer to Table 16). The confidence in quality
continuity and predictability is much more reliable with the Foxleigh Mine having predictable trends in coal
quality. The increase in confidence radii from previous Resource estimates is justified by the considerable
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exploration and mining knowledge that has been gained through exploration and mining activities since the
last ranalysis of drillhole spacing. The Competent Person has determined that the confidence and knowledge
gained during this time warrants the small increase in confidence radii.

Table 16 Summary of Foxleigh Points of Observation Radii of Influence

Structural Confidence Quality Confidence
Model Area Radii of Influence Radii of Influence
(metres) (metres)
T High | Reasonable | Low T High | Reasonable | Low
Foxleigh Plains 100 200 400 | 300 600 1200
One Tree/Pipeline 100 200 400 300 600 1200
Carlo Ck/Daggers Tip | 100 200 400 300 600 1200
Far South 100 200 400 300 600 1200

Table 17 provides a summary of the in situ Resource tonnes by Resource category.

Table 17 In Situ Resource Tonnes by Category - 31* October 2016

Coal Resources - Foxleigh Project (31st October 2016)

Coal Resources (Million Tonnes)

Mining Location  Ownership Method  Tenement Coal Type Measured Indicated Inferred
(Mt) (Mt) (Mt)

Total (Mt)

FOXLEIGH PROJECT 100% oc Total PCI Coal (Mt) 333 29.2 24.4 86.9

Table 18 provides a summary of the in situ Resource tonnes by model area and Resource category.
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Table 18 In Situ Resource Tonnes by Model Area and Resource Category - 31% October 2016

%

Coal Resources - Foxleigh Project (31st October 2016)

MM cos! Type

MI

FOXLEIGH PLAINS 100% ML70431  PCI Coal (Mt) 19.3 15.8

ML70470 RawAsh (%)ad  14.0% 16.4% 16.1% 15.3%
ONETREE PIPELINE 100% ocC ML70309  PCI Coal (Mt) 9.8 6.6 4.1 20.5
ML70431 RawAsh (%)ad  11.6% 14.2% 11.3% 12.4%

ML70470
FAR SOUTH 100% ocC ML70171  PCI Coal (Mt) 4.2 6.1 2.3 12.6
ML70309 RawAsh (%)ad  13.2% 11.2% 11.2% 11.9%

EPC1139
DAGGERSTIP 100% ocC ML70171  PCI Coal (Mt) - 0.7 9.5 10.2
ML70309 Raw Ash (%) ad - 11.6% 11.6% 11.6%

EPC1139
FOXLEIGH PROJECT 100% ocC Total PCl Coal (Mt) 333 29.2 244 86.9
Raw Ash (%) ad  13.2% 14.7% 13.1% 13.7%

Notes:

8.8

e Resources are reported in accordance with the JORC Code (2012).

e Measured and Indicated Resources are inclusive of those Resources modified to produce

Coal Reserves.
e Resources are reported on a 100 per cent project basis.
e Resources are reported on an in-situ moisture basis (at 4.5% in situ moisture).

o Resource Tonnes are reported as in situ Tonnes determined using above mentioned in situ

moisture and Preston Sanders in situ relative density of coal formula.
e Middlemount South Pty Ltd owns 70% of the stated Resources, POSCO Australia

Pty Ltd

owns 20% and Nippon Steel & Sumitomo Metal Australia Pty Ltd own 10% of the stated

Resources.
e Mining Method: OC = Open Cut.
e Coal Type: PCl = Pulverised Coal Injection.
o Inferred Resources are rounded to reflect the relative uncertainty of the estimate.

Economic Test of Resource Material

The reporting of the Foxleigh Mine Coal Resources is in accordance with the Australasian Code for Reporting
of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves — The JORC Code (2012 edition) and the
Australian Guidelines for Estimating and Reporting of Inventory Coal, Coal Resources and Coal Reserves
(2014 Edition).

The Resources have been estimated by the process of margin ranking which determines a break-even point
in the mines projected cash flow, and identifies the lowermost seams in open cut mining blocks. This is
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achieved through consideration of operating costs, assumed production rates, capital expenditure, and a
range of other assumptions.

8.9 Reconciliation

The resource models for Foxleigh were reconciled annually by AAMC prior to the acquisition by Realm
Resources Limited. The reconciliation process was conducted according to AAMC's standards and
requirement documents and checklists. It is not possible to reconcile the current Resource estimate with the
previous AAMC Resource estimate as the processes and categories used by AAMC are not the same as those
being used for the current Resource estimate.
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APPENDIX 1 - ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR RESOURCE AND
RESERVES

1 Introduction

The information contained in this report provides the Statement of Coal Resources and Coal Reserves for the
Foxleigh Mine as of 31 October 2016, as estimated by Encompass Mining Pty Ltd (“Encompass Mining”) on
behalf of Realm Resources. The information is reported in accordance with the Australasian Code for
Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources, and Ore Reserves, 2012 (“JORC Code”) and the
Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”) Listing Rules.

Total Coal Resources (inclusive of Coal Reserves) for the Foxleigh Mine have been estimated at 82.3Mt. Total
Coal Reserves for the Foxleigh mine have been estimated at 52.7Mt. The Coal Resources and Coal Reserves
estimate has benefitted from recent drilling and updated geological models in the Foxleigh Plains and One
Tree/Pipeline areas.

All Coal Resources and Coal Reserves are quoted on a 100% basis. The Foxleigh Mine joint venture
ownership is structured as:

e Middlemount South Pty Ltd - 70%;
e POSCO Australia Pty Ltd - 20%; and
e Nippon Steel & Sumitomo Metal Australia Pty Ltd - 10%.

The following information prescribed by the JORC Code 2012 is included in this announcement and its
Appendices:

e detail of the Coal Resources and Coal Reserves for the Foxleigh Mine (refer to Tables 1-4 in
Section 2);

e a summary of important assessment and reporting criteria used for the Foxleigh Mine for
the reporting of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves in accordance with the Table 1
checklist in the JORC Code 2012 (Appendix 2, Appendix 3 and Appendix 5); and

e Competent Person’s Statement (Appendix 4).

2 Statement of Resources and Reserves - Foxleigh Mine
2.1 Coal Resources
The following tables detail the Coal Resources for the Foxleigh Mine, as at 31 October 2016.

Table 19 Coal Resources for the Foxleigh Mine

Coal Resources - Foxleigh Project (31st October 2016)

2016 Coal Resources

Mining Location Ownership Method Tenement Coal Type Measured Indicated Inferred Total
(Mt) (Mt) (Mt) (Mt)
FOXLEIGH PROJECT 100% ocC Total PCI Coal (Mt) 33.3 29 20 82.3
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Table 20 Coal Resources for the Foxleigh Mine by Model Area

Coal Resources - Foxleigh Project by Model Area (31st October 2016)

2016 Coal Resources

Mining Location Ownership Method Tenement Coal Type ieastied ndicated nferied
(Mt) (Mt) (Mmt)

FOXLEIGH PLAINS 100% oc ML70431 PCI Coal (Mt) 19.3 15.8 8.5 43.6
ML70470 Raw Ash (%) ad 14.0% 16.4% 16.1% 15.3%

ONETREE/PIPELINE 100% ocC ML70309 PCI Coal (Mt) 9.8 6.6 4.1 20.5
ML70431 Raw Ash (%) ad 11.6% 14.2% 11.3% 12.4%
ML70470

FAR SOUTH 100% ocC ML70171 PCI Coal (Mt) 4.2 6.1 2.3 12.6
ML70309 Raw Ash (%) ad 13.2% 11.2% 11.2% 11.9%
EPC1139

DAGGERS TIP 100% oc ML70171 PCI Coal (Mt) - 0.7 9.5 10.2
ML70309 Raw Ash (%) ad - 11.6% 11.6% 11.6%
EPC1139

FOXLEIGH PROJECT 100% oc PCI Coal (Mt) 333 29.2 24.4 86.9

TOTAL (Rounded) PCI Coal (Mt)

Notes:

e Resources are reported in accordance with the JORC Code (2012).

e Measured and Indicated Resources are inclusive of those Resources modified to produce
Coal Reserves.

e Resources are reported on a 100 per cent project basis.

e Resources are reported on an in-situ moisture basis (at 4.5% in situ moisture).

e Resource Tonnes are reported as in situ Tonnes determined using above mentioned in situ
moisture and Preston Sanders in situ relative density of coal formula.

¢ Middlemount South Pty Ltd owns 70% of the stated Resources, POSCO Australia Pty Ltd
owns 20% and Nippon Steel & Sumitomo Metal Australia Pty Ltd own 10% of the stated
Resources.

e Mining Method: OC = Open Cut.

e Coal Type: PCl = Pulverised Coal Injection.

¢ Inferred Resources are rounded to reflect the relative uncertainty of the estimate.
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2.2 Coal Reserves
The following tables detail the Coal Reserves for the Foxleigh Mine as at 31st October 2016.

Table 21 Coal Reserves for the Foxleigh Mine

Coal Reserves - Foxleigh Project (315! October 2016)

Mini @ 2016 Coal Reserve 2016 Marketable Coal Reserve
Lo;:tlinogn Ownership ~ Method  Tenement Toae Proved Probable Total Proved Probable Total
- (Vit) (M1) (M) (M) (Mt) (Mt)
FOXLEIGH 100% ocC Total PCI Coal 29.2 23.5 52.7 22.4 16.8 39.2
PROJECT (Mt)

Table 22 Coal Reserves for the Foxleigh Mine by Model Area

Coal Reserves - Foxleigh Project (315 October 2016)

2016 Marketable Coal

2016 Coal Reserve

A q q Reserve

Mining Location Ownership Method Tenement Coal Type Proved  Probable Total Proved  Probable Total
(Mmt) (Mt) (Mt) (Mt) (Mmt) (Mt)

PIPELINE 100% oc ML70309 PCI Coal (Mt) 0.6 0.0 0.6 0.4 0.0 0.4
Product Ash (%) ad 7.6% 0.0% 7.6%

FOXLEIGH PLAINS 100% ocC ML70431 PCl Coal (Mt) 18.5 15.8 343 13.9 10.5 24.4
ML70470 Product Ash (%) ad 9.0% 8.9% 9.0%

ONETREE 100% oc ML70309 PCI Coal (Mt) 7.8 3.7 11.5 6.3 3.0 9.3
Product Ash (%) ad 7.1% 7.2% 7.1%

FAR SOUTH 100% oc ML70171 PCI Coal (Mt) 2.3 3.8 6.1 1.8 3.2 5.0
EPC1139 Product Ash (%) ad 7.0% 6.8% 6.8%

DAGGERS TIP 100% ocC ML70171 PCl Coal (Mt) 0.0 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.1 0.1
ML70309 Product Ash (%) ad 10.0% 8.5%

FOXLEIGH PROJECT PCI Coal (Mt)

Notes:

e Reserves are reported in accordance with the JORC Code (2012).

e Ownership: Reserves are reported on a 100 per cent project basis.

¢ Middlemount owns 70% of the stated Reserves, POSCO Australia Pty Ltd owns 20% and
Nippon Steel & Sumitomo Metal Australia Pty Ltd own 10% of the stated Reserves.

e Mining Method: OC = Open Cut.

e Coal Type: PCl = Pulverised Coal Injection.

e Reserves are reported on a ROM moisture basis (at 5.3% moisture).

e Reserves are converted to Marketable Reserves using a wet practical product yield. This
allows for the removal of included dilution and addition of moisture (from 5.3% ROM
moisture to 10.5% product moisture).

e Marketable Reserves are reported on a product moisture basis (at 10.5% moisture).
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APPENDIX 2 - SUMMARY OF INFORMATION TO SUPPORT THE COAL
RESOURCES ESTIMATES

1 Background

The Coal Resource estimate for the Foxleigh Mine, including Foxleigh Plains, One Tree/Pipeline, Far South
and Daggers Tip, is supported by the JORC Code 2012 Table 1 (Section 1 to 3) documents provided in
Appendix 5.

An increase in the Foxleigh Mine Coal Resources follows the completion of further exploration at the
Foxleigh Plains and One Tree/Pipeline model areas. The geological models supporting the Coal Resource
increase were updated to incorporate new drilling data, leading to revised interpretations of coal seam
structure, yield and quality for both model areas. The Far South and Daggers Tip geological models have not
been updated since the last resource estimate by Anglo American Metallurgical Coal in December 2015.

The following summary of information for Mineral Resource estimates is provided in accordance with Listing
Rule 5.8 of the ASX Listing Rules.

2 Geology and Geological Interpretation

Middlemount South Pty Ltd manages the coal mining activities in the Central Bowen Basin at the Foxleigh
Mine. The Foxleigh Mine is located approximately 22 kilometres south-east of Middlemount in Central
Queensland. Middlemount is approximately 200 kilometres north-west of Rockhampton.

The Foxleigh Mine is located in the central part of the Bowen Basin which contains numerous important coal
producing intervals in the Permian stratigraphy. The Late Permian Rangal Coal Measures host the coal
intervals mined at Foxleigh. The main rock types of these measures are sandstone, siltstone and
conglomerate which occur with coals and tuffaceous claystones. The Foxleigh deposit is in a plunging
syncline with strike north-north-west/north-west, flanked by large scale regional faults. The Jellinbah fault is
located to the west; it divides the Foxleigh Mine from Foxleigh West, and the Foxleigh/Yarrabee fault to the
east.

The economic coal seams at the Foxleigh Project occur within the Rangal Coal Measures of the Permian
Blackwater Group. Coal seams within the Rangal Coal Measures include: Roper, Middlemount, Tralee 1,
Tralee 2, Pisces 1A, Pisces 1B, Pisces 2A and Pisces 2B. Splitting and coalescing of the seams occurs in a
number of the seams. The Yarrabee Tuff is a marker bed beneath the Pisces 2B seam which marks the base
of the Rangal Coal Measures and the start of the underlying Burngrove Formation.

Coal seams from the Rangal Coal Measures have been mined at Foxleigh from sub-crop using the open cut
strip mining method since 2000. The Foxleigh Project is located between the Jellinbah Fault to the west and
the Foxleigh/Yarrabee Fault to the east, a strip approximately 6 km wide. Strikes of both strata and structure
are north-northwest/northwest. The Jellinbah Fault has a throw of approximately 600 metres. The main
faults in Foxleigh are thrust faults, with east over west displacement. The coal measures are contained
within a plunging syncline. Geological structure, including seam continuity, sub crops and oxidation zones
and faulting is generally well defined with a moderate density of open hole drilling in advance of the
operating areas.

Geological interpretation is ongoing with support for coal recovery being provided by regular in-pit survey,

drilling, pre-production drilling and refinements to fault and quality models. The Foxleigh Project drilling
database currently contains a total of 5,672 holes.
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New geological models were generated for the Foxleigh Plains and One Tree/Pipeline areas by Anglo
American Metallurgical Coal in 2015 and 2016, respectively. These geological models have been reviewed
and checked by Encompass Mining to ensure the models are accurate and robust representations of the
geology of the model areas. The geological models for the Daggers Tip and Far South areas were as
generated by Anglo American Metallurgical Coal in 2010 and 2013, respectively. These models, which have
been reviewed by Encompass Mining, were subjected to external audits during ownership by Anglo
American Metallurgical Coal.

3 Drilling Techniques

A combination of slim core (63mm) or medium diameter core (83 or 100mm) samples are taken of the coal
by a qualified geologist who measures, logs, photographs and samples the core in the field. Slim core holes
are generally fully cored whilst the medium diameter core holes are partially cored.

Coal samples are taken as plies within a seam which are then analysed at a laboratory for relative density.
Once the results from the ply samples are returned the plies are allocated to seam working sections and
further detailed analysis is undertaken on the working section. Roof, floor and parting samples may also be
taken and sampled separately. All holes are geophysically corrected where geophysics are available.

Core samples are taken using rotary drill rig and conventional (non-wireline) triple tube techniques and air
circulation. Approximately 74 per cent of the holes used in the geological models were geophysically logged
using gamma, density and caliper logs as the minimum suite of logs.

Chip samples are taken every metre for open holes and logged for lithology and other geological
characteristics.

4 Sampling, Sub-sampling Method and Sample Analysis Method

Sampling of drill core is conducted according to a universal standard set of instructions and performed by
qualified geologists who are familiar with the site. Samples are bagged at the drill site and then transported
to an external accredited laboratory for analysis. Coring depths are measured at the start of each core run
and are verified by the rig geologist. Core is measured in the exposed triple tube at the surface before being
rolled into PVC tubing for logging. The laboratory stores the core samples in cold rooms to preserve the
properties of the coal and limit sample oxidation.

Coal quality analysis was undertaken using a three-stage method comprising: raw analysis of plies, followed
by washability and product testing of composite samples.

All sample treatment and analysis was conducted according to procedures which adhere to Australian or
International equivalent standards in National Association of Testing Authorities certified laboratories
(NATA).

5 Criteria Used for Classification

A common methodology for classifying the Mineral Resources into Measured, Indicated and Inferred
confidence categories was used. Drill holes were assessed according to the value and reliability of contained
data to contribute a point of observation to Mineral Resource classifications. Structure and coal quality
confidence limits were plotted separately on a seam group basis with classification of coal inventory into
areas of low, medium or high confidence.

The structure and quality confidence polygons were combined to delineate areas of Measured, Indicated
and Inferred coal inventory as a basis for classifying Coal Resource tonnage estimates. Drill hole spacing
limits were identified to reflect the inherent variability of the seams based on geological knowledge
gathered over the past 16 years of mining and exploration at Foxleigh. Coal quality has proven to be
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relatively consistent at Foxleigh with variations usually only small and often easily predicted. Structure is
more complex at Foxleigh with thrust faulting and folding often causing seam repeats and a more
unpredictable nature of the seam position. Hence, the structure limiting distances are a lot less than the
quality limiting distances due to the more unpredictable nature of the structure.

Drill hole spacing limits used for influence polygons for Structure were: High Confidence — 200 metres;
Moderate Confidence — 400 metres; Low Confidence — 800 metres but not more than 400 metres past the
outermost open hole intersecting the seam.

Drill hole spacing limits used for influence polygons for Quality were: High Confidence — 600 metres;
Moderate Confidence — 1,200 metres; Low Confidence — 2,400 metres but not more than 1,200 metres past
the outermost cored hole intersecting the seam.

6 Estimation Methodology

The Foxleigh Project geological models were constructed using industry recognised stratigraphic grid
modelling software (ABB’s Minescape suite). For structural modelling a Finite Element Method (FEM)
interpolator was used. For coal quality modelling an inverse distance squared interpolator was used.

All surfaces and coal qualities were interpolated into grids with 15 metre and 20 metre grid node spacing.
Modelling was completed on an iterative basis by checking cross sections and contours of structural and coal
quality attributes. Database values were posted on contours to provide a further check.

Model areas are excluded from the estimate where coal seam thickness is less than 0.30 metre. Seam sub-
crop is assessed at the full fresh coal limit less 2 metres. Hence, up to 2 metres of oxidised coal is included in
the estimate. This has been common operational practice at Foxleigh and has very minimal impact on the
final product once blended with fresh coal. Areas where raw coal ash is greater than 40 per cent (ad) have
also been excluded from the estimation.
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APPENDIX 3 - SUMMARY OF INFORMATION TO SUPPORT THE COAL
RESERVES ESTIMATES

1 Background

The Foxleigh Mine estimate of Coal Reserves has also benefited from the addition of new exploration drilling
information, the updating of the geological models and mine design optimisation to reflect suitable mining
limits in the current market conditions.

Coal Reserve estimates for the Foxleigh Mine are supported by the JORC Table 1 provided in Appendix 5 -
JORC Code 2012 Table 1 for Foxleigh Mine Resource and Reserves. The following summary of information for
the Coal Reserve estimate is provided in accordance with Chapter 5.9 of the ASX Listing Rules.

The statement of Coal Reserves presented in this report has been produced in accordance with the JORC
Code 2012.

2 Economic Assumptions

Encompass Mining has completed a first principles economic evaluation to validate the Coal Reserves for the
Foxleigh Mine. A view has been taken on coal price, foreign exchange rate and mine operating and capital
cost. This view is processed into Coal Reserves through an optimised pit limit study, mine design and
scheduling processes into the economic evaluation to confirm positive project cashflow.

Mine Schedule
The key schedule assumptions in the Coal Reserve economic evaluation model are:

e The mine schedule is based on the 2016 Life of Mine (“LOM”) model for Foxleigh Mine. This model
schedules 72.7 Mt of ROM coal of which 52.7 Mt is Coal Reserves (Proved and Probable JORC
categories) and 14.7 Mt is an Inferred Resource. It is noted that Unclassified coal is scheduled later in
the mine life and there is no guarantee that further exploration drilling will result in these coal
tonnes being upgraded to a mineable Coal Reserve.

e Typically, 2.4 Mtpa Product Coal, as per the 2016 Life of Mine model

e Typically, 3.3 Mtpa ROM Coal, as per the 2016 Life of Mine model

e  Mine Life of 22 years, as per the 2016 Life of Mine model

e The project ROM strip ratio averages 9.8:1 (Waste: ROM coal)

e Coal Reserves are reported on a 100% of project basis

e 2016 is a partial year post the date of project acquisition

Figure 15 details the coal scheduled through time from the 2016 LOM mine schedule.
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Figure 15 Foxleigh Mine LOM Coal Profile
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Economic Model Factors
The key economic factors in the Coal Reserve economic evaluation model are:

e (Cashflow is discounted at a rate of 7%
e Corporate tax is applied at a rate of 30% on profit
e The economic evaluation is completed in Australian Dollars (AUDS)

Revenue
Project revenue assumptions are:

e Benchmark PCI coal price: USDS80/t
e AUD/USD foreign exchange rate: 0.72
e Benchmark PCl coal price: AUDS111/t

These assumptions are derived from a review of KPMG (2016) Coal Price and FX consensus forecasts and
based on discussion with Realm Resources. All coal produced from the Foxleigh Mine is considered a PCI

coal product and attracts the Benchmark PCl coal price.

Operating Cost

Operating costs are allowed on a cost per unit movement basis. Table 23 provides the average costs over the
life of the operation. A variety of sources have been used in determining key inputs, including quotes from

contractors, independent reports and Encompass Mining’s cost database.
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Table 23 Foxleigh Mine Operating Cost Summary

Cost Category

Unit Cost
(AUD/unit)

Unit Cost Ratio to Total Cost per
Saleable Tonnes Saleable Tonne
(Unit/Prod t)

(AUD/Prodt)

Mining Cost
Mining Method - Truck and Excavator
Mining Method - Dozer Push

Waste Removal - Truck and Excavator (incl Blasting) S 3.27 1254 §$ 41.03
Waste Removal - Dozer Push (incl Blasting) S 173 078 $ 1.35
Coal Mining (incl. Haulage to CHPP) $ 3.8 136 S 5.25
Subtotal - Mining Cost $ 47.63
Processing Cost

Coal Processing - Haulage to plant & Coal Stockpiling $ 3.00 136 S 4.09
Coal Processing - Process Wash Cost S 2.60 136 S 3.54
Coal Processing - TLO Cost (ROM) S 0.64 136 S 0.88
Subtotal - Processing Cost $ 8.51
General and Adminstration Cost

Minesite Overhead and Provision S 226 136 S 3.08
Exploration S 0.9 136 S 1.23
Subtotal - General and Adminstration Cost $ 4.32
Subtotal - FOR Cost $ 60.46
Transport to Market

Rail, Port and Demurrage $ 17.50 1S 17.50
Marketing Costs S 164 13 1.64
Subtotal - Transport to Market $ 19.14
Subtotal Total FOB Cost (Excl. Royalty) 189 79.60
Royalty 18 8.39
Subtotal Total FOB Cost (Incl. Royalty) 19 87.99

%

The economic model allocates capital into the categories of Sustaining, Closure and Expansion capital. The
capital cost profile used is based on the 2016 Life of Mine Model and is shown in Figure 16.

e Sustaining Capital is allowed for at a fixed rate of $2.88 per Product coal tonne. This is an
allowance to cover the replacement of the existing plant and equipment sufficient to sustain the
size of the existing operation.

e (Closure Capital is allowed at a fixed rate per annum and a balloon payment at the closure of the
project to allow for rehabilitation. This allowance covers the $81M AUDS environmental liability
currently outstanding for the Foxleigh Mine.

e Expansion Capital is specific investment capital required to increase tonnage or access new areas.
Foxleigh Mine has been obtained as an ongoing concern and does not require additional
infrastructure to access the areas required in the Life of Mine plan and as such there is no
allowance for Expansion Capital included in the economic evaluation of the Coal Reserves for
Foxleigh Mine.
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Figure 16 Foxleigh Coal Mine Life of Mine Capital Profile
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3 Criteria Used for Classification

Coal Reserves have been classified on Coal Resource confidence, mine planning criteria and the associated
project risk. For Coal Reserve tonnes in the mining schedule at the Foxleigh Mine:

e Proved Coal Reserves directly coincide with Measured Coal Resources
e Probable Coal Reserves directly coincide with Indicated Coal Resources
e Inferred Coal Resources and Unclassified Coal tonnes included remain unchanged

41 Mining Recovery Factors

The mining method of truck and excavator terrace mining will continue at Foxleigh Mine. In addition to truck
and excavator, conventional cast, dozer push and truck and excavator combination methods will be
employed to further minimise operational cost where pit geometry allows.

The modifying factors for mining recovery are based on historical site coal reconciliation of actual
performance and are considered reasonable assumptions given this type of mining and the geological
conditions present at the Foxleigh Mine.

Table 24 shows the Modifying Factors used in the conversion from Coal Resources to Coal Reserves.
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Table 24 Moisture, Aggregation, Loss and Dilution Assumptions at Foxleigh Mine

Air Dried (%) (%) 1.5% 1.5% * AAMC 2015 CP Report

Moisture In-Situ (%) (%) 4.5% 4.5% * AAMC 2015 CP Report

ROM (%) (%) 5.3% 5.3% * AAMC 2015 CP Report

Product (%) (%) 10.5% 10.5% * AAMC 2015 CP Report

Horizon Aggregation Minimum Coal Thickness (m) 0.3 0.3 * AAMC 2015 CP Report
Thickness Maximum Waste Thickness (m) 0.3 0.3 * AAMC 2015 CP Report
Loss Loss (%) by Seam (%) 6.0% 4.0% ! Acquisition Assumption
Dilution (%) by Seam (%) 8.0% 8.0% ! Acquisition Assumption

Dilution Included Waste Density (t/m3) 2.2 2.2 * AAMC 2015 CP Report
Included Waste Ash (%) 90.0% 90.0% * AAMC 2015 CP Report

* AAMC 2015 CP Report - Anglo American Metallurgical Coal (2015) Competent Person’s Report (CPR) for
Resources and Reserves for the period ending 31st December 2015.

! Acquisition Assumption — Coal seam Loss and Dilution assumptions have been altered from the Anglo
American Metallurgical Coal (“AAMC”) CP report to reflect practical changes from the AAMC mining strategy.
These practical changes are the removal of the Pisces 2 coal seam group, a group of thin high ash coal seams
and the mining of coal with smaller mining equipment to maximise mining selectivity. These are the only
Coal Seam Loss and Dilution Modifying Factors applied in the conversion from Coal Resources to Coal
Reserves.

5 Coal Processing Method

Foxleigh Mine has an existing single stage CHPP which washes 100% of the ROM coal produced at the mine.
The coal washing strategy at Foxleigh Coal Mine has historically been focused on extracting a premium low
ash metallurgical Pulverised Coal Injection (PCI) product. This product has typically targeted a product ash of
7%-8%. In the current market, comparable coal sources are sold with a product ash content between 9 to
10.5%. An increase in the product ash at Foxleigh Mine allows for an increase in the Coal Resource inventory
available for economic extraction and an increase in the coal yield in current mining areas. This strategy
allows for maximum value extraction from new mining areas coming on line, while placing the Foxleigh Mine
product at the low ash end of comparable products in the current market.

Marketable Coal Reserves are converted from Coal Reserves utilising a Practical Product Yield. This yield is
calculated on the following basis and allows for the direct conversion of Coal Reserves to Marketable Coal
Reserves:

e Added waste tonnage, including added dilution and aggregated waste plies, are removed on
washing.

e The moisture basis of the product coal is adjusted from 5.3% ROM Moisture to 10.5% Product
Moisture.

e (Coal yield in the geological model is simulated for each individual coal seam and mining location at
Foxleigh Mine. The selections of the target ash are based on an overall product strategy to generate
the best available value for the project. All simulated coal yields target a product ash to generate a
saleable PCI product. These are provided in Table 25.
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Table 25 Target Product Ash by Coal Seam and Mining Location at Foxleigh Mine

Coal Seam

Target Product Ash (%) by Mining Location

Pipeline Foxleigh Plains Onetree Far South | Daggers Tip
Roper 9.0% 9.0% 7.0% Not Present [ Not Present
Middlemount 8.0% 8.0% 7.0% 7.0% 9.0%
Middlemount Lower 8.0% 8.0% 7.0% 7.0% 9.0%
Tralee Not Present 10.0% Not Present 7.0% Not Present
Pisces Not Present 10.0% Not Present | NotPresent | NotPresent

%

This results in an average yield for Foxleigh Mine at 74.4% across all coal seams in the mine plan.

6 Estimation Method

The estimate of Coal Reserves is reported according to the guidelines set by the JORC Code, 2012
edition.

Mine designs have been completed in Minescape and Deswik mining software. The mine schedule has been
completed in the XPAC mining software which processes the elemental coal units from the design into
aggregated working sections. This process applies the relevant modifying factors to convert the Coal
Resource tonnage into Coal Reserve tonnage for the mine schedule.

7 Modifying Factors

Foxleigh Mine is an operating site with existing infrastructure in place to support the operation for the
intended life of the mine. Existing infrastructure and operating equipment will require sustaining
capital that is included in the financial assessment of the Coal Reserves.

Sufficient time is allowed in the mining sequence to allow for the conversion of Exploration Permits for Coal
to Mining Leases.
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APPENDIX 4 - COMPETENT PERSONS STATEMENT

1 Foxleigh Mine Coal Resources

The information contained in this report, which relates to estimates of coal resource, is based on data
compiled by Mr Lyndon Pass who holds a Bachelor of Science (Geology Honours), and is a Member of The
Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (AusIMM).

Lyndon Pass is the Principal Geologist of Encompass Mining Pty Ltd. Mr Pass has over 21 years’ experience in
open cut coal mining in Australia. Mr Pass has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of
mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as
Competent Person as defined in the JORC Code 2012.

Neither Mr Pass, nor Encompass Mining Pty Ltd has any material interest or entitlement, direct or indirect, in
the securities of Middlemount South Pty Ltd or any associated companies.

The estimates of Coal Resources presented in this report have been reported in accordance with the JORC
Code 2012. Mr Pass consents to the release of the report, in the form and context in which it appears.

2 Foxleigh Mine Coal Reserves

The information contained in this report, which relates to estimates of coal reserves has been prepared by
experienced mining engineers under the direction of Mr Troy Ince. The estimated ore reserves and mineral
resources underpinning the production target have been prepared by a competent person or persons in
accordance with the requirement in Appendix 5A (JORC Code).

Troy Ince is a Principal Mining Engineer of Encompass Mining Pty Ltd. Mr Ince holds a Bachelor of
Engineering (Mining Honours) from the University of Queensland. He has over 18 years of experience in the
open cut coal mining industry. Mr Ince is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy
(AusIMM) and is a Registered Professional Engineer of Queensland (RPEQ).

Mr Ince has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under
consideration and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as Competent Person as defined in the JORC
Code 2012.

The estimates of Coal Reserves presented in this report have been reported in accordance with the JORC
Code 2012. Mr Ince consents to the release of the report, in the form and context in which it appears.

Encompass Mining 82| Page



98ed| €8

SululN ssedwooug

‘sisAjeue Ayjenb 1o} Aj9|0s pa|p sajoy palod Ajjeiued ale 8109
wuwoQL 8y} ISIIYAA “SisAjeue 1oy Juss [eod ay} ypm sasodind |eoluyoslosh
10} pasn pue palod Ajjny Ajjueuiwopald aJe ssjoy 8100 WIS dy] "9zIS Ul
Jajowelp jusjeainba ue oy Buyp ajoy uado yum Buod (Joewelp wwoQ L
J0 €g) Jajpwelp wnipaw pue (wweg) a10o wis Ajueuiwopald si Buo)

‘Yidap ul salpdw Q| 0} dn paAIasqo S| uoielIAap a1
SE |edIlaA Se papJodal Ajjeuiwou || a1em sajoy |Up 8yl "yjdep ul sesjpw
€11 abeisane pue desp w{g 03 dn 8t saj0y |ILUP dYL %96 S9joy uado

‘(010 ‘poyiaw yeym Aq ‘os JI pue pajusLo
S| 2400 Jayleym ‘adAy Jeyjo Jo g Bundwes-aoe} ‘sje)
puowelp jo yidep ‘egn} piepuels Jo g|du} ‘J8}owelp 8109

pue pajjup S9j0y [BJ0} 8y} JO (S8joy LG|L) %t swuesaidas Bulup palod ‘6°9) sjielop pue (03o ‘oluos ‘exybueq ‘1ebne ‘ise|q Jie Alejol sanbjuyoo)
'9]eWI}SO 90IN0SAY 8y} 10} pasn usaq aAey S9|oy [P L8Oy JO [elol Y e ‘Jawwey sjoy-uado ‘uonejnoulo asional ‘e100 ‘6°8) adAl|ug e buiug
‘uoljeuLo|

pajlelop Jo 24nsoosip jueslem Aew (S|jnpou aulewdqns
‘6-9) sadA) uoljes|essUIL  JO  SBIIPOWWOD  |enshun
‘swig|qold Buydwes jualtayur sey ey} pjob asieod si alay}
alaym se yons ‘pasnbal aq Aew uoljeue|dxs aiow ‘sased
Jayjo U] “(Aesse auy 1oy abieyo 6 g e @onpoud 0} pasuaand
sem B ¢ yoiym woy ssjdwes w | ulelqo 0} pasn sem
Buyup uoneinoan asianal, “6'9) s dwis Ajpaiejad aq pjnom

SIY} SUOP U] SBY }IOM piepue)s AJjsnpul, 9JUm S9Seo U] e
"Moday 2lland 8y} 0} (Ml

ale jey} uoljesijesaulW JO UOIJBUILLBIEP By} JO sjoadsy e
'pasn swiajsAs 1o |00} Juswainseaw
Aue jo uoneiqueo sjeudoisdde ay) pue Aunjussaidal

o|dwes aInsud O} UdYe} SaINSEaW O} ddUdISJd dpnou| e
‘Buidwes jo Buiueaw peouq ayj Buijiwi se uaxe) aqg jou
pinoys saidwexa asay] ‘(030 ‘sjuswinisul 44X playpuey
10} SpJepue)s JolIS Yim 9oUeplodde Ul uaaqg sey ajep o} Bulidwes ai0) e Jo ‘sepuos ewweb sjoy umop se yons ‘uoljebisanul
‘pasn uaaq aney (sasodind |eojuyo9)oab Japun sjesauiw 8y} o} sjeudosdde sjo0} JuswaINSEAW

pue Ayjenb [eod uoy) ssjoy pa1od Ajjeiped 1o Ajiny pue (uoiuyep |einjoniys plepueys Asjsnpur  pasjenads oyoads 4o ‘sdiyo sanbjuyoo)

Jo} sajdwes diyo anaw | Ajjueuiwopald) sejoy uado jo uoleUIqUIOD Y e wopuel ‘sjguueyd o 6°8) Bujdwes jo Ayenb pue ainjeN e buydwes

“yJom uoljelojdxe

Areyuswwio) uoneuejdxs 8pod DO eLapI)

eje pue sanbruyoa ], Surjdues 1

"(Uonip3 Z10T @P0D JHOf
3] ) S9AISS3Y 3JQ PUE S3IUNOSIY |eJsUllA ‘S}NSaY uolleloldx] Jo Suinioday ayl 4oj 3P0OD UelSe|edisny Byl Ul 1SIX23Yd T 3|qel 3yl Y1Im dUepIodde Ul S924Nn0say
|e0d pue sy nsaJs uolelo|dxa Jo Suiodad ayl Joj Sul y319|x04 e pasn eldddd Suipodad pue Juswssasse jueliodwi Jo Asewwns e sapinoad ajqel Suimo|o) ayl

SAAYIASTY ANV A2UNOSTY ANIWN HOITTXO0A HOd T ATAV.L ZT0Z 3d0D JYO0[ - S XIANAddV
/LT0C 140day s,13s180|]099 juapuadapul] - aUIlIN Yy3i1a|x04

5



98ed|v8

SululN ssedwooug

‘69) pojydope sainpaocoid |osjuod Ayenb jo auneN e
"0J9 ‘uoljeAllap J1ay) pue palidde siojoey suonelqied ‘sawi}
‘Aoeunooe Buipeas ‘epow pue ayew jusawnisul Buipnjoul sisAjeue
pue uoisioaid 1o} SoisieIs pue s)o|d-SSoJO BIA POSSASSe ale S)nsal || ay) Buuiwiayep ul pasn sieeweled ay) 09 ‘sjuawnJlsul s)sa}
‘a)ep 0} Buiysay [ealjA|eue |e jo ued sunnos e usaq sey welboud 44X Pldypuey ‘siopwonoads ‘sjooy |eoisAydosb o4 e Aiojeioqel
joJjuod Ayjenb siyl Bunse} uigos punol pue sasAleue 308yd jno Aued "|ejo} Jo |ejped paapisuod S| pue
pue ‘sasAjeue jo Ayjqonpoidas pue Aujgeleadas ayy Jojuow 0} /002 anbiuyos} sy} Jayaym pue pasn sainpadoud Aiojeloqe| pue ejep Aesse
90UIS 8sn Ul Usaq sey saliojeloge) [eanjAjeue Joy welboud josuoo Ayjenb v Buikesse ay} jo ssausjeudosdde pue Ayenb ‘ainjeu sy e Jo  Auenp
‘Aiojeloqe| payiad saljlioyny Buiisa] JO UOIJEID0SSY |BUOiEN
B Ul spJepuels (jus|eAinba |euopeutajul o) eljesisny 0} alaype ydlym ‘pajdwes Buiaq |eLslew ay)
saJnpaoo.d 0} Buipioooe paonpuod si sisAjeue pue juswieal; sidwes ||y Jo azis uielb sy) o) sjeudoidde sie sazis sjdwes JaylBypy @
"18160]089) uonelo|dx3 Joluss ay) Aq paulep se ss|duwies ‘Buidwes Jley-puodas/ajedlidnp pialy 1o} sYNsal sduB)sul
aysodwoo uo Bunse) jonpoid pue Apjigeysem Aq pemojjoy seid e uo Joj Buipnjoul ‘pajoa]|o9 [elsjew NYs-Ul 8y} Jo anjjejuasaldal
sisfjeue mes Buirjoaul poyjew abejs-aaly) e AqQ si sisAjeue Ayenb oo sl Buydwes sy} jeyy einsue 0} UBME} SBINSES| e
"sisA|eue 10} paysnio ‘sojdwes Jo Ayanuasaidal asiwixew o} sabeys
Buieq aiojeq payblam-al usay) pue paup Jie ‘paybiam ale sejdwes ||y Buidwes-gns (e Jojy pajdope seinpedoid [04ju0d AylenD e
“¥1.0Z Ul ‘anbiuyos} uone.ledaud sjdwes ay) jo ssauajelidoidde
paso|o J INq ‘sasAjeue [B0OD Jo} AI0JRIOqE| PBJORBIJUOD B} SEM SUO)SPE|S) pue Ayenb ‘einjeu ey} ‘sedA} edwes (e o4 e uonesedaid
ul Alojeloge] SHS ayy Aisnoinald “Aexoely ul Alojeloge] SOHS 8yl "Aap 10 1om pajdwies Jsylaym pue o/dwes pue
0} pauodsuel; usy} pue ays [|Up 8y} e pabbeq aie sedweg "(ainjoniis '0J0 ‘Y|ds Asejos ‘pajdwes agny ‘pajyll JOYIBYM ‘9100-UoU J| e sanbiuyose}
pue ABojoyy uo paseq) ayus Agq paulwlielep eusjuo pue sgini buidwes ‘uaye) 9109 bujdwes
pJEpUE]S JO }8S B U0 paseq pue a)is |[1ip 8y} je pajajdwod st buidwes 810D |le 10 jjey ‘Japenb Jayiaym pue UMES JO JND JBYJaUM ‘al00 )| e -qns
"$9]0Y |E2IUYD9}086 ||B ul unJ aJe S|00} JJUOS pue uoJINdU By |
‘(1oyowdip ‘Ayjeoiien ‘oluos ‘Aysusp paoeds Joys ‘Aysusp
uolnjosal paq ‘Ajsusp paoeds Buo| ‘ewweb ‘Jadijes) sjoo} [eoisAiydoab
ajoyumop Jjo auns anisusyaisdwoo e bBuisn pabbo| sie ssoy |Iv ‘pabbo| suoljoasiayul
‘sjeasaul W X 0z Ul paydelbojoyd ale saidwes diyo ajoy uadp jueas|al 8y} jo obejusosed pue yjbus| [Bjo} Byl e
‘(sjuswaloul wg Q) |ge) 84092 8y} uo paydelboloyd si 8109 | ‘Aydeuboyoyd (0319 ‘|ouueyd ‘ueaisod Jo)
‘pPopJ0ooaI OS|e BJe SJUSWWOD dAlje)ienb jeuciyppe 2109 "ainjeu ul aaizepuenb 1o aaneyienb si Buibbol Jaylaypy e
Aue pue inojo) -suoijuyep AJeuoiolp plepuels Buisn  psjonpuod ‘salpn}s |eaibinjelow pue
sI ssaupJley pue ainxa) ‘Aydesbiyens ‘Abojoyy 4oy Buibbol aaieyuEND salpnis Buluiw ‘uonewnss 80Inosay |esaulyy sjeudosdde
‘sabueyo Abojoyy Jad se pabbo| pue aipw | Alans usaye) ale saidwes poddns o) [elep Jo |9A8] B 0} pabbo| Ajeoiuyosijosb
diyo sjoy uadQ -sabueyo |eoiuyosjoab pue Abojoab 1oy pabbol si 810D pue Ajjeaiboj0ab usaqg aney ssjdwes diyo pue 8100 JSYIBYA\N e buibboq
‘s)sibojoab
uoneloidxa Aq Ajoajeyenb passasse si Alanodal diyo sjoy uadQ
‘sisAjeue Ajjenb [0D meJ Ja)je ssew |edl}ai0ay)
jsuiebe ssauanjejuasaidal U0y payoayo oJte sossew odwes Ald ‘lelalew as.Jeod/auly jo uieb/ssoj [enualagald
"%06 < SI A1onoosl 0} anp palindo0 aAey Aew seiq sjdwes Jayjaym pue apeib
alaym |opow |eaibojoab ay} ul pasn Ajuo si ejep Ayjenp ‘pajdedde ase pue A1an02a1 g dwes uaamjaq sisixa diysuonelas B JSYIBYAN @
%06< SalBA02al 8109 ybiaxo4 je Buijney [einjonuis xs|dwod sy} 0} ang ‘sg|dwes ay} Jo ainjeu anijejussaldal
‘aloday) Buibbo ajiym 1si6ojoab ay} Aq papiooal si A1oAodal 8109 ainsus pue A1anodaa s|dwes asiwiXew 0} Udye) SaINSes)\ e
‘910z Joqwaidag ul uoiysinboe ayj 0y Jolud Budwes pue Buibbo) ‘POSSASSE S)NSaJ pUB SAIIOA0ID S A1or0004
‘Bunup |le Joj pasn usaq aAey swa)sAs Buibbo| pasipliepuels ayep o] a|dwes diyo pue 2402 Buissasse pue Buipiodal JO poylBl e a/dwes jjug

Kieyuawwon
/LT0C 140day s,13s180|]099 juapuadapul] - aUIlIN Yy3i1a|x04

uoyeue|dxa apo QYOI

eLajD



98ed|ss8

SululN ssedwooug

‘Aiojeloge| ay} o} papodsued) ale saidwes
ay) paje|dwod s| djoy dy) Joyy ‘eale abelioys a0 uonelojdxs ayy
0} Ajilep payodsued; uay} pue ayis 1P 8y} Je uaye)} ale sejdwes diys/a10)

*Ajnoas s|dwies ainsus 0} uaye) sansesw ay |

Aunoas s dwes

"sysodap paipjesis Buif| Jely 104 o|qeUNS ||i}s SI Bull|Ip dY} JO UOIeIUSLIO 8y |
‘Wwess awes ay}

J0 saouanbas pajeadas pauayoly} ul Buiynsal uowwod ale sjeadal weas
‘Swa)sAs )ine 9aqgelle A pue yequijsf ayj punose Ajjeroadss

sdip dea)s 0} 10a[gns aJe Jng BuldAe| JUS)SISUOD MOYS SSINSEBaW [BOD 8y |

‘lelejew J papodas pue
passasse aq p|noys siy} ‘seiq Bulidwes e paonpoJjul aney
0} PaJapISU0D S| S8INJONJIS pasiesdull Ay JO UONEJUSIIO
ay} pue uolejusuo bulup sy} usamiaq diysuoneal auy

"adA} ysodap ayj} Bullepisuod ‘umouy si
SIY} YyoIym 0} Juaixa ay} pue sainjonis ajgissod jo Buydwes
paselqun sanalyoe Bujdwes jo uonejusalio 8y} Jayldupn

ainjoniys
Jeaibojoab 0}
uonejas uj eyep
Jo uoneusLQO

'S9liepunoq Weas paulap ulyim paysodwod ale sejdwes 2109 ||y
"uol}e|a1I09

Joisea 1oy mojje 0} doso-gns 0} Jeinoipuadiad saul| Jayes ng pub e uo
N0 18s jou s Bulup 8y} usodsap ayj jo Auxsdwod jeinionyys a8y} 0} ang
-dip umop SjeAJsiul W O L —WG 1e si ydiym dosogns o}

9S00 ‘(X(O71) UOHESIPIXO JO Jwi| dY3 404 Bulljip sopNjoxs siyL "axus Buoje
s|eAJalul W 0OE—00| ¥ pue dip umop s|eAldiul W G ¥e paj|p a4e ssjoy
‘Aixa|dwod |eunjonJlS JOMO| JO UIBWIOP SY} SI YDIUM ‘quul] UIS}sam ay} uQ
‘seale Buluiw sy} ul ‘euys Buoje |eassiul

W 0ZL—G/ e Je pue ‘dip umop [eAJBjUl W 0G—Z| € Je pa|lLup a.ie ssjoy
JIup ‘urewop Auxsidwod [ednyonays ybiy ayy SI yoym ‘quuj uisises ayl uQ

‘palidde usaq sey Buipsodwos ajdwes Jayiaypn

‘palidde suonealyisse|o pue (s)ainpadold uonewiss
AAI9S9Y 9JQ pue 82In0say |esauly 8y} Joy ajeudoidde
Aununuoo apelb pue |eoibojoab jo @aibap ay) ysigeiss
0} JudIdINS SI uoiNquisip pue Buioeds ejep a8y} JaYIBYM
"s)nsay uonelojdx3 jo buipodal oy Buoeds eleq

uonnqrysip pue
buioeds  ejeqg

'Sa|0y ||Up polosjes
10} 100} Ayjeoian ayy Buisn usyelspun usaq sey Buikeains sjoyumoq
"WIWIQ L-/+ 40 AoeInooe UB YIM SdO |BljuaIayip

Buisn sioAanins pasual Aq Buljup 1sod pakaains aJe slejjod oy |g
"(SSVOIN) GG duoz ‘elesisny

pus depy sy o1 Buipioooe peinsesw ale S8JeUIPIO-00 paksAins ||y
's9z|s |90 pub aJw Q| uo

paseq aJe spub AydesbSodoy yinog Je4 pue suladid/eall SUQ JlIYM sazis
[199 pub 81w g uo paseq aJe spub Aydeisbodo) suield ybisxo4 pue dij
s1eb6e@/D 0leD 8y} pue seale |9pow aJijua ay} Janod spub Aydeibodoy
8yl ‘WG| 0-/+ Jo Aoeunooe ue yum Ajlelausb eiep Yyl wodj pajessusb
usaq sey sjepow [eabojoab |e o} sjppow pub owydesbodoy sy

‘losjuo9 olydesbodoy jo Aoenbape pue Ajlenpd

‘pasn wia)sAs pub sy jo uoneoiyoads

"UOIJeWLISS 82IN0SaY |BJBUI Ul Pasn SUOIed0| Jay}o pue
sBuppom suiw ‘seyoualy ‘(sAanins sjoy-umop pue Jejjod)
s9|0Y [|Up 8)}e20] 0} pasn sAaAains jJo Ayjenb pue Aoeinooy

sjurod
ejep Jo uojesoT

‘aJINHIe pue (ggo) aseqelep
|eaibojoab adeosauly s,gg9y ol (dluosjosle pue |eaisAyd) abelols ejep
‘uoljeoijiian eyep ‘sanpasold Aujus ejep ‘ejep Atewud S19A00 WiB)SAS SsIy |

‘sainpaoo.d Buiodal pue plepuels
S Jaumo snoirald ay} Aq palonod usaq sey ajep 0} 8)iS WOy Jajsuel) ejeq
'slosintadns |eoibojoab Aq payosyo
pue usasiano uaaq sey sisAjeue pue Bujdwes Ayjenb [eoo e ajep o]

‘ejep Aesse 0} Juswisnlpe Aue ssnoasiq

‘s|0o030.d

(oosose  pue |eaisAyd) obelo}s elep  ‘uoljedlIaA
ejep ‘sainpasold Aius ejep ‘ejep Alewiud jo uonejuswnooq
'S8|0Y pPaUUIM] JO 8sh By

‘|Jsuuosiad Auedwod aAneulsje Jo uspuadapul

Jayye Ag suoiossiojul jueoiubis Jo uopeollsA 8y

buifesse
pue buidwes
J0 uonedjlisA

‘paysi|ge)se ueaq aAey uoisioald pue (seiq
10 Xoe| "8'1) Aoeinooe Jo s|oAg| s|gejdeooe Jayeym pue
(so08yo Alojeloge| |eusaixa ‘sejeoldnp ‘Syue|q ‘spiepuels

Kieyuawwon
LT0C Y40day s,13s180|]099 juapuadapu]| -

uoyeue|dxa apo QYOI

°ou

eLI9)I)
IIN Yys1a|xod



°28ed]|98 SululN ssedwooug

‘punos pue
ajeudoidde aiam sanbiuyosy UOI}08||00 BIEP 8U] JBYl PAMOYS UO paseq
alam Aay} ejep pue sjapow |eoi6ojoab ay) jey} pepnjouoo sypne asay| e
*Jaumo snoinald ayy Aq pasinep se ssaooud Bupuodal
pue Jipne Jou}s e Buisn SjueyNsSUOD [BUIBIXS AQ pajipne aJom Uoljew}se ‘ejep pue SMalnal
90JN0SaJ 10} pasn sjepow |eolbojosb e 910z Jeqweldeg qun dn e sanbiuyos) Buidwes Jo smainal Jo sypne Aue josynsalayl e Jo sypny

Aieyuawwon uoneue|dxa apod JHOr eLIB)ID
/T0C ¥40day s,15180|099H juapuadoapu| - dUIIN Y319 |x04




98ed| .8

SululN ssedwooug

anolbuing ayy Auo Ing ‘ybnos aiem sainses|\ [B0D
[ebuey sy (/661 Ul POIIUP ‘6ELL Od3 JO UINOS sasewopy
us) JNOCE 8sJioAel) Jses-}sem auo - (eusadip)) pssung .
‘sainses|\ |eo) |ebuey 108siajul 0 }ses ybnous Jey
Jou Ing ‘Yne- yequyjier auy Jo }ses alom says sy - Aespui] oxe] .
‘pajoasIaiul sem anolbuing ayj Ajuo
‘6ELL Dd3 10 }1SOM-UNos 8y} Ul S8|0YaIog IN0JS SAI{ - YeUD
seale ainua) YbIajxo4 uiyim pajos|joo
ejep ajoyaloq |eodde) Jo asn apew sey ybis|xo4 "suoijedo| aioq
98U} JO SWOS e Ud)e} aJom SUOI}09SIa)UI [BOD JO S8I0D '6EL L Od3
Jus.LIND 8y} Jo Jed uIsyHou 8y} Ul S8|oyalog JN0dS i - [eoode) .
‘a|gejieae Ajolgnd jou si eyep
8y} Ing ‘(¥ee1Q 1odoy JO JsES WAy} Jo BAl Jses) je) jned yequijler
8y} JO }Sed S9|0Y pPapn|oul YdIym Sul| 9SJ9ABI) U0 PP - UBY)

:Buipnjoul ‘siapjoy Juswaus) jsed Ag Ino palLied
swelbosd Bup Asojelojdxe jo saseyd snosownu usdq SABY BByl e

‘saljed
Jayjo Ag uoneloidxs jo |esieidde pue juswbpamoundy e

salued sayjo Aq
auop uopelojdxgy

‘ue|d uawaua] 108loid ybiajxo4 ayy 1o} 7 xipuaddy 01 Jajoy e

699} Od3
GG8 Od3
¢# sule|d ybiaxo4 002 TN
Z#sule|d ybisxod 6z10. TN
1o ublexo4 010 TN
"MOJa( Sjuswaua) asay) jsulefe pajiodal usaq aney $824N0sal
OoU JnQq ‘syjuswsus) Buimojio} 8y} suleuod osje sullN ybisxo4 oyl e
6€LlL Od3
i suleld ybisxo4 02402 TN
L# suteld ybiexod Ley0. N
1se3 ybiajxo4 600 TN
ybiaxo4 12102 TN
"MOJaq Ssjuswaua) Buimol|oy
ay) Jo pasodwod s| sjppow 92Inosay ybigxo4 ayy dn Bupjew ease sy e
"P¥1$90In0saY Wieay Aq paumo %001 S! PF1 Aid UINOS Junows|ppiy e

%01 — P¥1 A1d elelisny [ejo\ owopwng g [e8}s uoddiN - ©
81eys %0z — P11 Aid elensny 00SOd ~ ©
aleys %0. — P11 Aid YInog unows|ppiy  ©
"MOJaq pajsi| aJe sisuped ainjus Wior
8yl juswsalibe ainjua julor e Japun pajelado s| auly ybigixo4 syl e

O 0 O0OO0Oo

O 0O 00O

Aieyuswwon 7

‘eale ay} ul ajesado 0}
20ua9]| e Bujuiejqo 0y sjuawipadwi umouy Aue yam buoje
Buiodal Jo awiy 8y} 1B pjay ainuad) 8y} Jo AJInoas ay| e

‘sBbuipes [ejuswuoaua pue yied
|EUOI}BU JO SSBUIap|IM ‘SB)IS |EDLIOISIY ‘S)SaIalul 9])1} DAI}EU
‘saljjeAod Buipliano ‘sdiysiaulied ‘sainjuana juiol se yons
saied pJiy} ypm senssi |elsjew Jo sjuswsalbe Buipnjoul
diysisumo pue uoljeo0| ‘Jaquinu/oweu aouaiael ‘edh] e

snjejs
ainua) pue| pue
jusweua} [essuly

uopeue|dxs apo9 JHOr 7 ST}

(‘uor329s siy1 03 Ajdde osje T uoI13S § xipuaddy ul paisi| elda}d))

syinsay uoneiojdxy jo Sunioday Z

LT0C 140day s,13s180|]099 juapuadapu]

- dUIW Yy3la|xod



°28ed]|88 Sululy ssedwooug
8 ¥ée | 14 66  ¥0¢ 80¢ IsoN sa|be3
UHoN
8 082, ¢ vz 86 S6YL 6IG1 ubiejxod
JOpLLIOD 8sE
: ay} si siy) Aym urejdxe Alues|d pjnoys uosiad jusjedwod
89 ez 9 0z ¥6  90€ 9ze WRISSM | oy ‘podas ay) Jo Buipue)siepun 8y} WoJ) JOENSP JoU
S90p UOISN|OXa SIY} PUE |BLISJE JOU S| UOIJEWIO)UI 8} Jeu}
sISeq 8y} uo paiyisnl sl uoewlIojul SIY} JO UOISN|OXd BU} J| e
19 eegc 9 9  ¥8 Z6¢ 8re yinos e 5
‘ybug oy ©
0 d sisbbeq yjdap uondaaisyul pue yibusj sjoy umop  ©
ol 6cLlL €  ¥E 16 S60) 6cLL  “PRID oleD /oy 8y} Jo yinwize pue dip  ©
fol] 106 z 6l 86 €90l 2801 991 duUQ JBJj02 8joY [[Up 8y} JO (SaJjewi ul |aAs] BBS 8A0qe
uoneAs|e — [oA97] paonpay) Y Jo uopeAs;s o
€8 /88 ¢ 0c 86 G0l S90L aulladid Jejj02 8joy [jup 8y} jo Buiypiou pue bupses o
86 ey S 7% G6 8¢y 0S¥ sule|d
ybioxo4
:s9joy
lIUp |eusiepy |le 1o} uoteuuojul Buimoljoy ayj o uoleinge;
e Buipnpoul synsal uonelsojdxe ay} jo Buipuelsiopun uoneuw.ojuf
‘usodap ybiajxo4 Joj Alewwns eyep Bujug e a8y} 0} |eudlew uojewuoul |B Jo Aewwns Yy e sjoy jua
"8U0)SAB|D SN03dEYN} PUE [BOD B} YIM INII0 YIym ‘ayesawo|buod
pue auoj}s}|is ‘BUO)SpUES dJe SaInseaw [eod ay) Jo sadA} yool ulew ay] e
"'Sweas gg s99Sld pue g sadsld ‘gl so9sld ‘Y| S99sld ‘2
99[el] ‘| 99jel] ‘J8MOT JUNOWS|PPIA ‘IUNOWS|ppIN ‘g Jodoy ‘| Jadoy ay}
Buipnjour ysodap ybioxo4 ay) JO SWeas [e0d dY} SISOY S2INSES\ [B0D
|ebuey ueiwiad aye ay) "Aydelbiesis uejwiad ay) Jo ejed)s Bulieaq |eoo ‘uoljesijelauiw
8y} Ulypm uiseg uasmog |esjua) ay) ul pajeoo| si ysodap ybigxo4 ayy e jo 9fis pue bBupes |edbojoab ‘edA} jysodeq e Abojoon

‘910z Jeqwiaydag jun dn sAeains
olwsies g pue Buyup Buipnjoul uonelojdxa ||e Jo Ueipoisno Juadal
ay} usaq aney [eo) [ealbunjels|y ueslswy ojbuy 200z Ul ysodap
ybisxo4 ay} Buuinboe Jaye — |eo) [eaibinjela)y uesuswy ojbuy

'saInses|

[eoD [eBuey oy} jo jusixe Jobie| psynuspl ng sbuipuy |enul
s |eoode) pawliuod synsal Bulug "(sejoy uado $Z| pue sajoy
paiod Ajny Jo Ajleryed G) sejoy L8l Bulllelo} 6661-866) WOl
uoljelojdxa jJo saseyd juaseyip 8aly} — ainjudA Julor ybisxo4
"pa}oas.iaul uoljew.o

Kieyuawwon
/LT0C 140day s,13s180|]099 juapuadapul] - aUIlIN Yy3i1a|x04

uonjeue|dxa apo YOI eusID



28¢ed| 68

SululN ssedwooug

‘dip weas pue ssauIy} [BOI}JBA UO Paseq SSauyoIy}

anJ} Buiuwielep jo siqeded si uoleodde |jppowiens s,adedsaulp
'SSOUYIIY} |B0D BNnJ) ajewixoidde

sydeosajul wess |eod ‘Aydesbiesis pue senbiuyosy Bulup uo peseg

'sJojoe) buijybiom se (pe) Ajsuap aAljej@. pue SsauydIy}

yjoq bBuisn Buibelsene biam Aq pojessusb ase sajyenb paysodwod
‘suoijoas bunpom sjqesuiw bunussaidas

(sisAjeue [eoo 1onpoid pue Ayjqeysem Joj) seidwes Aususp oaijejal
MBI JO MBIABI Joje sajisodwod ajeasd 0} pauiquiod ale ssjdwes Ald

depy uoneso jeuoibay ybiajxo4

'SMBIA [euoloas ajeldoldde pue suoieao]

Jejj02 8|0y ||p 40 MaIA ue|d e 0} pajiwi| 89 Jou Ing ‘epnjoul
pinoys asay] pauodal Buleq Alonoosip jueoubis
Aue Joy papnjoul 8q pjnoys sidedssiul jJo suoljeinge)
pue (ss|eos yum) suonoes pue sdew djeudosddy
‘(,umouy| Jou yipim anuy ‘yibus) sjoy umop, ‘6°9)

10949 SIy} 0} JuSWISle)S Jes|d B 8q pinoys aJay) ‘papodal
ale syjbus| sjoy umop ay} AlUo pue umouy jou si }
‘pauodal 8q pjnoys aJnjeu sy ‘umouy si 8jbue sjoy [|Up
8y} 0} 10adsal yym uolesiiessuiwl ay} jo Anowoab ay) j|
‘s)nsay uojeloldx3 jo Buruodas

ay} u juepodwi Apenongied ase sdiysuonejas asay)
‘paleis Alies|o aq pjnoys sanjea jusjeainba

jelaw Jo bBuiyodas Aue oy pasn suondwnsse ay|
‘lleyap Ul umoys aq

pinoys suonebaibbe yons jo sejdwexas |eoidA} swos pue
paie)s aq pinoys uoijebaibbe yons oy pasn ainpaosoid sy}
‘synsaJ apelb mo| Jo syjbus| Jabuoj pue sjnsal apelb ybiy
Jo syibus| poys ajesodioour sydeossiul ayebaibbe asaypn
‘PaJe}S 8q pPINOYS pue [eld)e

Ajjensn a.e sapeuib yo-no pue (sepesb ybiy jo bumno "6-8)
suoljeouny} spelb wnuwiuiw Jo/pue wnwixew ‘sanbiuyos)
Buibesane Bunybiom ‘synsey uoieloidx3y Buiuodal uj

. sweubeiq

. syjbuaj ydaausyul
pue SYIpim

° uonesiessuiw
usamjaq

. diysuoneroy

spoyjaw
. uorjebaibbe ejeqg

5

1S9
19 6L € 9 16 022 9z2 ybreixod
12 ¥e 0 0 o00L 921 9zl  »eeu) Jedoy

LT0C 140day s,13s180|]099 juapuadapu]

- QUIN yS8i1a|xo4



28ed| 06

SululN ssedwooug

‘g|qealjdde joN

*s80.Inosal Buiuieuoo
Seale [9poW INoJ 8y} IO} SUOI0S SS0.D) |BoIdA] 1o g xipuaddy 0} Jajey
"UB|d U0I}e00T 8|0H |I1ig 0} g Xipuaddy 0} Jejey

‘s)nsay uoielo|dx3 jo buiodas Buipes|siw
pioAe 0} padnoeld ag pjnoys syjpim Jo/pue sapelb ybiy
pue mo| yjoq jo Burpodal anijejuasaldal ‘s|qeonoeud jou si
. synsay uoijelojdx3 ||e jo Buiodas aaisuayaidwod alayp) e

g
L

p AT TR LY

HO1ZTXOod

.
Pl |

(LI

LIPUD|D

H

Burpiodau
pasuejeg

LT0C 140day s,13s180|]099 juapuadapu]

- dUIN YyS81a|xo4



°28ed| 16 SululN ssedwooug

‘aAl)ISUaS AjjeroJawwod
J0U S| uonewIOUl SIYy) papirold ‘seale Bulup aininy pue
suoljelaidiaul |eaibojoab ulew ayy Buipnjoul ‘sucisuaixa
giqissod jo sease ayy bBunybyybly Auesp swelbelq e

“(Bunup Ino-days
aleos-able| Jo suoisualxe Yydep JO SUOISUSIXD [ed)e| IO}

s)s9) "6°9) yom Jayuny pauueld Jo 9|BOS pue ainjeu 8yl e Wiom Jaypin
‘saoue)sgns Buljeuiweuod 1o snouals|ap |eljuajod
‘SOlSLI9)OBIBYD  HOOJ pue  |eoluyosloab  ‘dejempunolB
‘Aysusp Yng ‘sjnsas 3s8) |ealfunjelow  ‘uswieal)
Jo poylew pue azis — sodwes Yng :‘synsas Asains
|esiwayooab ‘synsas Asnuns |eaisAydosb suonealsasqo

‘eale}osloid ayy Jo ypou ayj ul abpsmouy Ajjenb [Bod ay} asealoul 0}
eale suie|d ybiaxo4 ayy ur Aeemsapun Ajjuaiind st welsboud uoneiojdxa uy e
‘Buiobuo aq |Im ([eo1uyoa}oab ‘Ajjenb jeod) synsau
|eonAjeue pue spjayumolq dibsjelss pue uononpoud-aid yjoq Joj Buyug e

SIWi| [elAn|ie pue saAp

‘syne} ‘anjonqys ajesulep 0} paje|dwod usaq aney Asains onsubew jeaibojoab :(0} paywy jou Ing) Buipnjour pauodas aq ejep uopesojdxs
auloque pue sAeans ojwsies Qg ‘Buyup uoneiojdxa 0} uolmppe u| e pinoys ‘|euajew pue |njbujuesw i ‘ejlep uoljelojdxs JoyiQ e aAnueIsqns 1ay30
/LT0C 140day s,13s180|]099 juapuadapul] - aUIlIN Yy3i1a|x04

5



o8ed|ee6

Suluiry ssedwodoug3

sa8JjoW Qg — ynos Je4
saljaw oz — di] siebbeqD ole)d
saJjpw G| — auljadid/eal] aup
saJsjowW G| — suleld ybiajxo4

O 00O

"Mo|aq sazIs [|92 plib Buimolioy

3y} UO paseq dJe djewnss 89IN0sal 8y} Ul pasn sjepow |ealbojoab ay |
‘(yinos Je4 pue dij sieb6eq/D olen ‘euladid/oa.]

auQ ‘suleld Ybloixo4) uolEWIISS 92IN0S8S JO} pPasn ale Yydym jo
JInoy ‘sjapow |ea160j0ab aulu Jo |ejo) e Ag pasanod s| yisodap ybisjxo4 ay |
‘pasn

sem pagno Jo pasenbs aouelsiq astaau] Buljepow Ayjenb |eod oy pue
pasn sem Joyejodiajul (A 34) uawa|3 ajul4 ay3 Buldpow [einjonjs Jo4
(611" uoision)

alemyos adeosaulp s,ggy bBuisn usyelnspun sem Buljspow [eoibojoas)

'syonpo.d

-Aq jo Asenodas bBuipiebas spew suondwnsse oyl
‘ejep

yons jo wnoooe sjeudoidde sae) 9jewiIss 82IN0say
|eJaul\ 84} Jayiaym pue spiodal uononpoid sujw Jo/pue
sajew}se snoinaud ‘sajewnysa 3oayo Jo Ajjigejiene ay
‘pasn siojoweled pue alemyos Joindwod

JO uonduosap e apn|oul USSOYD SEM POY}oW UOIJeWI}S
pajsisse Jajndwod e | ‘sjulod eep wodj uolejodesxs
JO 9ouelsip wnuwixew pue sig)eweled uoiejodiaiul
‘Buiulewop  ‘sanjen  opelb owalxe JO  Juswiesl)
Buipnjour ‘suondwnsse Aay pue paydde (s)anbiuyos)
uonjewnsa ayj jo ssausjeudoidde pue ainjeu syl

sanbiuyoo}
Bujjepow
pue uonewns3y

‘9oens olydelbodo) ayy
MOJ8g WQOE o yidap e 0} spuaxa Jisodap ay] -uoieoldde ases| Buiuiw

"90IN0SaY |BJoUIp SU} JO SHWI|
Jamo| pue Jaddn sy} 0} 8oeLINS Mojaq yidep pue ‘Yipim
ueld ‘(@smiayio Jo axuys Buoje) yibus| se passaldxa

Jo ases| Buluiw Japun yibus| axys wy gz Alerewixoidde sianod ybisxo4 20IN0S8Y [eJoUlN BY) jJo Ajjigelien pue juaxa 8yl suoisuawiqg
‘ABojoab
JSNQ0J 8¢ 0} PAISPISUOD pue opesb jo yjog Aunupuod Buiposye siope} syl
aJe suoljeloidisiul [ppowW WaLIND 8Y] ‘[opow 8y} pauyal pue pauoddns "UOIJe WSO 80JN0SaY
sey Buiddew pue ainsodxe Buluiw ‘skaains olwsies gz ‘Buyup [yl [etauly Buyjouod pue Buipinb ul ABojosb yo asn ayy
‘uoijeolidnp weas Buisned Bunney 1snay) pue Buipjos yum ‘UOIBWIISS 92IN0SaY |BJBUIl
xajdwod Ajjeinionuis AIaA si eale ay] "}sea ay) 0} Jne} sagelieA ybiajxo4 uo suonejeudieul eAneussle jo ‘Aue ji 8yl Byl
8] pue ‘1sapA Ybisxo4 wouy sulp YbBisxo4 SepIAIp Yolym }Sem sy} 0) ‘apew suondwnsse Aue Jo pue pasn ejep ay} Jo ainjeN
Jney yequiyjar 8y} ‘syney [euoibal ajeas abie| Aq payue)} }sem-ypoujsem ‘JIsodap |elauiw a8y} Jo uonejaidiaiul |eoibojoab uoinejaudisyul
-yHou-ypou ayuis yum aulpuAs buibunid e ur si ysodsp ybisixo4 8yl ay) (Jo Aulepaoun ayj ‘Aj|@SISAU0D JO) Ul 9oUBpHUOD Jea1bojoan)

“YINOS JUNOWS|PPI 0} JBUMO SNoiAaJd By} Wo.y
oles ay) usamiaq suawsabuelse |euolyisued) ayy Buunp papwiad usaq
sey JsIA 9)1s ON "BullN ybisixo4 yym Jejiwey sj uosiad jusjpdwod ay |

"108(04d siy} Jo Yed e se paja|dwod usaq aney SYSIA ]IS ON

"ased ay] sl
siy) Aym 8jeoIpuUl UseLIBPUN USS] 8ARY S]ISIA 8)IS OU J|

"SJISIA 8S0Uj} JO BWODINO 8y} pUE UosIed jusjedwo)
sy} AQ ueyepspun sSuSIA 8)s Aue U0 JUBSWWOD

SHSIA OIS

"aseqejep ayj ojul
papeo| aq Ajjnisssoons ued ejep ay) aiojeq pawiouad ale jey) syosyd
abuel pue uolepIeA JO Jaquinu B Suleljuod os|e aseqelep gds 8yl
‘aseqejep g9 8y} ojul papeoj si elep pajepliea AuQ

‘se|dwies snosuo.Id 10 SIal|IN0 Ayjuspl 0} sisAjeue |eonsiels

eIn aseqelep ay) ojul Buipeo] o) Joud pue a)s je pajepleA SI ejeq
"aseqelepggo adeosaully S,ggy Uo Ajaindas palols si ejep sjoy

‘pasn sainpaso.d uonepijea ejeq

‘sasodind uoljewiss 82Inosay

|eJaully| JO} &SN S} pue UOI}09||0D [BIjUl S) UdaM}aq
‘s10148 BuiAey Jo uonduosuel ‘sjdwexs Joj ‘Aq paydniiod
usag Jou Sey ejep ley} ainsus O} UsYe} Sainses|y

uonjeuejdxa apod JHOr 7

Aubajul aseqejeq

fieyuswwon

I )

(ruonoas siy1 01 Ajdde osje ‘g uoi1a9s § xipuaddy ul JUBAI|DJ BJaYM pue ‘T uoI1Ids § Xipuaddy ul paisl| ela1l))

$92.1N0S3Y [e1dul] Jo Sunlioday pue uonewnsy €
L[T0C 140day s,3s1830|]099 juapuadapu| - aUIIN y3i1a|xo4



98ed| €6

"8UU0}/WOq :G| JO JO-IND (JEDIPSA) O1jed USPINGIBAQ
"PapN|oXa SI [BOD papnJju|
(pB) %0% JO }JO-IND yse mel wnuwixepy
‘pash alam synejap
9SIMIBYJO ‘SISIXD )| SI9UM paoudIajal S| [poW AlsUap aAijelal nyis Ul ay |
‘sweas
|le Joy ywi Jaddn ay} si sespow om} snid Buusyjeam jo aseg o
‘WIE'0 JO HYO-INO SSBUNDIY} WNWIUINy  ©
:aJom suondwinsse Buluies}suod ay |
“UOI}BLWLIISD 824N0Sal
39U} WOJ} pPapn|oxe 9Jom SWeas Jo seale paulll Ajsnoimald ©
‘ealeaul|y ybisjxo4 ay} Joj |09 Joy sywiad uonelojdxa Jo
sase9| Buiuiw sy} Jo apIsiNo pajodal usaq Jou dABY S82IN0SBY  ©
:aJam pasn sjw| [eaisAyd ay |

‘paidde sisjpweled
Ayenb Jo (s)epeisb yo-jno paydope ay} jo siseq ayl

SululN ssedwooug

. suajowe.ed yo-no

"ejep uoljeJojdxe pue Buiuiw [BoLI0ISIY UO PESE] %G 18 8q 0} pauluIslep
SI Yolym SIseq aJnjsiow njis-ul ue uo psejewnse ale sabeuuo} |V

"JUSJUOD BIN}Siow 8y} Jo
uolleUIWLIBISP JO POYIBW 8y} PuUB ‘8injsiow |einjeu yum
10 siseq AJp e uo pajewnse ale sabeuuo) sy} Jayleypn

. aunjsiop

‘sjppowl [eaibojoab ayy

ojul pajesodiosul osje si ejep Asains Jid ul pue ejep AeAins JlWSIaS Qg
‘sanquye Ayjenb

|EOD puUE [BINJONJIS JO SUOI8S SS010 pue sbunsod ‘sinojuod jo Bujosyd
a3y} Yum siseq aAljela)l ue uo uayeuapun si Buyepow [eoibojoab ay |
‘siseq dnoub

WEeas S|0ym B UO PajolL}sal pue AjUO Swess |eod au} JO 9104918y} ale
S9je WS 92IN0say ‘apelb Aue paubisse jou si ) pue Jnejap Aq pajlepow
S| 9)sem 8y} pue Aluo swesas |eod ay} Jo ale sjgpow |edlbojoab ay]

Aiejuawwo)

‘g|qe|leA. Ji BJep UOIjel|iou0dal JO
asn pue ‘ejep 9|0y ||IJp 0} ejep |apow Jo uosiiedwod ay}
‘pasn ssao0.1d Bupoayd ay) ‘uonepliea jo ssadold ay |
‘buiddeo uo

Bumno epelb Buisn jou Jo Buisn 1oy} siseq JO UoISSNISIg
'S9]EWIISO 921N0SA. 8Y} [04JU0D O} pasn

sem uolejaidiayul |eaibojoab ayy moy jo uonduosaq
'S9|qelIeA UBaMIaq UoIle|a1109 Jnoge suondwnsse Auy
‘'syun

Buluiw aAog|as Jo Bulepow puiyaq suondwnsse Auy
‘pakojdws yoiess

ay} pue Buioeds sjdwes abesane sy} 0} uole|ds ul
92IS }20[g 8y} ‘uoljejodiaiul [epoW ¥20|q JO 8SEeD 3y} U|
‘(uonesuayoeleyd abeulep auiw

pioe 1oy Jnydins ‘6-8) aoueoiubis JlWOU0d JO Sa|gelLeA
apeJBb-uou Jayjo IO SJUBWSIS SNOLB)BIdP JO uoljewnsy

uonjeue|dxa apod DHOr

eLajD

/LT0C 140day s,13s180|]099 juapuadapul] - aUIlIN Yy3i1a|x04



°28¢ed|ve

SululN ssedwooug

(pe) yse %0°g g1s8osld

(Pe) use %0°Z1-%0"0L d9jelL

(Pe) use %G°8-%8°9 JUNOWaIPPIA
(pe) use %00L-%0'g Jodoy  ©

:aJe syabue) 1onpoud ybisxo4 ay) Apuaiin)

'|0Jju02

O 0o

pue Buniojuow Aaains pue suoloadsul [ensia )id Ul ‘sjppow |eolbojoab
wJey Moys wol padojoasp ale sueld uonoelxe esayl |oJjuod apelb
abeuew AjaAjoayse 0] suejd uoioelxa pajie}ap asl|iin [Im sadioeld Bululp

‘poyrdw Buiuiw

1no uado [9A0YS pUEB %ONnJ) [BUOIIUSAUOD S| poyjew Buluiw pawnsse ay |

‘oS

aull\ ybiaxo4 a8y} 1 pasn se (Jejiwis Jo) awdinba a)s uo jualnd a8y}
Buisn Bujuiw sswnsse ajewlsy 99IN0SaY [BJaUI\ SIU} Jo Juswdojansq

‘apew suondwnsse Buiuiw ayy
10 siseq 8y} Jo uonjeue|dxs ue ypm pauodal aq pjnoys
SIy} ‘@sed ay} s Sy} alaypa ‘snotobll aq sAemje jou
Aew saoinosay |essulpy Buijewnse usym siopweled
pue spoyew bBuuiw Bupiebos spew suonduwnsse
ayy Ing ‘spoyidow Buuiw |epusjod  ISpISUOD O}
UOIJOBIIXS OILWIOUOJS [BNJUSAS J0o} s}oadsold s|qeuoseal
Buluiwislep Jo ssaooud ay; Jo ped se Aiessadsu
sheme s ) -uonnjp bBuiuw (eulexs ‘s|qeodde
J ‘Jo) |eussjul pue suoisuswip Buuiw  wnwiuiw
‘spoyjow Buiuiw s|qissod Buipsebal spew suonduwnssy

suondwnsse
4o sJojoey Buuipy

5

/LT0C 140day s,13s180|]099 juapuadapul] - aUIlIN Yy3i1a|x04



Aiejuawwo)

uonjeue|dxa apod DHOr

°28ed|se6 SululN ssedwooug
8IMsIopy njis uj = NS|
pe) ainjsioyy jusiayul = peyy
(pe) Ausuaq onney = peay
aseyMm
‘s|ella}ew JuaJauip ayj o ssad0.d uoljenjeas ay}
WsI - (PeW -WST) XPeay +00L Ul pasn sajewl}sa Aysuap yng Joj suondwnsse ssnosiq e
‘JIsodap 8y} UIY}IM SBUOZ UO[BJIB)e PUB %004 USaM]aq
(e =00 T XoeaT saoualayp pue aJnisiow ‘(030 ‘Ausosod ‘sbna) saoeds
pIOA 10} Juno22e Ajajenbape jey) spoyow Aq painsesw
‘uoljenba sispueg usaq oABY JSNW |eldlew YNq Joj Aususp )ng 8yl e
pue uojseld 8y} Buisn paujwisjep sem Aysusp aAjeps nys-ul 8yl ‘so|dwes ay} Jo SssuaAljejuasaldal pue azis ‘ainjeu sy}
‘"%G'p JO ‘sjuswiainseaw ay} jo Aouanbaly ay) ‘Aup Jo Jam Jayiaym
siseq aJnjsiow NYs Ul ue Je payodal usaq aABY S82IN0SaY |eJaully 8yl ‘pasn poyjaw 8y} ‘paulwsiep J| ‘suondwnsse ay} Joy
‘(pe) pauodad Aysuap aAlje|al aaey sajoy ||1pP IV SISeq 8y} ‘POWNSSE J| "PaUILLIB}SP JO PAWNSSE JAYIBYAN  © Ayisuap yng
‘9pew suondwnsse [ejJuswuolAuD
9y} jJo uoneuedxe ue ypm pspodas 8q pnNoys
SIY} paJapISuoD Usa(g Jou aAey s)oadse asay) aJoypn
‘papodal aq pjnoys spedwi |BluswuolAUS |enualod
9S8y} JO UOIJBIaPISUOD AlJEd JO SNJe)S By ‘PaduBApe |[oM
aqg sAemje jou Aew ‘pafoid spiayuaalb e Jo) Aluenoied
‘soedwi  |eljusWIUOIAUS |ejudlod  JO  UOBUILLIBIEP
ay}; obejs syl e 9IYA\ uoneledo  Buisseooud
"80IN0SaY [RJBUI 8y} UO Joedwi PiNOMm jey} pajoadxe ale senssi ON pue Buiuiw 8y} jo sjoedwi [ejuswuUOIIAUS |euajod By
“aulN yb1ajxo4 e sjuswjwwod Ajunwwod JBPISUOD O} UOIJOBIIXS JJWIOUOIS |BNJUSAS Jo} s}oadsold
pUB |BJUSWUOIIAUS By} JO diysisaumo aye} p1] Ald Yinos junows|ppiin a|qeuoseas Buluiwisep jo sseoold 8y} jo ped se suonpdwnsse
'ssa00.d |enosdde abejuay pue |ejuswuolIAUD Aiessaoau shemje si}| ‘suoljdo |esodsip anpisas ssaooid o s.J0}oej
AAISUSX® Uue pey siaumo snoinaud By} 910z Jequeydag |iun dn pue ajsem ajqissod bBuipiebas spew suondwnssy e Jejuswiuodinug
‘apew suondwnsse [eaibin|jelaw
8y} Jo siseq 8y} jo uojeugdxa ue ypm pauodal aq
pinoys siy} ‘aseod au} Si Siy) 818y 'snosobis aq sheme
jou Aew saounosay [essuly Buiodas usym spew
sio)oweled pue sesseooid juswiess) |edlbinjelow
Buipsebal suondwnsse ay} Ing ‘spoylew |ealbinjelow
|jenuajod JBPISUCD 0} UOIOBJIXS OILIOUOID [ENJUBAD
"|leod ybiajxo4 Jo} syadsold ajqeuoseas Buluiwisap Jo ssadoud ayj Jo
ay} jo PBuisseooud ayy Joj sigeoydde aqg |m sassad0.d UOIIEINDD0) 1ed se Alessaoau sAemje si )| ‘Ajjiqeuswe [eaibinjelaw suondwnsse Jo
sauly pue (so1em/epjeubew) uoneledss Ajsusp JO uOljEUIqWOD Y Buipsebas suonoipaid Jo suondwnsse Joj siseq ayl s.Jojoey [eaibinjiejo

eLajD

/LT0C 140day s,13s180|]099 juapuadapul] - aUIlIN Yy3i1a|x04



28ed]|96 SululN ssedwooug

‘uasenapun
usagq aABY S82IN0SdY QL0Z 9U} JO SMaIABI IO S)ipne [Bulajxd ON e
'SOAI9SaY PUB $82IN0say mau Bunewnss oy Joud
s)ipne [apowl |e2160j0ab [eusaixa Jejnbal yoollepun SJBUMO Snolnaid ay| e
‘weas ay} Buijoasiajul 8|0y paJod }SOWIaIN0
oy} Jsed sasjow Q0Z‘L UBY} SJOW JOU NG SaljBW QQF‘Z — SoUSPKUOD
MO ‘saJlaw 00Z‘]L — 9oUSPRUOD SJBISPOI ‘SaljdwW QN9 — S2UBPLUOD
ybiH :a4om Ayienp Joj suobAjod aousnjjul Joy pasn sywi| Buioeds sjoy UQ e
‘weas ay) bunosasiayul sjoy uado jsowlsino
ay) jsed sasjdw QO UeY} SJow Jou JNg Saljdw Q08 — S2USPYUOD
MOT {s8J}dW QO — SBAUSPLUOD SJIBPOIA ‘S8ljPW 00Z — dd2uapiuo) ybiH
:2Jom ainjonu)g Joy suobAjod souanjjur Joy pasn spwi Bupeds sjoy |Ug e
“}Isodap 8y} JO SJUIBIISUOD UOIe WSS
sy} pue pajaidiol sjosuod  |edlbojosb 8y} S}o8|jel  UONEDlSSE|D
90IN0S9Y |eJaull\ Palels 8y} jey) paysiies sl uosiod jusedwod ayl e
‘ajew}sa abeuuo) 821n0sal 8y} SPIAIPGNS 0} Pash aJe YoIYm paliaju| pue
pajedlpu| ‘painses|y Jo seale |euly 8onpold 0} paulquiod ale sjojd asay}
pue (weas yoea Joj Ayjenb |Boo pue ainjonyis) sjoid asusanjul Jo liped
asay} wouy paonpold ale (Ybiy pue s|qeuoseal ‘Mo|) S0USPIUOD JO Sealy e
‘Sweas ‘JIsodap ay} JO M3IA S,UOSIod

‘sojewnss

90IN0S9Y [BJBUI JO SMBIABI JO spne Aue Jo s)nsalay] e SMdJABU 1O S}pNY

Jo} Ayjenb |eoo pue ainjonuis ul AjjigelleA paaIasqo pue panieosad ay}
Aq paulwelep alem asuanjjul Jo lIped 8y "ainjonJis pue Ayenb oy syuiod
BJEP UOIIBAISSCQ JO SJUI0d Y} punoJe pajold uay} aie asusnjul Jo lipey
*Aunuiuod Joddns Jo (Yioq Jo) Aynuiuod
Ayrenb pue ainjonis asuobajed 0} pasn ade uolleAlssqo Jo syulod sy
‘UoilewWIISS Ul anjeA pue Ayjigelal Jisy) o) Buiploooe (god) uoneAaiasqo
Jo sjiod Buisiiin Jo sseooud pasipiepuels B uo paseq S| salobaled
20U8pIU0D BulAlen Ojul S82JN0SaY [BJOUIl\ BU} JO UONEDINSSEe|D 8yl

Aiejuawwo)

wejadwo) ay) sjo9)e. Ajgjedoidde ynsal ayy Jayivypa
"(eyep ay} jo uonnquisip pue Ayjuenb ‘Ayjenb

‘sanjen |ew pue ABojoab Jo Ajnuiuod ul 8doUBpPHUOD
‘elep ndur jo Ayigelal ‘suonjewnse spelbebeuuocy
Ul S0USPIUOD  BAE[RS  'B'l)  SI0YOB)  JUBASIBI
|le Jo uaye} usag sey junoooe ojeldosdde JsylEypA
‘sal10691e0 9ousplUOD BulAiea ojul

$904N0SaY |BJBUIA Y} JO UOIBIINSSElD 8y} o} siseq ay |

uonjeue|dxa apod DHOr

uopesyisse[n

eLajD

/LT0C 140day s,13s180|]099 juapuadapul] - aUIlIN Yy3i1a|x04



°28ed| Le

‘uosiad jusjedwo) ay} Aq pajdaeosoe usaq sey

8JewWi}Se UOBWSe 80IN0Say [BJSUIlN 8y} JO 80USpluU0d pue Aoeinooy

‘paulw Buiaq

ale yoiym sysodsp Jayjo je pajdde asoyl yum juslsisuod ale ysodsp
ybiaxo4 8y} 40} pasn sanbiuyss) uoljeWIIST PUB 92IN0SSY [BJBUIN YL

‘g|qe|ieAe alaym ‘ejep

uononposd yum paledwod 8q pinoys sjewyss syl Jo
90oUapUOD pue AoBINDOE BAlJEJDJ JO SJUBWISIR)S 89Sy |

‘pasn sainpasoJd ay) pue spew suoidwnsse

apnjoul pjNOYS UOIIBJUSWND0J "UOI}BN|EAS OJWOU0Id
pue [eojuyos) 0} JUBASISI 8Q PINOYS Yoiym ‘sabeuuoy
JueAsjas 8y} djels ‘|edoo| i ‘pue ‘sajewl}se [Boo| IO
|eqo|b 0} sejeje. )l Jaylaym Aloads pinoys Juswajels ay |
‘ajewnsa

8y} JO 80UBpIUOD pue AOBINDOE BAIJE[a) BY]) JodLe PINod
Jey) sJ0joe} 8y} JO uoIsSnosIp aAielenb e ‘ejeudoidde
pawaap jou st yoeoidde ue yons Ji 140 ‘SHwWI| SOUBPLUOD
pajels ulyum 9oinosas a8y} Jo Aoeundde  aAjejal
ay} Ayuenb o0y sainpadcold |eansie}soab Jo |eonsiels
Jo uoneondde ay; ‘sj|dwexs Jo4 "uoslad juslpdwod ay}
Aq s1eudoidde pswaap ainpasoud Jo yoeoidde ue Buisn
9]BWISd 92IN0SAY |BJBUIN B} Ul [9AS] 9oUBPIIUOD pue
Aoeinooe aAljejal 8y} Jo Juawale)s e ajelidosdde asoypn

SululN ssedwooug

9ouaplyuod
JA2einaoe aAnejal
Jo uoissnasiqg

5

LT0C 140day s,13s180|]099 juapuadapu]

- QUIN yS8i1a|xo4



298ed| g6

Suluiry ssedwodoug3

‘e 9)ewW}sa S|y} Ul pasi|in spoydw Bujuiw

OM} 8] "aJnjeu siy} jJo [eod joelxd 0} ajeldosdde ase spoyjew asay |
"auI Ubis|xo4 8y} ye pakojdwa aie spoyjaw Bujuiw JojeAeoxa pue 3ont |
"uoljeoo] Bululw yoes woJj paulejuiew

8Qq Ued MOJYsed aAlIsod ainsus 0} UOollen|eAd OIWOU0Dd PajNpayos
pue abeuuo) anlesay oy} ajewnse 0} sJojoe) BuiAypow ojendosdde
Jo uoneondde ‘ywi 1d d1woU0os BY) apisul Aewoab Buiuiw jeojoeld e
ainsua 0} ubisap auiw ‘eale Jobie) aujwielap o} uonesiwido yd ‘pajealpu)
IO paINses|\ JO UOIIOIISSED 82In0say djeldoidde ‘apnjoul aniasay
B 0} POHSAUOD 9Q UBD 92IN0SaY B Ji dUIWIS}ep 0} pasi|iin euajud ayl

"0}o ‘sseooe

‘duys-aud se yons sanssi ubisap pajeroosse Buipnjoul
siopweled Buuw Jayjo pue (s)poylew Buuiw
pajo9|as ay} Jo ssausjeldoidde pue ainjeu ‘ao10yd ay |
‘(ubisap pajiejep Jo Ateuiwigid

Aq Jo uopesiwndo Aq siojoey ajeudoidde jo uoneodde
Ag Jayye "o'1) OAISSY 810 UE 0} 90IN0SdY |elsull
8y} weauoo o} Apnig Aungisead Jo Ayjiqisesd-aid
ay} ul payodal se pasn suonidwnsse pue poylew ay |

suondwnsse
Jo siopoey Buiuipy

"S8AI9SaY 8U] JO SOILIOUODID BUj) 8)epl|eA O}

3080 PUODBS B SE S| Pasi|iin S| MO|JYSED 8iNPayods 8y "MOJJYySED [enuue
auIWLIB)ep 0] |00] SISA|EUB |BIDUBLIL B Ul Pa)BN|eAS SI 8|NPayYds sull 8y |
"an|eA aAlasay 8y 0}

aJNQIIU09 0} pajoadxa SI BUUO) PaPN|OUI Yoea Jey) sueaw Sy} ‘Jiwi| 4o Ind ‘paidde
21WouU 093 ue Buisi|iin pajeald usaq sey aull\ ybiajxo4 Joy ubisap duls ay | sie)oweled Ayjenb Jo (s)apelb Jo-nd ayy Jo siseq ay | siajoweled yo-ino
‘paJapisuod

‘'seale Buluiw Bunsixe ayy ypm
JUS)SISUOD aJe Sseale uolsuedxa spjaluMoIq Ul pasijiin S103oe) BulAipoly
"aulw [eod no uado Bunelado ue si sulpy ybiaxo4

usag oAey siojoed BulAypoly |euslew jeyr pue
‘g|geIn Ajjeaiwiouods pue ajgeAsiyoe Ajjeoluyosy si jeyy
ueld sulW B pauIWISep SABY [[IM pUE N0 paLLIEd usaqg
aABY ||IM S8IpN)S UYONS 'SBAISSSY 810 O} S82In0say
|eJsulN HOAUOD 0] udMelspun usaq sey [9A9] Apnis
AJligisead-a.1d 1se9) Je 0} Apnjs e jey} saunbal apod ay |

"S9AIBSAY 810 0} PAUBAUOD 8 O} S92IN0SAY |eJaul
a|geus 0} uayeuspun Apnis Jo [9Ag] pue adAl eyl

snjejs Apms

"YINOS JUNOWS|PPIA 0} SIOUMO snolaald 8y} Wo.y
sles ay} usamiaq sjuswabuelle |euolyisuel} sy} Buunp payiwiad usaq
sey JISIA a)Is ON ‘eully ybiaxo4 yum Jeliwey si uosiad jusjedwod sy

109f0.d sy} Jo Jed e se pajo|dwod usaq aAeY SYSIA ]IS ON

"ased ay] sI
sIy) Aym a1e0IpUl USNEUSapUN U] 8ABY S)ISIA B)IS OU J|

"S)ISIA 8S0Uj} JO SWO2IN0 8y} puUB Uuosied Jusjedwo)
sy} AQ ueyeuepun SUSIA 8)is Aue U0 JUBSWWOD

SHSIA o)S

WNOZ :padiaju]  ©
JN6C -p8jedlpul o
WNE'ES :painses|y ©
‘8. $90IN0saYy [e0) 8y
"9]eUI}SS 9AISSDY |BOD) B} JO SAISN|OUI S| 9]EWIISS 924N0SY [BOD 8y L
“suI\ ybis|xo4
IO} 9leWI}Se aAIaSaY |B0D 0] S82IN0SaY [BOD WOJ4 UOISISAUOD 8y} 10}
SISeq 8y} se pasn usaq sey Syl ‘uosiad Juaedwo) ay} se ssed UOPUAT]
Aq yo paubis pue p17 Ald Buluy ssedwooug Aq pasedsaid sem (910
1890100 15 L€ PBIEQ) SUII YBISIX0 10} S} WSS 80IN0SBY [BOD OHOI 8YL

'SaAIBSaY
210 8y} ‘Jo 8AISN|ouUl IO ‘O} |euoippe psuodas aie
$80IN0S8Y [BJBUIAl 8} JBUIBUM O} SE Juswalels Jes|)

"9AJBS8Y 810 UB 0} UOISIBAUOD 8} IO} SISEq
B Se pasn 8)eWI)Ss 80In0Say |eJaully ay) Jo uonduosag

uonjeuejdxa apod JHOr 7

soAlasay
@l0 0} UOISIdAUOD
Joy ojewnso

204nosoy [esaulp

fieyuswwon

I )

("uor323s siyy 01 Ajdde osje ‘€ pue g SuoI329S G Xipuaddy Ul JUBAS[DJ DJ9YM pue ‘T UO[1I3S § XIpuaddy ul paisl| elaMI))

S9AIISIY 31( Jo Sunioday pue uonewnsy ¥
L[T0C 140day s,3s1830|]099 juapuadapu| - aUIIN y3i1a|xo4



28ed| 66

SululN ssedwooug

‘Jonpoud [eod

|eaibunjiejsw uonoslu| oD pasiaaind a|buis e saonpoud auipy ybiaxo4
‘aul ybiexo4 1e jonpoud

pJepue}s ay} 0} Joeq papus|q aJe swess |eo? ||e pue pjalA 1onpoud ||eJano
ay} aziwixew o} ABojoab wess |e0o a8y} uo paseq pajedionue ale syjuiod
10 9|qeue A 1onpoud s|buis e Buonpoud jue|d abeys sjbuis e sl ddHD ayl
‘9ouBewWIoNad [BOLIO]SIY S) puB ddHD 8y} JO suoiejw|

ubisep ay) ulyum ale pasodoid sabueyo |ealbinjelow ay| ‘swess
|eod 196.e) 8y} Buissaooud jo ajgeded st ddHD aul ybisjxo4 Bunsixa ay |

"8|oym e se Apogalo ay} Jo aAilejuasaldal

palapisuod ale ssidwes yons yoiym o} asibap ay) pue
»Iom 188} 9jeos jojid Jo ajdwes yng Aue Jo aous]sixa ay |
ESUETNET]

snola}sjep Joj apew saosuemoje Jo suondwnsse Auy
‘palidde siojoey Alanodal |ealbinjiejow

Buipuodsa.ioo ay} pue pajdde Buiuiewop |eaibinjelow
8} JO ainjeu ay} ‘usyeuapun yiom }1sd) |eolbin|elaw
JO ssousnjejussaidal pue junowe ‘ainjeu 8yl
"aJnjeu ul |aAou Jo ABojouyos)

paisal-lom si ssaooud |eodlbinjelow 8y} Jayjeypa
‘uoljesijelauiw

Jo 9A)1s a8y} o) ssaooud ey} jo sseusjeudoidde
ay}; pue peasodoisd ssaooid |edibunjelow 8y

suondwnsse 1o
s.1o0)oey [eaibinjieyap

"8injny ajelpawiwll 8y}
ul uejd sulw sy} poddns 0} sabueyd ou sauinbai pue uoielado Bunsixa
2y} 82IAI8s 0} ajenbape s aully ybiejxo4 e aoejd ul ainjonuiselul ay |
‘aulw
3y} JO aJ) paINpPayds ay} Jnoybnouy) usas ale asay| "pallaju| O} Suozioy
asay} Jo apelBumop ay} o} anquiuod Ajewud abelanod sjoyaloq Ayjenb
|eod |eaibojoab ul sdes) ‘ybiajxo4 je pauiw Aj|eolloisiy usag aAeY SWeas
9S8y} SE 9jewl}sa dIWOU0Id 8y} Ul PasI|iin dJe S82JN0SaY |0 palldju]|
‘poyiaw Buluiw paseq uoneoso] buiuiw pue Aswosb wess
|EOD UO paseq WQQ| pue w9 usamiaq abues Syipim 300|q [BOD pJepuels
‘J00J} |BOD |BSBQ BU} UO WQf SI paJapisuod yipim Buiuiw wnwiuipy

%06 -yse uopnjiq  ©
cwyp z'z “Aususp uonnig
%8 ‘uoin|ig wesg [0 J8Yj0
%9 :SSO7 Weag [eo) JaYl0
%8 ‘uohnjig wesgs junows|ppi
%7 1SS0 Weas JUnowa|ppIN
:2Je pasn sJ0Joe} UOIN|IJ pUe SSOT
uonealoads yipim Alauiyoew wnwiuiw ayy Aq paiinbal yipim ssaooe Auy
Ajpwoab weas oyoads Ag padinbal sjbue jo Buliemol Auy

(esodau jo s|bue) |lemmo| 9aibap J§ ©

(jeusiew pasayjeam Jo pajney) |lemyos aalbsp G ©

(jeusyew

palayjeamun ‘pa)nejun) wQ/ OAoge |emyos dalbep Gy ©

(leusyew palayjeamun ‘pajnejun) wo/ 0y dn jlemybiy eaibepgg ©
:aJe ubisap ul pasn siajauieied |BOIUYID)095)

(Jourw) Jojeaeoxs pue Jazop ‘}se) O

(Jofew) Buiuiw aoe1IB) JOJBABIXD pUB YoNnJ] O

O 0 O OO0

‘spoyjow
Buuiw pajos|as ay) Jo suswalinbal ainjonJjseljul ay |
‘uoIsn|oul JIay} 0} SWOJIN0

ay} jo AyAlisuas ayj pue saipnis Buiuiw ul pasiin
ale $90In0Say [BJBUI PaLidju] YdIym ul Jauuew ay |
‘pasn syjpim Buiuiw wnwiuiw Auy

‘pasn siojoey) Alonodaa Bujuiw ay |

"pasn siojoey} uonn|ip Buluiw ay |

‘(s1eudoidde

J) uopesiwndo adojs pue yud 1oy} pasn |opow
90In0say |essully pue apew suoiduwnsse Jofew ay]
*Buijjup uononpoud-aid pue [013U0D

apelb ‘(0)0 ‘sazis adojs ‘sadojs yd ‘6°8) sieweled
|eoluyosjoab  Buipsebals spew  suondwnsse 8y

Aiejuawwo)

uojjeuejdxa apod DO
LT0C 140day s,13s180|]099 juapuadapu]

eLajD

- dUIN YyS81a|xo4



238¢ed| 00T SululN ssedwooug
'S}SE0910)
9say} Joj SISeq 8y} pue S}Sedalo) SWN|OA pue d8dld e
‘Jonpoud 8y} Joj SMOpUIM 1oy ewW Ayl JO uoljedluap!
ay} yum Buoje sisAjeue Joyadwod pue JOWOISND Y e
‘1onpoud sy} Jo ajes ay} 0} sysi Aue bejy *aJnjny ay} ojul puewsp pue Alddns joaye o) Ajay)
J0U saop ajyoid paonpal Siy] JBUMO snoinaid 8y} wody [spow Buijelado sJojoe} pue spuaJ} uondwnsuod ‘Aypowwod Jenoied
a8y} uey) Jemo| sI ajewisa sy} ul aold uononpoud payslosd syl a8y} Joj uonenys Xools pue Addns ‘puewsp oyl e jJuswissasse jayiep
‘'910Z 4990100 JO JUBWIBJE]S DAIaSDY
20D 910g 9y} Jo} paje|dwod uolienjeAd |eldueuly Ul pamalnal Buioud "sjonpoud-09 pue
SNSUSUOD 19301 JO abuels 8y} Ypum JudlsISUoD S| pue SsaAlejuasaldal sjesauiw ‘sielow [ediouud ayy Joj ‘(s)aoud Aypowwiod
aullN yblexo4 Aq uypm peasbe useq aney oabueyoxs pue d2lid JO [elow Jjo spew suoidwnsse JO UOIBAISP 8yl e
'JSed8404 SUIN "0} ‘suinjal Jojlaws Jau ‘saljeuad ‘sabieyod Juswiesl)
ybiajxo4 ay} Joj pawinsse usag sey ASN:ANY 220 J0 ajes abueyoxs uy pue uoilepodsuel; ‘sajes abueyoxa (s)aoud Aypowwiod
yseoa4o} aul ybiajxo4 Jo [eldw ‘epelb peay bBuipnjoul sioe} BNUSBA3BI
8y} J0j pawnsse usaq sey [eod |Dd Joj 9oud syewysuag yyASN08$ Uy Buipsebas epew suopdwnsse JO ‘JO UOCIIBALBD 8yl e $10)oB) BNUBASY
‘a}enidd pue JUsWUIBN0S
yloq ‘sjgeAed seijeAol o} spew SaJuBMO|lE BYy| e
"Jonpo.d|eod ayj Joj pajedionue 1o apew aJe saouemoje Ajeuad oN "0J9 ‘uoljeoljioads
"auuo} Jad anuaaal sajes uo paseq s|qelAed Jaw 0} aunjey Joj sepjeusd ‘sebieyo  Buiuyel
saljjeAol Joj ejNwWIO) Q1O 8y} Uo paseq paje|nojed usag aAey saljehoy pue juswjeal) Jo 80N0S IO Buiseoslo} Joj siseq Byl e
"Jodal s1y} Ul papn|oul Jou aJe pue 82Usplu0d "sofieyo uonepodsues Jo uojeAleg e
Ul |elIoJBWWOD palapIsucd aJe S)sod ouwadg uonesado ybigxo4 ‘Apnis 8y} ul pasn sojel sbueyoxd JO 80IN0S By e
JUSLIND 8y} UM JUS)ISISUOD S}S00 AJAIIOR JO S)S00 ssaoo.d palapus) ‘sjuswigld
Jayle uo paseq Jaumo ay} Agq papinosd usaq aaey s3sod BuiesadO SNOLBJIEP JO JUSJUOD 8y} JO} OpEew SaoUBMO|Y e
‘sajewnss [eyde) aya.10sIp 's}s00 Bupesado ajewnyse o) pasn ABojopoylowi ay] e
1oeae sjosfold aioadg "ainypuadxa d)Is |EDOISIY YIM JUSISISUOD S| Jey) *Apnjs ayj ul s}soo |eydeo pajoaloid
auuo} [eo) Jad aouemojie ue Buisijiin pajewiise usaq aAey s1so) lexded Buipsebas ‘epew suoidwnsse JO ‘JO UOBBAIBP Byl e sJso)
‘passadoe 10 ‘papiroid
8Q UBD aInjonJiseljul 8y} Yolym Yim ases ayy o
JO ‘UoepoWWO92. ‘IN0ge| ‘(Salpowwod yng
Jo} Auejnoiued) uoljeuodsues ‘ieyem ‘Jamod
‘suoljesado quawdojonap jueld Joy pue| jo Ajjigejeae o
Buluiw  8nupuod 0} aJnnusesnur djeudosdde sey suly  ybioxo4 :alnjonyjselyul 9jedoidde Jo aoud)sixa 8yl e ainjonuysejuf
‘pauodal aq pjnoys sdwnp ajsem pue abeio}s
anpisaJ ssad04d Joy sjeroldde jo snjels ayy ‘sjgeoldde
aloym ‘pue paltapisuod suoido ubisap jJo sniels ‘sa)s
‘spioa)d Bunsixa [|1poeq 0} seijunuoddo uoljey|igeyal sienjeAs Jayuny |enuajod JO UOIBIBPISUOD BY} puUe Uoljeslia}oeIeyd o0l
0] paJinbal a1e salpnys jeuonippe ‘Jaul AjjeaidA} st 8YIs SIy} UO Y001 31SEAA a)sem Jo sjie}oq ‘uoljesado Buissaooud pue Buluiw ayj jo
‘9]ewnsa aAIasay ay) Buniwi| sjuswipadwi [BJUSWUOIIAUS OU dJe dJay | sjoedwl [BJUSWIUOJIAUS [eluUa}od JO Salpnis jo snjeisay] e JepuswiuodIAUg
¢, suoneoyoads ay) 198w 0} Abojesauiwl
ajeudoidde sy} uo paseq USaQ UOIBUIISD SAISSDI 310
8y} sey ‘uoneoyioads e Aq pauljep aJe jey) sjeJauiw o4 e

Aiejuawwo)

uoyeue|dxs 3pod JUOr B3O

/LT0C 140day s,13s180|]099 juapuadapul] - aUIlIN Yy3i1a|x04



28ed] 10T

SululN ssedwooug

's9jewi}se
"USeNapUN USa(Q SABY BAISSSY 910Z 8U) JO SMBIAS JO S)ipne |BuUIoIXS ON BAIBSDY 8I0 JO SMaIABI JO S)ipne Aue JO S)nsal ay] e SMB3IAB 10 S}PNY
‘(Aue
J) S90IN0SaY [eJsulpN PaInSesy WOy PaALSp ussq
JIsodap ay) JO MaIA SUOSIad Jusjedwo) ay) S}oajyel aWooINo SIy aABY Jey) SeAIasay aIQ d|qeqold jo uopiodoid ay) e
'SOAI9SAY 9|geqoid 0} PalJaAu0d usaq ‘JIsodap 8y} JO MaIA S,uosiod
9ABY JlWi| O1WOU0S pue ueld aulw 8y} SpISUl S82IN0SaY pajedlpu| ||V wejadwo) ay) sjo9)yel Ajgjedoidde ynsal sy} JaYyeyp @
"'SOAI9SOY PaA0.d 0} PALIBAUOD Uda(q ‘sali0ba1e0 aouspluod Hulkiea
9ABY Jlwi| J1WOou0ds pue ueid suiw 8y} SPISUl S82IN0SY PaINSes|\ ||V 0JUl SOAISSDY 910 SU} JO UOIJEJISSEID By} JO) SISEq 8y o uoneayisse|d
Juabunuoo
S| 9AJ8sal 8y} Jo uonoesxa yoiym uo Aued
pJIy} e uo Juspuadap S| Jey} Jojiew paAjosalun
Aue jo Ayjeusjew ay} ssnosip pue ybiybiH
ag |m sjerosdde juswusonos) Alessaosu
|le 1ey} 10adxa 03 spunolb sjqeuoseal aq jsnw
alay] ‘sjeaoidde Alojnjeis pue juswulanob
pue ‘snjels juaweus} |elsulwl SE  yons
“108loud ay} jo Ayjigein ayy 01 oo sjeaosdde
"BUIN YBIBIX0- Je SeAI8SI BUj} JO UOIIBDIYISSED pue sjuswsaibe |ejuswuianob jo snjejs ayy o
pue uonjewnsa ay) uo Bunoedwi jey} seNsS| JueAs|9S Ou dle aIdy] ‘sjuswabuelle Buneyiew
"paiinba.aq sawi) [erosdde jeuonippe pue sjuswaaibe |ebs| |eusiew Jo snjejs ay] ©
pinoys uonnysgns Joj sases| Bujuiw uo s|gejlere seale ale alay] "SYSl
‘ases| Buiuiw e 0} 6E | L Dd3 dY} JO UOISISAUOD 8y} salinbal sy} se 20z ul Bulunooo  Ajjednjeu |euslew pauiuspl Auy o
aull-uo ybnoiqg aq |Im eale di| siebBeq ayj jey} sl MO| PaIapISuod s} MO[8Q SBAISSaY 910
"$€0g Ul sajep uoljelidxa 9U} JO UOIIBDIYISSE|D PUE UOIJBWI}SS 8y} Uo Jo/pue josfoid
8y} WoJy papualxe aq ||m ainua} Bunsixa jey} a|qeuoseal paiapisuod si j| oy} uo Buimoj|o} 8y} Jo 10edwi BY) ‘JUBAS|I JUSIXO Y} O] e 19y)0
‘ajesado 0} sybu Buluipy ysigelss pue ysodsp
BUl Ul Seale MaU JO UOljen|eAs JuswisaAul pue |edibojoab 8)s|dwod ‘9)elado 0} 90UB9| [el100s 0} Buipes)| sieyew
0} pamojle usaq sey awi} Juang ‘uoljesado ul Ajusind s| sulw Y| pue siapjoysels Aoy yum sjuswsalbe jo snjeys syl e [e1o0s
‘syndul pue suondwnsse juediubis
8yl ul suoljeueAn o} Apalysues pue sabues AN e
% :@lel uoneju;  © "0} ‘@jel JUNOJSIP ‘Uol1e|jul pajewlsa
%/ :@9Jel unoosiq  © Buipnjour  sindul  OJWOUODS  8S8Y} JO  BOUBPLUOD
:ale paulejuod suondwnsse pue a@ainos ay} ‘Apnis ayj} ur (AdJN) @njea jussaud
ay] °|oo} sisAjeue |ejoueuly e Buisijiin passasse usaq sey ued suiw ay | Jou 8y} 8onpoJd 0} sisAjeue olwoU0dd 8y} 0} sindu sy e ojwouody
"JoBJUOD
Aiddns e 0} Joud syuswaiinbal aoueydeooe pue Bunssl
‘uoijeolioads  JawoisnNd 8y} S|eJaulwl  |elysnpul JOH e

Aiejuawwo)

uoyeue|dxs 3pod JUOr B3O

/LT0C 140day s,13s180|]099 juapuadapul] - aUIlIN Yy3i1a|x04



28ed]| ot

SululN ssedwooug

*8|Ce[IBAB UOIJe IO }SB0810) 8|qeiedwod

8y} yum aul ul ate pasiin suondwnssy -uonelsado ayy o} Ajunpoddo
pue ysu jo oaibep e juasaidal ojes abueyoxa ubleloy pue a2lid

Arejuswwo)

‘g|qejieAe alaym ‘ejep uoponpoud yym pasedwod aq
pINoYs ajewiise ay} Jo 90UapLU0D pue AoeINdoe SAlje[al
JO sjuawalels asay] "SaduUelswnaD ||e ul ajeudoidde
J0 g|qissod aq jou Aew sy} leyy pasiubooals si
‘abe}s Apnis Juaiind ayj je Ajurepsosun

Jo seale Buiuiewsl ale alay) yolym Joj Jo ‘Ajjigeln
aAI9sdy 8I0Q Uuo Joedwi |eusjew e aaey Aew jey}
slojoe4 BuiAppopy paldde Aue jo suoissnosip oyoads
0} PUSIXd PINOYS SUOISSNISIP 80USPIIUOD pue AoBINdoY
‘pasn sainpasold ay) pue spew suoiduwnsse

8pN|ouUl P|NOYS UOIBJUSWNO0J "UOIIEN|EAS OIWIOUODD
pue |eoluyos} 0} JueAgdl 8q pinoys yoiym ‘sabeuuoy
jueAas|al 8y} ojejs ‘|eoo| Ji ‘pue ‘sejewnss |edo| JIo
|eqolb 03 sajejal )l Joayjeym Ayoads pjnoys juswalels ay |
‘ajewnsa

8y} JO 80UBPIJUOD puB ADBINIJE BAIR|D) BY) 109 PiN0d
U2Iym SI0}OB} 8U} JO UOISSNISIp dAlje)enb e ‘sjeudoidde
pawssp jou s yoeoudde ue yons j ‘1o ‘spwi|
90UBPLUOD PaJe]S UIYNIM dAJSSal 8y} JO AOBINDOE BAlJE[al
ay) Amuenb o0} sainpaooid |eoisiie}soab Jo |eonsiiels

uonjeuejdxa apod JHOr

"S)iNsS81[e2LI0}SIY Pa|IoU0dal 8)IS YIm aul| ul aie sindino uejd suiw ey |

"$8NpPayos pue subisep aAIesay [BOD) 8y} JO UOIJONIISU0D

ay} jnoybnouayy sasseocosd uoneplen sasiin ssaooudd siyl -pajonb
sainbly anlesal [BOD pPalels ay} Ul 9ouapiuod Jo aaibap ybiy e si asay |

jo uoneondde ayy ‘sidwexs 104 ‘u0SIad jusjedwo)
ay} Aq sjeudosdde pswssp ainpasoud Jo yoeoidde ue
Buisn ajewiise aAlasay 810 8y} Ul |9AS] 8oUSPLUOD pue
Aoeinooe aAfe|al 8y} Jo Juswale)s e ajelidosdde asoypn

el

9ouaplyuod

JA2einaoe aAnejal

. Jo uoissnasig

5

LT0C 140day s,13s180|]099 juapuadapu]

- dUIN YyS81a|xo4



%

Foxleigh Mine - Independent Geologist’s Report 2017

APPENDIX 6 - RESOURCE CLASSIFICATION PLANS

The following plots show the Resource Classification polygons overlain by points of observation and
supporting 2D seismic data lines.
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Figure 17 Resource Classification for Foxleigh Plains Model Area — Roper 1 Seam
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Figure 18 Resource Classification for Foxleigh Plains Model Area — Middlemount Seam
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Figure 19 Resource Classification for Foxleigh Plains Model Area — Tralee 2 Seam
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Foxleigh Mine - Independent Geologist’s Report 2017

Figure 20 Resource Classification for Foxleigh Plains Model Area — Pisces 1B Seam
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Figure 21 Resource Classification for One Tree/Pipeline Model Area — Middlemount Seam
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Figure 22 Resource Classification for One Tree/Pipeline Model Area — Middlemount Lower Seam
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Figure 23 Resource Classification for One Tree/Pipeline Model Area — Pisces 1B Seam
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Figure 24 Resource Classification for Far South Model Area — Middlemount Seam
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Figure 25 Resource Classification for Far South Model Area — Tralee 2 Seam
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Figure 26 Resource Classification for Daggers Tip Model Area — Middlemount Seam
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APPENDIX 7 - FOXLEIGH MINE TENEMENT PLAN

Figure 27 Foxleigh Mine Tenements and the Geological Model Areas
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APPENDIX 8 - FOXLEIGH MINE DRILLHOLE LOCATION PLAN

%

Figure 28 Foxleigh Mine Drillhole Locations in Relation to the Geological Model Areas.
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APPENDIX 9 - FOXLEIGH MINE TYPICAL CROSS SECTIONS

The following plan outlines the location of typical cross sections for the Foxleigh Mine four resource areas —
Foxleigh Plains, One Tree/Pipeline, Far South and Daggers Tip.
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Figure 29 Locations of Proceeding Cross Sections
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APPENDIX 10 - FOXLEIGH MINE DEPTH OF COVER PLANS

The following plans outline the depth of cover to the Middlemount and the Pisces 1B seams for the Foxleigh
Mine.
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Figure 34 Depth of Cover to Middlemount Seam — Foxleigh Plains Model Area
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Figure 35 Depth of Cover to Pisces 1B Seam — Foxleigh Plains Model Area
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Figure 36 Depth of Cover to Middlemount Seam — One Tree/Pipeline Model Area
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Figure 37 Depth of Cover to Middlemount Seam — Far South Model Area
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Figure 38 Depth of Cover to Middlemount Seam — Daggers Tip Model Area
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Office
Contact

ClarkeKann

Brisbane
John Toigo

Direct Line 07 3001 9203

Email j.toigo@clarkekann.com.au
Our ref jdt:614109

Your ref

17 May 2017

The Directors

Realm Resources Limited
Suite 4101, Level 41, Gateway
1 Macquarie Place

SYDNEY NSW 2000

Dear Directors

Tenement Report

This report is prepared for inclusion in a notice of meeting of shareholders
of Realm Resources Limited (“Realm”) to be held in or around May 2017.

1.

1.1

1.2

21

Scope

We have been requested to report on the Foxleigh mining
tenements located in Queensland in which Realm, through its
subsidiaries Middlemount South Pty Ltd (99.9% owned by Realm),
Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd (100% owned by Middlemount South Pty Ltd)
or CAML Resources Pty Ltd (66.67% owned by Foxleigh Coal Pty
Ltd), has an interest (“Tenements”):

(a) ML70171, ML70309, ML70310, ML70429, ML70430,
ML70431, ML70470 (collectively the “Mining Leases”); and

(b) EPC1139, EPC855 and EPC1669, (collectively the
“‘Exploration Tenements”).

Details of the Tenements are set out in Schedule 1.
Searches and Source Information

We have conducted searches and made enquiries in respect of the
Tenements as follows:

(a) Public Enquiry Reports, which provide an extract of current
tenure information recorded on the register maintained by
the Department under the Mineral Resources Act 1989
(Qld) (“Mining Act”), were conducted on 29 March 2017.
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2.2

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

4.3

5.1

-2-

(b) Using mapping software provided by the Department of Natural Resources and Mines
(“DNRM”) and National Native Title Tribunal (“NNTT”) we have conducted searches
showing native title claims and indigenous land use agreements which overlap with
the Tenements that were conducted on 30 March 2017.

(c) Using mapping software provided by the DNRM we have obtained searches showing
tenements held by third parties and strategic cropping land which overlap with the
Tenements that were conducted on 30 March 2017.

On the basis of the searches conducted and subject to the notations and qualifications in this
report, we consider that this report (including the attached Schedule) provides an accurate
statement as to the status and standing of the Tenements and the Company's interest therein
as at 30 March 2017.

Tenements - Summary

The Tenements comprise mining leases and exploration permits for coal granted under the
Mining Act. Details of the mining leases and exploration permits are set outin Schedule 1.
Included in the Schedule are details of overlaps with third party tenements.

The Tenements are subject to conditions prescribed by the Mining Act (including as to the
payment of rent, reporting obligations and mandatory relinquishment of area of the licence) as
well as such terms and conditions as the Minister may determine. The Tenements are also
subject to the requirements of certain other State and Commonwealth legislation, including
Aboriginal heritage legislation and environmental protection legislation. These conditions are
not detailed in the Schedule.

Exploration Permits

Exploration permits generally entitle the holder of the permit to enter land for the purpose of
exploring for any mineral to which the exploration permit relates (in this case, coal).

An exploration permit is granted for an initial term not exceeding 5 years. An exploration
permit may be renewed by the Minister for a term of not more than 5 years.

While an exploration permit is still in force, an application for a mining lease can be made in
regard to those parts of land subject to the exploration permit. The initial term of a mining
lease is the period of time which is approved by the Minister. The granting of or renewal of a
mining lease may specify that the holder is not entitled to a mining lease renewal or further
renewal.

Mining Leases
In accordance with section 276 of the Mining Act, mining leases are subject to conditions that:
(a) the holder shall use the area of a mining lease bona fide for the purpose for which it

was granted and in accordance with the Mining Act and the conditions of the mining
lease, and for no other purpose;

(b) the holder must carry out improvement restoration for the mining lease;
(c) the holder must:
(i) pay the rental as prescribed;

(ii) pay the royalty as prescribed;

(iii) pay all local government rates and charges lawfully chargeable against the
holder in respect of the area of the mining lease;

(iv) deposit, as required by the Minister, any security from time to time under the
Mining Act.
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5.3

5.4

6.1

6.2

6.3

7.1

8.1

8.2

8.3

-3-

According to our searches there were no instances recorded of non-compliance with the
conditions of the Mining Leases. This does not mean that there have been no instances of
non-compliance, simply that DNRM is not aware of any.

Ministerial consent is required for a mining lease to be surrendered under the Mining Act.
Consent may only be obtained once the environmental authority for each lease has been
surrendered. Surrender of the environmental authority may only occur once the rehabilitation
requirements are met.

The timing and cost of meeting rehabilitation requirements is uncertain.
Environmental Authorities

The activities on the Mining Leases are authorised under Environmental Authority
EPML00744813 issued 6 July 2015 (“EA”).

It is a condition of the EA that the Mining Lease holders submit financial assurance to the
Department of Environment and Heritage Protection as calculated in accordance with
Department guidelines.

It is a condition of the Mining Leases and the EA that the holders undertake improvement and
restoration of the Mining Leases. The EA requires that all areas significantly disturbed by
mining activities are rehabilitated to safe, stable non-polluting landform with a self-sustaining
vegetation cover in accordance with the specified rehabilitation requirements for particular
disturbed areas.

Overlapping Tenements
Mapping indicates that in respect of the:

(a) Mining Leases there are overlapping Authorities to Prospect (“ATP”) and Exploration
Permits for Coal (“‘EPC”). However the Mining Tenements are carved out of the ATP
and EPC areas pursuant to the Mining Act.

(b) Exploration Permits there are overlapping Mining Leases (“ML”), ATPs and Potential
Commercial Areas (“PCA”). In this instance the Exploration Permits will be carved out
of the ML areas pursuant to the Mining Act, and the Exploration Permit tenement
holders will need to reach agreement with the ATP and PCA holders prior to
undertaking exploration activities or seeking to apply for a mining lease in respect of
the land the subject of the overlap.

Aboriginal Heritage

This section of the report examines the effect of Aboriginal heritage legislation on the
Tenements as there may be areas or objects of Aboriginal heritage located within the area of
the Tenements.

We have not undertaken searches to ascertain if any Aboriginal sites or objects have been
registered within the area of the Tenements. There is no obligation under the relevant
legislation to register sites or objects and sites or objects are protected by the relevant State
legislation regardless of whether they are registered.

Commonwealth Legislation

The Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Heritage Protection Act 1984 (Cth) (“Cth Heritage
Act”) preserves and protects from injury or desecration areas and objects of particular
significance to Aboriginal people in accordance with Aboriginal tradition, by providing for the
making of declarations in relation to significant Aboriginal areas or significant Aboriginal
objects. The Cth Heritage Act makes it an offence to engage in conduct in contravention of a
provision of a declaration made under the Act.

4117552_4.doc



Queensland Legislation

8.4 The Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Act 2003 (Qld) (“QLD Heritage Act”) provides for the
recognition, protection and conservation of Aboriginal cultural heritage.

The QLD Heritage Act:

(a) imposes a general duty of care on persons to take all reasonable and practicable
measures to ensure an activity does not harm Aboriginal cultural heritage;

(b) creates an offence for a person to unlawfully harm Aboriginal cultural heritage;

(c) creates a specific offence involving unlawful excavation, relocation, taking away or

unlawful possession of, Aboriginal cultural heritage and sets out the penalties for
contravening the QLD Heritage Act;

(d) sets out the circumstances in which a cultural heritage management plan is or may be
required to be developed and approved fora project;

(e) establishes a database whereby Aboriginal cultural heritage can be registered.
However, there are no registration requirements and the QLD Heritage Act protects all
Aboriginal cultural heritage in Queensland; and

(f) may grant authority to excavate, relocate or take away Aboriginal cultural heritage.
9. Native Title
9.1 This section of the report examines the effect of native title on the Tenements.

Overview of Native Title

9.2 Native title rights and interests exist where the rights and interests are possessed under the
traditional laws currently acknowledged and the traditional customs currently observed by the
relevant Indigenous people, those Indigenous people have a "connection" with the area in
question by those traditional laws and customs and the rights and interests are recognised by
the common law of Australia.

Tenements

9.3 To the extent the grant of the Tenements would have affected native title, the grants were
future acts which needed to comply with the future act regime in order to be valid under the
Native Title Act. The Public Enquiry Reports for all Tenements, with the exception of
EPC1139, give the tenure the native title category “Exclusive Land (100%)”, meaning native
title is not an issue in terms of undertaking the mining and exploration activities under those
Tenements.

The Public Enquiry Report for EPC1139 gives the tenure the native title category
“Predominately Exclusive Land”. This means that when the tenement was applied for there
were areas subject to native title. However, on the grant of the tenement the native title areas
were ‘excluded’ from the tenement area to the extent of the native title claims, and it was not
necessary for any native title processes to be adhered to. The exclusion process applied
because the native title area comprised less that 10% of the total tenement area and did not
extend to a whole sub-block. In effect although EPC1139 covers both exclusive land and non-
exclusive land , exploration activities are only permitted to occur on exclusive land. If the
Tenement holders wish to explore on the small part of EPC1139 then they will need to
negotiate with the registered native title party.

Native title claim QC2013/004 was lodged by the Barada Kabalbara Yetimarala People on 2
July 2013. The claim overlaps all of the Tenements - however, since this claim was made
after the date of grant of the Tenements the Tenement holders are not required to negotiate
with the native title party. However, if the Tenement holders wish to renew EPC1139, or apply
for mining leases over areas covered by it, the native title claimants will have a ‘right to
negotiate’ with the Tenement holders. If the parties cannot reach an agreement on
compensation, an application can be made to the NNTT for a determination by either party,
after which, the renewal or application can be granted.
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10.

1.

12,

Strategic Cropping Land

The Regional Planning Interests Act 2014 (Qld) limits the ability for strategic cropping land to
be used for mining activities. For the purposes of the Act, mining activities include activities
carried out pursuant to the grant of a mining tenement under the Mining Act.

It is an offence to carry out mining activities in strategic cropping land unless a regional
interests development approval to carry out the mining activity. If mining activities are carried
out intentionally, maximum penalties are a fine of $761,875 or 5 years imprisonment, and for
unintentional offences the maximum penalty is a fine of $548,550.

The holder or applicant for a mining tenement may make an application to the Department of
Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning to grant an authority to carry out mining
activities on strategic cropping land. Any application must be accompanied by a report
assessing the impact of mining activities on the strategic cropping land, and any constraints
on the operation of the mining activities.

There is no general requirement for applicants for approval to carry out mining activities to
give public notice of the application being made. However, the Department may require that
notice be given. If public notice must be given, the public may make submissions regarding
the application.

Based on our review of the strategic cropping land maps of show that:

(a) a small portion of the south eastern part of ML70309 is affected by strategic cropping
land, but this does not, as we understand it, affect mining operations; and

(b) EPC1139 is affected by strategic cropping land by an area in the central part of the
EPC, and an addition area affecting most areas in the southern part of the EPC.

Qualifications

(a) We have assumed the accuracy and completeness of all searches, register extracts
and other information or responses which were obtained from government
departments or authorities.

(b) This report does not cover any third party interests, including encumbrances, in
relation to the Tenements that are not apparent from our searches and the information
provided to us.

(c) We have assumed that any agreements provided to us in relation to the Tenements
are authentic, complete, were within the powers and capacity of those who executed
them, were duly authorised, executed, delivered and stamped and are binding on the
parties to them.

(d) The holding of the Tenements and their standing is subject to compliance with their
respective terms and conditions and the provisions of the applicable State mining
legislation.

(e) We have assumed the accuracy and completeness of any instructions or information
which we have received from the Company or any of its officers, agents and
representatives.

) Where compliance with requirements necessary to maintain a Tenement in good
standing is not disclosed on the face of the searches referred to in this report, we
express no opinion on such compliance.

(9) The information in this report and the Schedule is accurate as at the date the relevant
searches were obtained. We cannot comment on whether any changes have occurred
in respect of the Tenements between the date of the searches and the date of the
submission to ASX.

Consent

This report is given solely for the benefit of the Company and the directors of the Company in
connection with a notice of general meeting of Realm and is not to be relied on or disclosed to
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any other person or used for any other purpose or quoted or referred to in any other public
document or filed with any government body or other person without our prior consent.

Yours faithfully

ol
\\(@em (8o
John Toigo

Partner
Corporate & Commercial
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Schedule 3 Realm pro-forma statement of financial position for

the year to 31 December 2016

Notes Realm Foxleigh Adjustment Pro-Forma
(Audited) (Unaudited) 31/12/2016 (unaudited)
31/12/2016 31/12/2016 ($°000) 31/12/2016
($°000) ($°000) ($°000)
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash 240 68,306 4,725 73,271
equivalents
Trade and other 90 15,995 - 16,085
receivables
Other financial 60 - - 60
assets
Inventories - 25,471 - 25,471
Other - - - -
Total Current 390 109,772 4,725 114,887
Assets
Non-Current
Assets
Trade and other - 1,521 - 1,521
receivables
Other Financial 64,350 - - 64,350
Assets
Deferred tax 890 - - 890
assets
Plant and 3 1,481 - 1,484
Equipment
Investments 3,739 - - 3,739
Exploration - 60,197 - 60,197
Expenditure
Total Current 68,982 63,199 - 132,181
Assets
TOTAL 69,372 172,971 4,725 247,068
ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current
Liabilities
Trade and other 175 38,256 - 38,431
payables
Borrowings 47,592 42,074 - 89,666
Other 115 16,414 - 16,529
Total Current 47,882 96,744 - 144,626
Liabilities
Non-Current
Liabilities
Trade and other - 21,480 - 21,480
payables
Provisions - 28,038 - 28,038
Total Non - 49,518 - 49,518
Current
Liabilities
TOTAL 47,882 146,262 - 194,144
LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS / 21,490 26,709 4,725 52,924




Notes Realm Foxleigh Adjustment Pro-Forma
(Audited) (Unaudited) 31/12/2016 (unaudited)
31/12/2016 31/12/2016 ($°000) 31/12/2016
($°000) ($°000) ($°000)
(LIABILITIES)
EQUITY
Issued Capital 46,315 1 4,725 51,014
Reserves 366 - - 366
Accumulates (25,191) 26,708 - 1,517
Losses
TOTAL EQUITY 21,490 26,709 4,725 52,924

Notes and assumptions:

1. Realm Resources Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2016.

2. Based on A$43m amount paid at completion adjusted for opening creditors (A$14.4m) and employee
liabilities (A$6.6m). Compares to FCL 31 December 2015 Total Assets of A$66m (excluding related
party tax receivables).

3. Realm Resources estimate of Foxleigh annualised financial performance (70% basis) at the time of
acquisition.

4. Proposed Capital Raise of no less than $5,000,000 (based on 25,000,000 shares at a minimum issue
price of $0.20) (less Capital Raise costs of 5.5%).
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This financial statements are the financial statements of Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd as a consolidated entity
consisting of Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd and the entities it controlled during the year. The financial statements
are presented in the Australian currency.

Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd is a proprietary company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.
Its registered office and principal place of business is:

Level 12, HSBC Building
300 Queen Street Street
Brisbane QLD 4000

A description of the nature of the group’s operations and its principal activities is included in the directors’
report on page 2.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 9 June 2017. The directors have
the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.



Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd
Directors' report
31 December 2016

Directors' report

Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity (referred hereafter as “the Group”) consisting of
Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd (formerly Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd and the entities it controlled at the end of, or
during, the year ended 31 December 2016.

The company changes its name from Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd to Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd with effect from 29
August 2016.

Information on directors
Directors

The following persons were directors of Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd during the whole or part of the financial year and
up to the date of this report:

Directors

Theo Renard (appointed 29 August 2016)

Glen Lewis (appointed 6 March 2017)

Adriaan Esterhuizen (resigned 29 August 2016)

Brent Waldron (resigned 19 May 2016)

Elizabeth Hansen (appointed 10 June 2016 and resigned 29 August 2016)
Mark Heaton (resigned 29 August 2016)

Peter Briggs (appointed 29 August 2016 and resigned 6 March 2017)

Principal activities

The principal activity of Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd during the year was a 70% participant in the Foxleigh Joint
Venture and a 70% shareholding in Foxleigh Sales & Marketing Pty Ltd and Foxleigh Land Pty Ltd.

Dividends
No dividends have been paid during the financial year (2015: $nil). The directors do not recommend that
a dividend be paid in respect of the financial year.

Review of operations

The profit of the company for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 was $647,616,000 (2015:
Loss of $257,114,000). The profit was however largely attributable to the forgiveness of intra-group debt by
Anglo American Metallurgical Coal Assets Pty Ltd of $604,066,000 as per note 5 (b).

Significant changes in the state of affairs
There have been no significant changes in the state of affairs of the company.

It is however noted that Middlemount South Pty Ltd (“Middlemount”), a 99.9% subsidiary of Realm
Resources Limited, completed the Foxleigh Transaction (“Transaction”) with Anglo American Metallurgical
Coal Assets Pty Ltd (“Anglo”) on 29 August 2016. As a result, Foxleigh Coal Pty Limited became a wholly
owned subsidiary of Middlemount and indirectly also acquired Anglo’s 67% in CAML which holds a 60% in
the Foxleigh Joint Venture resulting in the Realm Group's total direct and indirect interest of 70%. The impact
of the results from operations has been disclosed in note 5.
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Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd
Directors' report (continued)
31 December 2016

Significant changes in the state of affairs (continued)

Foxleigh remains owned and operated as a Joint Venture with POSCO Australia Pty Ltd (“POSCO”) and
Nippon Steel & Sumitomo Metal Pty Ltd (“Nippon”) owning 20% and 10% respectively. POSCO and
Nippon are longstanding customers of Foxleigh. CAML’s direct interest of 60% in the Joint Operation
remains the same after the completion of the transaction which is in effect Foxleigh Coal’s indirect interest
of 40% in the Joint Venture operation.

Foxleigh has been acquired on a going concern basis and the Transaction includes a number of
procurement and services contracts, landholder access agreements, logistics and coal sales contracts.
The contracts include access to port and rail capacity consistent with expectations for future Foxleigh
production.

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year

Subsequent to the reporting date a voluntary restructuring program commenced. At the date of this report, over
$11,000,000 has been paid in termination payments. In addition to the above, the Queensland government
approved the Mine Plan and as a result, financial guarantees required to rehabilitate and restore the Mine were
decreased by $10,000,000.

Other than above, no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2016 that has significantly
affected, or may significantly effect:

(i) The Group’s operations in future financial years, or
(ii) The results of those operations in future financial years, or
(iii) The Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

Future developments

Disclosure of information on likely developments in the operations of the company and the expected results of
operations have not been included in this Annual report because the directors believe it would be likely to result
in unreasonable prejudice to the company.

Insurance of officers

During the financial year, Ultimate holding company paid a premium to insure the directors and secretaries of
the Company and its Australian-based controlled entities, and the directors of each of the subsidiaries of the
Group.

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may
be brought against the officers in their capacity as officers of entities in the Group, and any other payments
arising from liabilities incurred by the officers in connection with such proceedings. This does not include such
liabilities that arise from conduct involving a willful breach of duty by the officers or the improper use by the
officers of their position or of information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or to cause
detriment to the company. Itis not possible to apportion the premium between amounts relating to the insurance
against legal costs and those relating to other liabilities.

Indemnity of auditors

The ultimate holding company has agreed to indemnify their auditors, RSM, to the extent permitted by law,
against any claim by a third party arising from Group’s breach of their agreement. The indemnity stipulates
that Group will meet the full amount of any such liabilities including a reasonable amount of legal costs.

3



Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd
Directors' report (continued)
31 December 2016

Environmental regulation

The company, through its Safety Health and Environment Policy, is committed to ensuring that care for the
environment is integral to the daily management of our business. A systematic approach is applied to
environmental management in accordance with recognised standards and industry codes.

The company is subject to environmental regulation at both Federal and State levels.

Federal Government
Approval is required for developments that could impact on matters of national environmental significance.

State Government
The company has operations in the state of Queensland, which has comprehensive planning and environmental
protection legislation. Prior authorisation is obtained for activities that may result in environmental harm.

During the financial year the company complied with the requirements of environmental regulations and no
reportable compliance issues arose from operations of the Foxleigh Joint Venture.

The company has internal reporting processes in place that require operational management to report
environmental incidents that occur and what action has been taken to resolve such incidents, regardless of
whether they infringe any regulations.

Proceedings on behalf of the company

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring
proceedings on behalf of the company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company Is a party, for
the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all or part of those proceedings.

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the company with leave of the Court under
section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001.

Auditor's independence declaration
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001
is set out on page 5.

Rounding of amounts

The company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Legislative Instrument 2016/191, relating to the ‘rounding off’ of
amounts in the directors’ report. Amounts in the directors’ report have been rounded off in accordance with the
instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to section 298(2) of the Corporations Act
2001.

Glen Lewis

Director

Sydney
9 June 2017



RSM

RSM Australia Partners

Level 13,60 Castlereagh Street Sydney NSW 2000
GPO Box 5138 Sydney NSW 2001

T+61(0) 28226 4500
F+61(0) 2 8226 4501

WWwWw.rsm.com.au

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd (formerly Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty
Ltd) for the year ended 31 December 2016, | declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have
been no contraventions of:

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

(i)  any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

y&v

RSM AUSTRALIA PARTNERS

Sydney, NSW
Dated: 9 June 2017

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD

AUDIT| TAX| CONSULTING

RSM Australia Partners is a member of the RSM network and trades as RSM. RSM is the trading name used by the members of the RSM network. Each member of the
RSM network is anindependent accounting and consulting firm which practices inits ownright. The RSM network is notitself a separate legal entity in any jurisdiction.
RSM Australia Partners ABN 36 965185 036 Quality
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

J

Certified System



Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015

Notes ($°000) ($°000)
Revenue from continuing operations
Sale of goods 238,031 202,853
Other income 5(b) 605,552 5,186
Expenses
Cost of sales (131,265) (205,765)
Other operating expenses
Distribution (36,913) (41,180)
Selling expenses (2,200) (1,702)
Administration costs (1,324) (1,207)
Impairment expenses - (191,036)
Finance charges (20,367) (18,653)
Share of profit from associates 2 14
Profit/(loss) before income tax 651,516 (251,490)
Income tax expense 6 (3,900) (5,624)
Net profit/(loss) for the year 647,616 (257,114)
Other comprehensive income - -
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for
the year 647,616 (257,114)

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.



Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd
Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Balance as at 1 January 2015
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive loss for the
year

Tax consolidation adjustment

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners:

Shares issued during the year, net of
transactions costs

Balance as at 31 December 2015
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the
year

Tax consolidation adjustment

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners:

Shares issued during the year, net of
transaction costs

Balance as at 31 December 2016

Notes

16

Retained
earnings/
(accumulated
losses) Total Equity
($°000) ($7000)
(355,446) (355,446)
(257,114) (257,114)
(257,114) (257,114)
53,004 53,004
(559,556) (559,556)
647,616 651,516
647,616 651,516
(39,247) (39,247)
48,813 52,713

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd
Statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2016

2016 2015

Notes ($°000) ($°000)
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 64,412 26,602
Trade and other receivables 8 15,198 11,635
Inventories 9 25,471 21,760
Current tax receivables - 3,823
Prepayments 3,184 931
Total current assets 108,265 64,751
Non-current assets
Receivables 8 11,966 40,559
Available for sale financial assets 10 29 29
Property, plant and equipment 11 1,371 -
Total non-current assets 13,366 40,588
TOTAL ASSETS 121,631 105,339
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 12 24,764 26,495
Current tax liabilities 6 3,900 -
Borrowings 13 - 592,942
Provisions 14 16,116 12,709
Total current liabilities 44,780 632,146
Non-Current liabilities
Provisions 14 28,038 32,749
Total non-current liabilities 28,038 32,749
TOTAL LIABILITIES 72,818 664,895
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 48,813 (559,556)
EQUITY
Capital and reserves
Contributed equity - -
Retained earnings (accumulated losses) 16 48,813 (559,556)
Attributable to owners of Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd 48,813 (559,556)

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd
Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015

Notes ($°000) ($°000)
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers 235,534 228,932
Payments to suppliers and employees (179,390) (241,314)
Interest received 108 -
Finance charges (7,271) (451)
Income tax receipts 3,823 15,481
Net cash flows from operating activities 17 52,804 2,648
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 11 (1,370) (6,494)
Loans made to related party 8 (11,965) -
Net cash flows used in investing activities (13,335) (6,494)
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings (1,972) (4,181)
Net cash flows from financing activities (1,972) (4,181)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
held 37,497 (8,027)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents 313 171
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 26,602 34,458
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 7 64,412 26,602

The above statement of cashflows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2016

1. Corporate information

The financial report of Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd (“Foxleigh” or “the Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2016
was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 8 June 2017. The directors have the
power to amend and reissue the financial report.

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Company are described in the directors’ report.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The
financial statements are for the group consisting of Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd and its subsidiaries.

(a) Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards, and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act
2001. Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd is a for-profit entity for the purposes of preparing the financial statements.

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars.

(i) Compliance with IFRS

The consolidated financial statements of the Foxleigh Group also comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

(ii)  Historical Cost Convention
The financial statements have also been prepared under the historical cost basis.
(i)  New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for their annual reporting
commencing 1 January 2016:

e AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests
in Joint Operations

e AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
Depreciation and Amortisation

e AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Annual improvements to Australian
Accounting Standards 2012 — 2014 cycle, and

e AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Disclosure initiative: Amendments to

AASB 101. The adoption of these amendments did not have any impact on the current period or any prior
period and is not likely to affect future periods.
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Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd

Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(iv)  New accounting standards and interpretations

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31
December 2016 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s assessment of the
impact of these new standards and interpretations is that they will result in no significant changes to the amounts
recognised or matters disclosed in the financial report as listed below:

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard replaces
all previous versions of AASB 9 and completes the project to replace IAS 39 'Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement'. AASB 9 introduces new classification and measurement models for financial assets. A financial
asset shall be measured at amortised cost, if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows, which arise on specified dates and solely principal and interest. All other
financial instrument assets are to be classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss unless the entity
makes an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on equity instruments (that are not
held-for-trading) in other comprehensive income ('OCI'). For financial liabilities, the standard requires the portion
of the change in fair value that relates to the entity's own credit risk to be presented in OCI (unless it would create
an accounting mismatch).

New simpler hedge accounting requirements are intended to more closely align the accounting treatment with the
risk management activities of the entity. New impairment requirements will use an 'expected credit loss' ('ECL")
model to recognise an allowance. Impairment will be measured under a 12-month ECL method unless the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition in which case the lifetime ECL
method is adopted. The standard introduces additional new disclosures. The Group will adopt this standard from
1 January 2018 but the impact of its adoption is yet to be assessed by the consolidated entity.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard provides
a single standard for revenue recognition. The core principle of the standard is that an entity will recognise revenue
to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard will require: contracts
(either written, verbal or implied) to be identified, together with the separate performance obligations within the
contract; determine the transaction price, adjusted for the time value of money excluding credit risk; allocation of
the transaction price to the separate performance obligations on a basis of relative stand-alone selling price of
each distinct good or service, or estimation approach if no distinct observable prices exist; and recognition of
revenue when each performance obligation is satisfied. Credit risk will be presented separately as an expense
rather than adjusted to revenue.

For goods, the performance obligation would be satisfied when the customer obtains control of the goods. For
services, the performance obligation is satisfied when the service has been provided, typically for promises to
transfer services to customers. For performance obligations satisfied over time, an entity would select an
appropriate measure of progress to determine how much revenue should be recognised as the performance
obligation is satisfied. Contracts with customers will be presented in an entity's statement of financial position as a
contract liability, a contract asset, or a receivable, depending on the relationship between the entity's performance
and the customer's payment. Sufficient quantitative and qualitative disclosure is required to enable users to
understand the contracts with customers; the significant judgments made in applying the guidance to those
contracts; and any assets recognised from the costs to obtain or fulfil a contract with a customer. The Group will
adopt this standard from 1 January 2018 but the impact of its adoption is yet to be assessed by the Group.
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Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)
(v)  New accounting standards and interpretations (continued)

AASB 16 Leases

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The standard replaces
AASB 117 'Leases' and for lessees will eliminate the classifications of operating leases and finance leases. Subject
to exceptions, a 'right-of-use' asset will be capitalised in the statement of financial position, measured at the present
value of the unavoidable future lease payments to be made over the lease term. The exceptions relate to short-
term leases of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets (such as personal computers and small office
furniture) where an accounting policy choice exists whereby either a 'right-of-use' asset is recognised or lease
payments are expensed to profit or loss as incurred. A liability corresponding to the capitalised lease will also be
recognised, adjusted for lease prepayments, lease incentives received, initial direct costs incurred and an estimate
of any future restoration, removal or dismantling costs.

Straight-line operating lease expense recognition will be replaced with a depreciation charge for the leased asset
(included in operating costs) and an interest expense on the recognised lease liability (included in finance costs).
In the earlier periods of the lease, the expenses associated with the lease under AASB 16 will be higher when
compared to lease expenses under AASB 117. However, EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation
and Amortisation) results will be improved as the operating expense is replaced by interest expense and
depreciation in profit or loss under AASB 16. For classification within the statement of cash flows, the lease
payments will be separated into both a principal (financing activities) and interest (either operating or financing
activities) component. For lessor accounting, the standard does not substantially change how a lessor accounts
for leases. The Group will adopt this standard from 1 January 2019 but the impact of its adoption is yet to be
assessed by the Group.

(b) Principles of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd (“Company” or
“Parent entity”) as at 31 December 2016 and the results, assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries. Foxleigh Coal
Pty Ltd and its subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report as the Group or the consolidated entity.

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the day control ceases.

Where control of an entity is obtained during a financial year, its results are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date on which control commences. Where control of an
entity ceases during a financial year its results are included for that part of the year during which control existed.
The financial statements of all subsidiaries are prepared for the same accounting period as the parent company,
using consistent accounting policies.

Intercompany transactions and balances, income and expenses, unrealised gain on transactions between Group
companies are eliminated and profit and losses resulting from unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and balance sheet
respectively. The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting.
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Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Principles of consolidation (continued)
(i) Joint arrangements

Under AASB 11 Joint Arrangements investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or
joint ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the
legal structure of the joint arrangement. Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd has joint operations with POSCO and Nippon.

Foxleigh Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd Limited recognises its direct right to the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses
of joint operations and its share of any jointly held or incurred assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These
have been incorporated in the financial statements under the appropriate headings.

The Group's 70% proportionate interest in the assets, liabilities and expenses of the Foxleigh Joint Venture
operation have been incorporated in the financial statements under the appropriate headings. The Group's interest
in the Foxleigh Joint Venture is held both directly (30%) and indirectly via its 66.67% interest in CAML Resources
Pty Ltd. CAML Resources Pty Ltd holds a 60% in the Foxleigh Joint Venture resulting in the Group's total additional
indirect interest of 40%.

Foxleigh Management Pty Ltd (Foxleigh Management) has been contracted by the Group and other participants
of the Joint Venture to manage, supervise and conduct the operations of the Foxleigh Joint Venture. As operator,
Foxleigh Management) enters into transactions (including employment and supply agreements) on behalf of the
Foxleigh Joint Venture. All transactions entered by Foxleigh Management for the benefit of the Foxleigh Joint
Venture are accounted for in the books of the Foxleigh Joint Venture.

Foxleigh Services Pty Ltd (Foxleigh Services) is an employment company which enters transactions of employment
on behalf of the Foxleigh Joint Venture. All transactions entered by Foxleigh Services for the benefit of the Foxleigh
Joint Venture are accounted for in the books of the Foxleigh Joint Venture.

Sales company

Foxleigh Sales & Marketing Pty Ltd (Foxleigh Sales & Marketing) acts as the sales agent for the Group and the
other Joint Venture participants. The company proportionally consolidates 70% of the assets, liabilities, revenue
and expenses of Foxleigh Sales & Marketing Pty Ltd.

Changes in ownership interests

When the entity ceases to have control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is re-
measured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset.

In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the company had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant influence is

retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(c) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of the company are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it operates ('the functional currency'). The financial statements are
presented in Australian dollars, which is Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd's functional and presentation currency.

(i) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dales of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rales of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the Statement of profit or loss, except when deferred
in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss
are reporied as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets, such as equities classified as available for sale financial assets, are included in the fair value
reserve in equity.

(d) Revenue recognition

(i)  Sales of products

Revenue from sale of products is recognized when persuasive evidence exits, usually in the form of executed
sales agreement, indicating that there has been a transfer of risks and rewards of ownership to the customer.
The quantity and quality of the products have been determined with reasonable accuracy, the price can be
reliably estimated and collectability reasonably assured.

(i) Interest revenue
Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method.

(i) Management fee income
Management fee income is recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is established.

(e) Exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is written off in the year in which it is incurred. When a decision is taken
that a mining property has become viable for commercial production, all further pre-production expenditure is
capitalised.

(f) Maintenance and repairs
Plant of the Group is required to be overhauled on a regular basis. This is managed as part of an ongoing major
cyclical maintenance program.

The costs of this maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the
replacement of a component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated in accordance
with note 2(n). Other routine operating maintenance, repair costs and minor renewals are also charged as
expenses as incurred.

(g) Royalties

Royalties and other mining imposts are accrued and charged against earnings when the liability from production
or sale of the mineral crystalizes.
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Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(h) Income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based
on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period in the countries where the company’s subsidiaries and associates operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income
tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted
by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment property that is measured at fair value is determined assuming
the property will be recovered entirely through sale. Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount
and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the company is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current

tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable
entity and the same taxation authority.
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Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Tax Consolidation Legislation

The tax consolidation legislation allows a group of corporate entities comprising a parent entity and its Australian
wholly owned entities to elect to form a tax consolidated group and be treated as a single entity for Income tax
purposes.

Entities in the wholly owned group of which the group is a subsidiary had historically elected to form a tax
consolidated group from 1 July 2002 and notified the Australian Taxation Office ('ATQ') of this election on 27
February 2004. Accordingly, Interpretation 1052 Tax Consolidation Accounting has historically been applied in
preparing these financial statements.

The head company of the tax consolidated group was Anglo American Australia Limited. Wholly owned entities
in the tax consolidated group were not separate taxable entities during the previous reporting periods and up to
31 August 2016.

Tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the
members of the tax-consolidated group were recognised in the separate financial statements of the members
of the tax-consolidated group using the 'stand-alone taxpayer' approach by reference to the carrying amounts
in the separate financial statements of each entity and the tax cost or adjustable values of the assets of the
entity, which are deemed to be held by the head company for tax consolidation purposes. Current tax liabilities
and assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and relevant tax credits arising from this
allocation process were then accounted for as immediately assumed by the head company, on the basis the
head company had the legal obligation (or right) to these amounts under Australian taxation law.

Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing agreements

Entities within the tax-consolidated group had entered into a Tax Sharing Deed ('TSD') with the head entity,
which incorporated a tax funding arrangement and a tax sharing agreement. The TSD gave effect to the
following:

o the group's tax liability was allocated on the basis of notional taxable income to all members whose
notional taxable income was more than zero, being the contribution amounts;

e any deferred tax balances (including deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and relevant tax
credits) arising each year that were assumed/received by the head entity were receivable/payable
between each contributing member and the head entity; and

. intercompany tax related payables were only paid by the contributing member when the head entity had
paid the liability to the ATO, and any tax losses incurred were paid for by the transferee company and
received by each loss company under the TSD.

Due to the existence of the TSO between the entities in the tax-consolidated group, amounts were recognised
as payable to or receivable by the head entity and each member of the group in relation to the tax contribution
amounts paid or payable between the head entity and the other members of the tax-consolidated group in
accordance with the arrangement.

Where the tax contribution amount recognised by each member of the tax-consolidated group for a particular
period was different to the aggregate of the current tax liability or asset, deferred tax assets (including those
arising from unused tax losses and tax credits) and deferred tax liabilities in respect of that period, the difference
was recognised as a contribution from (or distribution to) equity participants through retained earnings. Foxleigh
Coal Pty Ltd ceased to be a part of the tax consolidated group of Anglo American Australia Limited and any
remaining differences at the time of the Transaction were recognised as a contribution from (or distribution to) equity
participants through retained earnings consistent with what was done in the prior year.
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Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other short-term and long-term payables. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the profit or loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the asset’s
useful life or over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that
the Group will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Group as
lessee are classified as operating leases (note 22). Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease. Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-
line basis over the lease term note 22 The respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet based
on their nature.

The Group did not have any finance leases at reporting date.
(j) Impairment of assets

Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. Animpairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are Grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash flows
from other assets or Groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of presentation in the statement of cashflows, cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank
and in hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less that are readily convertible
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(I) Trade receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have 25 day terms, trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for
impairment.

The ability to collect amounts owed by trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which
are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision for doubtful debts is established when there is
objective evidence that the company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original
terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. Cash flows
relating to short term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. The amount
of the provision is recognised in the Statement of profit or Loss.
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Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(m) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the amount
estimated to be obtained from the sale or use of the item of inventory in the normal course of business,
less any anticipated costs to be incurred prior to its sale or use.

(i) Coal stockpiles
Costs, including an appropriate portion of fixed and variable overhead expenses (including depreciation and
amortisation), are assigned to inventory on hand on the basis of a 12-month rolling average of production.

(i) Spare parts and consumables

Inventories of consumable supplies and spare parts expected to be used in production are valued at
weighted average cost. Cost represents the purchase price and other costs incurred in the normal course
of operations in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Obsolete or damaged inventories of such items are valued at net realisable value. A regular and ongoing
review is undertaken to establish the extent of surplus items, and a provision is made for any potential loss
on their disposal.

Major capital spare parts are capitalised and depreciated over the same remaining life as the equipment
with which they are associated.

(n) Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment. Costincludes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. In the event
that settlement of all or part of the purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined by discounting
the amounts payable in the future to their present value as at the date of acquisition.

Property plant and equipment includes the Group’s share of Foxleigh Joint Venture and any fair value
adjustments that arose on acquisition of the Group’s interest in its joint operations and any assets held directly
by the Group.

Certain parcels of freehold land have been acquired for the purpose of the extraction of mineral reserves. Such
parcels of freehold land are depreciated in a manner that reflects the benefits to be derived from it, otherwise
freehold land is not depreciated.

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment. Depreciation is calculated on either a straight-
line basis or a Units-of-production basis so as to write off the net cost of each asset over its expected
useful life to its estimated residual value.

The units of production basis results in an amortization charge proportional to the depletion of the
recoverable mineral resources. Each items economic life as due regard to both its own physical life
limitations and to present assessments of recoverable mineral resources of the mine property at which the
item is located, and to possible future variations in those assessments, where applicable. The estimated
lives normally vary from up to the shorter of Life of Mine (LoM) and twenty years for items of plant and
equipment to the shorter of mine life and forty years for buildings.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
annual reporting period. An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. See Note 3(iv) for further
details in relation to the directors’ assumptions in this regard

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in the Statement of profit or loss.
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Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(o) Rehabilitation and restoration

The Group records the present value of estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations required to restore
operating locations in the period in which the obligation is incurred. The nature of these restoration activities
includes dismantling and removing structures, rehabilitating mines and tailing dams, dismantling operating
facilities, closure of plant and waste sites, and restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation of affected areas. The
obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the ground/environment is disturbed at the production
location. When liability is initially recognised, the present value of the estimated costs is capitalised by
increasing the carrying amount of the related mining assets to the extent that it was incurred by the development
of the mine. Over time the discounted liability is increased for the change in present value based on discount
rates that reflect current market assessments and the risks specific to the liability.

The periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised in profit or losses a finance cost. Additional, disturbances
or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognised as additions or changes to the corresponding assets and
rehabilitation liability when they occur. Discount rates of 11,96% have been used for the period under review.

A current and non-current balance with respect to the provision for restoration and rehabilitation is disclosed,
with current portion representing the estimated rehabilitation and restoration work to be undertaken in the
coming year.

(p) Deferred stripping costs

When waste removal activities improve access to ore extracted in the current period, the costs of production
stripping are charged to profit or loss. Where production stripping activity produces access to ore in future
periods the associated costs of waste removal are capitalised within Property, plant and equipment as deferred
development. Components are specific volumes of a mine's ore body that are determined by reference to the
Life of Mine plan.

All amounts capitalised in respect of waste removal are depreciated over the remaining life of mine as assessed
at the reporting date.

(q) Investments and other financial assets
(i) Classification

The group classifies its financial assets in the following categories:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,

= loans and receivables,

= held-to-maturity investments, and

= available-for-sale financial assets.

The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines

the classification of its investments at initial recognition and, in the case of assets classified as held-to-maturity,
re-evaluates this designation at the end of each reporting period.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(q) Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(i) Reclassification

The group may choose to reclassify a non-derivative trading financial asset out of the held for trading category
if the financial asset is no longer held for the purpose of selling it in the near term. Financial assets other than
loans and receivables are permitted to be reclassified out of the held for trading category only in rare
circumstances arising from a single event that is unusual and highly unlikely to recur in the near term. In addition,
the group may choose to reclassify financial assets that would meet the definition of loans and receivables out
of the held for trading or available-for-sale categories if the group has the intention and ability to hold these
financial assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity at the date of reclassification

Reclassifications are made at fair value as of the reclassification date. Fair value becomes the new cost or
amortised cost as applicable, and no reversals of fair value gains or losses recorded before reclassification date
are subsequently made. Effective interest rates for financial assets reclassified to loans and receivables and
held-to-maturity categories are determined at the reclassification date. Further increases in estimates of cash
flows adjust effective interest rates prospectively.

(iii) Recognition and de-recognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership. When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold, the accumulated
fair value adjustments recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss as gains and
losses from investment securities.

(iv)Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
profit or loss.

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value are recognised as follows:

o for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ — in profit or loss within other income or other
expenses

o for available-for-sale financial assets that are monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency —
translation differences related to changes in the amortised cost of the security are recognised in profit or
loss and other changes in the carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income

o for other monetary and non-monetary securities classified as available-for-sale — in other comprehensive
income.

Dividends on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale equity instruments are

recognised in profit or loss as part of revenue from continuing operations when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(q) Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Interest income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is included in the net gains/(losses).
Interest on available-for-sale securities, held-to-maturity investments and loans and receivables calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in the statement of profit or loss as part of revenue from
continuing operations.

(v) Impairment

The Group assesses at the end of each report period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or Group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a Group of financial assets is impaired and
impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or Group of financial assets that can be
reliably estimated. In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered an indicator that the assets are impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

For loans and receivables, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. If a loan or held-to-maturity investment has
a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate
determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of
an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Assets classified as available-for-sale

If there is objective evidence of impairment for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss —
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss — is removed from equity and recognised in profit
or loss.

Impairment losses on equity instruments that were recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit
or loss in a subsequent period.

(r) Trade and other payables

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost due to their short term nature and they are
not discounted. They represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the
financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect
of the purchase of these goods and services. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days
of recognition.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(s) Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair values, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any differences between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest
method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

(t) Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. Other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

(u) Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The
liability is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher of the amount determined in accordance
with AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially recognised
less cumulative amortisation, where appropriate. The fair value of financial guarantees is determined as the
present value of the difference in net cash flows between the contractual payments under the debt instrument
and the payments that would be required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that would be payable
to a third party for assuming the obligations. Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of
associates are provided for no compensation, the fair values are accounted for as contributions and recognised
as part of the cost of the investment.

(v) Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations are recognised when the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will
be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present
value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(w) Employee benefits
() Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave
expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employee's services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured
at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liability for annual leave and
accumulating sick leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. All other short-term employee
benefit obligations are presented as payables.

(i) Other long-term employee benefit obligations

To the extent the provision for long service leave is not expected to be settled within 12 months, the provision
is recognised as a non-current provision in the consolidated balance sheet. The provision for long service leave
is measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by
employees up to the end of the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels,
experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using
interest rates on national government guaranteed securities with terms to maturity that match, as closely as
possible, the estimated future cash flows.

Remeasurements as a result of experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the statement of financial position. If the Group does not
have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting date, regardless of
when the actual settlement is expected to occur.

(ii) Industry long service leave fund

Under the Coal Mining Industry (Long Service Leave Funding) Act 1992, the Group is required to make
contributions to the Coal Mining Industry Long Service Leave Scheme (Long Service Leave Fund) for long
service leave payments to employees under the terms of various coal mining industry awards. Where
appropriate, a corresponding entitiement to reimbursement from the Long Service Leave Fund has also been
recognised.

() Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or when
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of current employees
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after reporting
date are discounted to present value.

(x) Dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of
the reporting period.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(y) Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options for the acquisition of a business are not included in the cost of the acquisition as part
of the purchase consideration.

(z) Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and
measurement.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivative, and
available for sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The quoted market
price used for financial assets held by the company is the current bid price; the appropriate quoted market
price for financial liabilities is the current ask price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over the counter
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques. The company uses a variety of methods and makes
assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each reporting date. Quoted market prices or
dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long term debt instruments held. Other techniques, such
as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial
instruments. The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future
cash flows. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market
rates at the reporting date.

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to
approximate their fair values due to their short term in nature.

(aa) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated goods and services tax (GST),
unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of
the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority Is included with other receivables or payables in the
Statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or
financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, is presented as operating
cash flows.

(bb) Rounding of amounts

The company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Legislative Instrument 2016/191, relating to the ‘rounding off’ of

amounts in the financial statements. Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded off in accordance
with the instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.
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3. Critical estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which will seldom equal the
actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies. This
note provides an overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgement or complexity, and of items
which are more likely to be materially adjusted due to estimates and assumptions turning out to be wrong.

Detailed information about each of these estimates and judgements is included in notes to the financial
statements with information about the basis of calculation for each affected line item in the financial statements.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting
date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below or in the related accounting policy note 2. The Group based
its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were
prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to
market change or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the
assumptions when they occur.

(i) Reserves and resources

Reserves and mineral resource estimates are estimates of the amount of coal that can be economically and
legally extracted from the Group’s mining properties. Such reserves and mineral resource estimates and
changes to these may impact the Group’s reported financial position and results in the following way:

¢ The carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets may be affected due to changes in estimated future
cashflows:

o Depreciation and amortisation charges in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
may change where such charges are determined using the UoP method, or where the useful life of the
related assets change;

e Provisions for rehabilitation and environmental provisions may change where reserve estimate changes
affect expectations about when such activities will occur and the associated cost of these activities; and

e The recognition and carrying value of deferred income tax assets may change due to changes in the
judgements regarding the existence of such assets and in estimates of the likely recovery of such assets.

The Group estimates its reserves and mineral resources based on information compiled by appropriately
qualified persons relating to the geological and technical data on the size, depth, shape and grade of the ore
body and suitable production techniques and recovery rates. Such an analysis requires complex geological
judgements to interpret the data. The estimation of recoverable reserves is based upon factors such as
estimates of foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, future capital requirements and production costs, along
with geological assumptions and judgements made in estimating LoM. The last year of mining operations has
been estimated as 2029 with the last year of mine life being estimated at 2032.
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3. Critical estimates and judgements (continued)
(i) Reserves and resources(continued)

Consequently, management will form a view of forecast sales prices based on current and long-term historical
average price trends. For example, if current prices remain above long-term historical averages for an extended
period of time, management may assume that lower prices will prevail in the future. As a result, those lower
prices would be used to estimate reserves and mineral resources under the JORC Code. Lower price
assumptions generally result in lower estimates of reserves. As the economic assumptions used may change
and as additional geological information is produced during the operation of a mine, estimates of reserves and
mineral resources may change.

(ii) Rehabilitation and restoration

The provisions for rehabilitation costs are based on estimated future costs using information available at the
reporting date. To the extent the actual costs differ from these estimates, adjustments will be recorded and the
income statement and balance sheet may be impacted.

The ultimate rehabilitation costs are uncertain, and cost estimates can vary in response to many factors,
including estimates of the extent and costs of rehabilitation activities, technological changes, regulatory
changes, cost increases as compared to the inflation rates, and changes in discount rates. These uncertainties
may result in future actual expenditure differing from the amounts currently provided. Therefore, significant
estimates and assumptions are made in determining the provision for mine rehabilitation. As a result, there
could be significant adjustments to the provisions established which would affect future financial result. The
provision at reporting date represents management’s best estimate of the present value of the future
rehabilitation costs required.

(i) Fair value measurement

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position
cannot be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation
techniques including the discounted cash flow (DCF) model. The inputs to these models are taken from
observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in
establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and
volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial
instruments.

When the fair values of non-financial assets/CGUs need to be determined, for impairment testing purposes, fair
value is measured using valuation techniques including the DCF model.

(iv) Carrying value of property, plant and equipment

The company impaired its property, plant, and equipment in the 2015 financial year resulting in an impairment
expense of $191,036,000 in the prior period. There is significant judgement required in determining whether
assets are impaired, and the extent of those impairments. Management and the Board confirm they have
considered the carrying value of Property, Plant and Equipment of $1,371,000 and consider the value to be
appropriate under the circumstances. To this extent they have exercised their judgment in determining that the
previous impairments of $191,036,000 in the 2015 financial year remain relevant in the current year and it is
not considered appropriate to reverse any past impairments until there is more certainty around the
sustainability of the future coal prices and the US dollar exchange rates.
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3. Critical estimates and judgements (continued)

(v) Accounting for acquisition of the Foxleigh Mine

Judgement is required to determine if control exists from the 70% interest in Foxleigh Mine. Control exists when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Group’s assessment whether or not it controls an
investee requires judgment based on facts and circumstance. Generally, the presumption is power and control
exists with majority voting rights. Management assessed that unanimous agreement is required for all decisions
affecting exposure to and rights to variable returns and Foxleigh Coal alone cannot exert power over the Joint
Venture hence it has determined to account for Joint Arrangements as outlined below.

Judgement is also required to determine whether Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd has joint control, which requires an
assessment of the relevant activities and when the decisions in relation to those activities require unanimous
consent. The Company has determined that the relevant activities for its joint arrangements relate to the
operating and capital decisions of the arrangement, such as: the approval the capital expenditure program for
each year, and appointing, remunerating and terminating the key management personnel of, or service
providers to, the joint arrangement. The considerations made in determining joint control are similar to those
necessary to determine control over subsidiaries.

Judgement is also required to classify a joint arrangement as either a joint operation or joint venture. Classifying
the arrangement requires the Group to assess their rights and obligations arising from the arrangement.
Specifically, it considers:

e The structure of the joint arrangement — whether it is structured through a separate vehicle
¢ When the arrangement is structured through a separate vehicle, the Group also considers the rights and
obligations arising from:

o The legal form of the separate vehicle
o The terms of the contractual arrangement
o Other facts and circumstances (when relevant)

This assessment often requires significant judgement, and a different conclusion on joint control and also
whether the arrangement is a Joint Operation or a Joint Venture, may materially impact the accounting.

The Company has a joint arrangement which is structured through a separate vehicle, Foxleigh Coal
Management Pty Ltd. This structure and the terms of the contractual arrangement indicate that the company
has rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities. It has been concluded that the arrangement is a Joint
Operation.

(vi) Recovery of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences where management considers that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available to utilise those temporary differences. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits over the future years together with future tax
planning strategies.

(vii) Related party debt forgiveness

As part of the Foxleigh Sale and Purchase Agreement Anglo American Metallurgical Coal Assets Pty Ltd (as
the Vendor) must procure that all Intra-Group Debt is discharged in full such that there will be no vendor related
Intra-Group Debt owing. As stated in Note 13, the intra-group loan funding amounted to $592,942,000 as at 31
December 2015 and $604,066,000 prior to the Foxleigh transaction. The directors have exercised their
judgement in accounting for the transaction as a debt forgiveness in other income.
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4. Financial risk management

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group’s overall risk management program seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial
performance of the Group. Risk management is carried out by the executive directors.

At balance date, the Group had the following mix of financial assets and liabilities exposed to variable interest
rate risk that are not designated in cash flow hedges:

2016 2015
($°000) ($°000)

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 64,412 26,602
Trade and other receivables 27,164 11,635
Total 91,576 38,237
Financial liabilities

Borrowings - 592,942
Trade and other payables 24,762 26,495
Total 24,762 619,437

(a) Market risk
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk relates primarily to the Group’s cash (Note 7), short term deposits, and borrowings.
At 31 December, if interest rates had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held

constant, post-tax profit and equity would have been affected as follows:
Interest Rate Risk

Impact on Post Tax Profit/Equity

+1% -0.5%
(100 basis (50 basis
points) points)
31-Dec-16 1,349 (675)
31-Dec-15 383 (191)

The movements in profit are due to higher/lower interest returns from variable rate cash balances, and higher/lower
interest on borrowings. The sensitivity increases and decreases in interest rate have been selected as this is
considered reasonable given the current level of interest rates and the volatility observed and market expectations
for potential future movements.
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4. Financial risk management (continued)
(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, expressed in Australia dollars, is
as follows:

2016 2015

US$ Us$
Cash and cash equivalents 49,680 18,855
Trade and other receivables 6,630 5,474

As shown above, the Group is primarily exposed to US/$ exchange rates. The sensitivity of profit or loss changes
arises mainly from US dollar receivables and US cash at bank accounts held by the Group at reporting date.

At 31 December 2016, had the Australian Dollar moved, with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit and
equity would have been affected as follows:

+10% -10%
usD usD

31-Dec-16 (5,119) 6,257

31-Dec-15 (2,212) -

The sensitivity increases and decreases in exchange rate have been selected as this is considered reasonable
given the current level of exchange rates and the volatility observed and market expectations for potential future
movements.

(iv) Commodity risk

Commodity price risk relates to the risk that fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices largely due to demand and supply factors for commodities. As at reporting
date commodity prices are better principally in Coal, however the Group is considering implementing strategies to
protect itself from fluctuations in the future.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and
other receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from potential default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of the financial assets (as outlined in each applicable note).

The Group does not hold any credit derivatives to offset its credit exposure.

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties, and as such collateral is not requested nor is it
the Group’s policy to securitise its trade and other receivables.
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4,

Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the financial liabilities of the Group and the Group’s subsequent ability to meet their
obligations to repay their financial liabilities as and when they fall due.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank overdrafts, loans, finance leases and committed available credit lines. The table below reflects all
contractually fixed pay-offs and receivables for settlement, repayments and interest resulting from recognised
financial liabilities. Cash flows for financial assets and liabilities without fixed amount or timing are based on
the conditions existing at 31 December 2016.

The remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities are:

At 31 December 2016

0 to 3 months 3 to 12 months More than 12 Total ($°000)
($°000) ($°000) months
($°000)
Trade and other payables 24,762 - - 24,762
Borrowings
Total Financial Liabilities 24,762 - - 24,762
At 31 December 2015
0 to 3 months 3 to 12 months More than 12 Total ($°000)
($°000) ($°000) months
($°000)
Trade and other payables 26,495 - - 26,495
Borrowings - 592,942 - 592,942
Total Financial Liabilities 26,495 592,942 - 619,437

5. Revenue and expenditure from continuing operations

Middlemount South Pty Ltd (“Middlemount”), a 99.9% subsidiary of Realm Resources Limited, completed
the Foxleigh Transaction (“Transaction”) with Anglo American Metallurgical Coal Assets Pty Ltd (“Anglo”)
on 29 August 2016. As a result, Foxleigh Coal Pty Limited became a wholly owned subsidiary of
Middlemount and indirectly also acquired Anglo’s 67% in CAML which holds a 60% in the Foxleigh Joint
Venture resulting in the Realm Group's total direct and indirect interest of 70%. There was no change in the
shareholding of CAML Resources Pty Ltd.

These financial statements have been prepared as Foxleigh has traded retrospectively to have
comparable results and to comply with the Corporations Act.
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5. Revenue and expenditure from continuing operations(continued)

(a) Revenue from continuing operations 2016 2015
($°000) ($°000)
Sale of goods 237,826 201,517
Interest revenue 104 1,222
Rental income 101 114
205 1,336
238,031 202,853
(b) Other income

Foreign exchange gains 1,369 5114
Related party debt forgiveness 604,066 -
Other income 117 72
605,552 5,186

(c) Amount included in cost of sales

Amortisation and Depreciation - 15,803
Stock movement (5,181) 7,458
Contractor costs 25,410 37,792
Materials 40,407 58,300
Wages 39,687 41,482
Equipment hire 11,697 19,852
Royalties 18,254 14,001
Rehabilitation 2,347 5,356

(d) Amount included in other Distribution costs

Rail costs 24,514 24,348

Port costs 11,404 12,434
(e) Other

Impairment - 191,036

Note (e) - During 2015, the company recognised impairments of $191,036,000 to property, plant and
equipment. The charge relates to impairment of property, plant and equipment at the Foxleigh operations
principally driven by the decline in high quality pulverised coal injection coal prices.
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6. Income tax

(a) Income tax expense

Current income tax

Deferred taxes

Recoupment of prior year tax losses
Adjustments for current tax of prior periods

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie
tax payable

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations
At the company income tax rate of 30% (2015: 30%)

Tax effect of amounts which are not-deductible/taxable (deductible/non
-assessable) in calculating taxable income:

- Legal expenses
- Debt forgiveness
- Depreciation
Sub-total

Unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognised as Deferred
Tax Assets

Unrecognised temporary differences
Adjustment of current tax in prior periods
Adjustments for deferred tax of prior periods

2016 2015
$°000 $°000

3,900 -

- 6,782

- (1,158)

3,900 5,624

651,516 (251,490)

195,454 (75,447)

600 -

(181,219) -

(2,628) -

12,207 -

(8,307) 53,004

- 24,191

- (1,158)

- 5,034

3,900 5,624

The Group has not recognised a net deferred tax asset on the statement of financial position estimated at

$12,860,913 in respect of temporary differences relating to various provisions and prepayments.

7. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand
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8. Trade and other receivables

Current

Trade receivables

Allowance for impairment loss

Carrying amount of trade and other receivables
Other receivables

Non-current
Receivables from related party(i)
Other

2016 2015
$°000 $°000
6,860 5,611
6,860 5,611
8,338 6,024
15,198 11,635
11,966 39,249
- 1,310
11,966 40,559

(i)The 2015 balance of $39,249,000 was in relation to tax related amounts receivable from a related party. Note
subsequent to the Foxleigh transaction with Middlemount South, the company is no longer part of the tax
consolidated regime hence this receivable has been reversed against the tax consolidation reserve amounts

previously recognised in statement of changes in equity.

9. Inventories

Stores (at cost)
Allowance for impairment

Coal in production and finished goods
Total inventories

10. Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets include the following classes of financial assets:

Unlisted equity securities (a)

(a) Unlisted securities

2016 2015
$000 $000
10,202 11,080
(1,899) (1,290)
8,303 9,790
17,168 11,970
25,471 21,760

2016 2015

$°000 $000
29 29

Unlisted securities represent shares in Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal Pty Ltd. The company owns 0.066% (2015:

0.066%) of the issued capital of Dalrymple Bay Coal terminal Pty Ltd.
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11. Property, plant and equipment

Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the period

Year ended 31 December
2016

At 1 January 2016 net of
accumulated depreciation

Additions

Acquisition — Foxleigh capital
works
Disposals

Depreciation charge for the
year

At 31 December 2016 net of
accumulated depreciation-
Net carrying amount

At 31 December 2016

Cost at fair value
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Capital
works
(%,000)

1,371

Coal

Reserves &

Mining
rights
($,000)

Development

Total
($°000)

1,371

1,371

1,371

1,371

1,371

1,371

1,371
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11.Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and end of the period (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2015

At 1 January 2015 net of
accumulated depreciation

Impairment

Additions

Depreciation charge for the year
Transfers

Disposals

Other

At 31 December 2015 net of
accumulated depreciation- Net
carrying amount

At 31 December 2015

Cost at fair value
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Capital Coal Mine
Land and Plant and works Reserves & Development Total
Buildings equipment ($,000) Mining ($,000) ($°000)
($°000) ($°000) rights
($,000)
28,647 44,608 11,849 101,943 15,581 202,628
(26,276) (43,382) (9,689) (98,074) (13,615) (191,036)
- 5,374 - - 5,374
(2,455) (7,513) - (3,869) (1,966) (15,803)
84 7,450 (7,534) - - -
- (52) - - - (52)
- (1,111) - - - (1,111)
35,127 132,532 - 747,853 28,526 944,038
(35,127) (132,532) - (747,853) (28,526) (944,038)
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12. Trade and other payables

2016 2015

Current $°000 $°000
Trade payables 11,556 21,778
Other payables 13,208 4,717
Carrying amount of trade and other payables 24,764 26,495

Fair value
Due to the short-term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

13. Borrowings
Current
Owing to related party - 592,942

Represents an unsecured, interest bearing loan from Anglo American Metallurgical Coal Finance Ltd. As part of
the Foxleigh Sale and Purchase Agreement, all intra-group loans were required to be discharged fully before the
Foxleigh transaction. This debt was forgiven before the acquisition date of 29 August 2016. Total amounts
forgiven were $604,066,000 which included capitalised interest of $13,096,000. Refer to note 3(vii) for significant
judgement exercised in accounting for this transaction as debt forgiveness.

14. Provisions

Employee Environmental
entitlements Rehabilitation Total
($7000) ($°000) ($7000)
At 1 January 2016 11,964 33,494 45,458
Arising/(utilised) during the year (2,804) 1,500 (1,304)
At 31 December 2016 9,160 34,994 44,154
2016
Current 8,625 7,491 16,116
Non-current 535 27,503 28,038
9,160 34,994 44,154
2015
Current 10,592 2,117 12,709
Non-current 1,372 31,377 32,749
11,964 33,494 44,458

The provision for environmental rehabilitation is based on actual disturbances at 31 December 2016. The estimated
costs to rehabilitate the disturbances as at that date were calculated in accordance with the Department of
Environmental and Heritage Protection (“DEHP”) Guidelines: Financial assurance under the environmental
protection Act 1994. The timing of the expected rehabilitations was then estimated by the environmental
management team, and the actual expected costs increased by an inflationary adjustment of 2.5% to quantify the
expected future rehabilitation costs per year. These amounts were then discounted back at a rate of 11.96%.
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15. Capital management
When managing capital, management’s objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern as well
as to maintain optimal returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. Management also aims to

maintain a capital structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital available to the entity.

As the equity market is constantly changing, management may issue new shares to provide for future expansion
and development activity.

16. Retained earnings

Movements in retained earnings (accumulated losses) were as follows:

2016 2015
($°000) ($°000)

Balance 1 January (559,556) (355,446)

Net profit(loss) attributable to owners of Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd 647,616 (257,114)

Tax consolidation adjustment (39,247) 53,004

48,813 (559,556)
17. Statement of cash flow reconciliation
Reconciliation of net profit after tax to net cash flows from
operations

Net profit/(loss) 647,616 (257,114)
Adjustments for:
Impairment of non-current assets - 191,036
Depreciation and amortisation - 15,803
Debt forgiveness (604,066) -
Capitalised interest 13,096 -
Allowance for stock impairments 610 -
Non-cash rehabilitation costs 1,500 1,111
Net gain on sale of non-current assets - 52
Net exchange difference (313) (171)
Interest capitalised to loan - 16,114
Changes in assets and liabilities
(increase)/decrease in inventories (4,320) 4,867
(increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (4,505) 3,778
(Increase)/decrease in tax related balances with related party - 13,309
(increase)/decrease in current tax assets 3,823 2,760
(increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets - 5,034
Increase/(decrease) in income tax payable 3,900 -
(decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (1,732) 1,581
(decrease)/increase in employee provisions (2,805) 4,488
Net cash generated from operating activities 52,804 2,648
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18. Related party transactions

(a) Ultimate parent

Realm Resources Limited is the ultimate parent entity.

(b) Subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 19.

(c) Key management personnel (“KMP”)

All the directors and senior executive personnel of the Parent entity Middlemount South are the key management
personnel of Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd. These personnel are remunerated by parent entity and the ultimate holding
company accordingly.

19. Significant Investments in subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 2(b)(i) and (ii):

Equity interest Investment
Equity Holding
Name of entity Country of Class of 2016 2015
incorporation shares % %

CAML Pty Limited (Subsidiary of Fox Coal Pty

Limited) Australia Ordinary 66.67 66.67
Foxleigh Management Services Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100
Foxleigh Services Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100

The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held for each of the subsidiaries
listed above except in the case of Foxleigh Management Services Pty Ltd and Foxleigh Services Pty Ltd. Refer
to note 2(b)(ii) for the accounting policy for the basis of accounting for jointly controlled operation.

Interest in Foxleigh jointly controlled operation
The Group's interest in the Foxleigh Joint Venture is held both directly (30%) and indirectly via its 66.67% interest

in CAML Resources Ply Ltd. CAML Resources Ply Ltd holds a 60% in the Foxleigh Joint Venture resulting in the
Group's total indirect interest of 40%.
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20. Parent entity disclosures

2016 2015

($°000) ($°000)

Current assets 27,196 17,962
Current liabilities 17,406 16,631
Total assets 40,049 18,535
Total liabilities 29,422 218,091
Net assets/(liability) 10,627 (199,556)
Contributed Equity - -
Retained profits/ (accumulated losses) 10,627 (199,556)
10,627 (199,556)

Profit/(loss) for the year 612,658 (124,649)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) - -
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 612,658 (124,649)

Parent Contingent Liabilities - -

Parent Contractual Commitments for Acquisition of Property, Plant
and Equipment - -

Refer also note 22 for details of guarantees made.
21. Auditor’s remuneration

The auditor of Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd is RSM Australia Partners. Audit and assurance related fees are paid by the
ultimate holding company.

22. Commitments and contingencies

(a) Mining leases

2016 2015
($°000) ($°000)
Less than one year 371 371
Later than one year but no later than 5 years 1,576 1,576
Later than 5 years 6,801 7,172
8,748 9,119

In addition to above the group leases various offices, CHPP Telehandler and photocopiers under non-cancellable
operating leases expiring in 3 years. The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. On
renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated. At the reporting date commitments relating to these were
$175,000, of which $55,000 is for less than a year.
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22. Commitments and contingencies (continued)

(b) Capital expenditure commitments

At 31 December 2016, the Group has capital expenditure commitments totaling approximately $20,478,000 all due
to be spent within the next 12 months from the reporting date (2015: Nil).

(c) Contingent liabilities

Guarantees

Bank guarantees are held by the group is totaling US98,500,000 as a requirement of mining leases held with the
Queensland Government. The financial assurance requirement relates to rehabilitation obligations in respect of
land disturbed. These are not considered as contingent liabilities as the obligation to incur rehabilitation costs have
been fully provided for in note 14.

23. Events after the balance sheet date

Subsequent to the reporting date a voluntary restructuring program commenced. At the date of this report, over
$11,000,000 has been paid in termination payments.

In addition to the above, the Queensland government approved the Mine Plan and as a result financial
guarantees required to rehabilitate and restore the Mine were decreased from $86,000,000 to $76,000,000.

Other than above, no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2016 that has significantly
affected, or may significantly effect:

(d) The Group’s operations in future financial years, or

(e)  The results of those operations in future financial years, or
(f) The Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.
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Directors’ declaration

For the year ended 31 December 2016
Directors’ Declaration

1. In the opinion of the directors:

(@) The financial statements and notes and on pages 26 to 40 are in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:

(i giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 December 2016
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(i)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other
mandatory professional reporting requirements; and

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when
they become due and payable.

2. The notes to the financial statements include a statement of compliance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.
This declaration is in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Glen Lewis
Director

Sydney
9 June 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT Level 13, 60 Castlereagh Street Sydney NSW 2000
To the Members of Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd GPO Box 5138 Sydney NSW 2001
(formerly Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd) T+61(0) 28226 4500

F+61(0) 2 8226 4501
Opinion

WWW.rsm.com.au
We have audited the financial report of Foxleigh Coal Pty Ltd

(the Company) (formerly Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprises the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies, and the directors' declaration.

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 31 December 2016 and of its financial
performance for the year then ended; and

(i) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial
report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to
the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor's
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Group's annual report for the year ended 31 December 2016, but does not include the financial report and
the auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

42
THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTOOD
AUDIT| TAX| CONSULTING § v
RSM Australia Partners is a member of the RSM network and trades as RSM. RSM is the trading name used by the members of the RSM network. Each member of the B
RSM network is anindependent accounting and consulting firm which practices inits own right. The RSM network is notitself a separate legal entity in any jurisdiction. § /
RSM Australia Partners ABN 36 965185 036 Quality

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation



Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/Pronouncements/Australian-Auditing-
Standards/Auditors-Responsibilities.aspx. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

Y& v/

RSM Australia Partners

p '/ —;‘ . .
i / S
A@d

‘// Partner

Sydney, 9 June 2017
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This financial report covers the financial statements of Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd as a consolidated entity
consisting of Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd (‘the parent’) and the entities it controlled during the year. The
financial statements are presented In the Australian dollars.

Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd is a proprietary company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.
Its registered office and principal place of business is:

Ground Floor
201 Charlotte street
Brisbane Queensland 4000

A description of the nature of the group's operations and its principal activities is included in note 25.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 30 March 2016. The directors have
the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.



Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd
Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014
Notes $'000 $'000
Revenue from continuing operations
Sale of goods 2 201,517 211,540
Other revenue from continuing activities 2 1,336 543
202,853 212,083

Other income 3 5,186 13,327
Expenses
Cost of goods sold (205,765) (198,591)
Other expenses from continuing operations

Distribution (41,180) (39,843)

Marketing (1,702) (1,003)

Administration (1,207) (1,136)

Impairment of non-current assets 4 (191,036) (102,606)
Finance costs 4 (18,653) (19,170)
Share of profit from associates 14 10
Loss before income tax (251,490) (136,929)
Income tax (expense) / benefit 5 (5,624) 38,450
Loss for the year (257,114) (98,479)
Loss is attributable to:

Owners of Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd (257,114) (98,479)

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
1



Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014
$'000 $'000
Loss for the year (257,114) (98,479)
Other comprehensive Income
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year (257,114) (98,479)
Total comprehensive loss for the year is attributable to:
Owners of Angio Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd (257,114) (98,479)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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Anglo Coal (Foxieigh) Pty Ltd
Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2015

2015 2014

Notes $'000 $'000
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 26,602 34,458
Trade and other receivables 7 11,635 15,136
Inventories 8 21,760 26,627
Current tax receivables 9 3,823 6,583
Other current assets 10 931 842
Total current assets 64,751 83,646
Non-current assets
Other receivables 11 1,310 1,676
Property, plant and equipment 12 . 202,628
Investments accounted for using the equity method 29 29
Deferred tax assets 13 - 5,034
Other non-current assets 14 39,249 -
Totalnon-current assets 40,588 209,367
Total assets 105,339 293,013
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15 26,495 24,984
Provisions 16 12,709 12,229
Total current liabilities 39,204 37,213
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 17 592,942 581,009
Trade and other payables - 1,050
Provisions 18 32,749 28,741
Other non-current liabilities 19 - 446
Total non-current liabilitles 625,691 611,246
Total liabilities 664,895 648,459
Net liabilities (559,556) (355,446)
EQUITY / (DEFICIT)
Accumulated losses 20(a) (559,556) (355,446)
Total deficit (559,556) (355,446)

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance at 1 January 2014

Loss for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

Balance at 31 December 2014

Balance at 1 January 2015

Loss for the year
Tax consolidation adjustment
Balance at 31 December 2015

Anglo Coal (Foxieigh) Pty Ltd
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2015

Accumulated Total
losses equity
Notes $'000 $'000
(256,967) (256,967)
(98,479) (98,479)
(98,479) (98,479)
(355,446) (355,446)
(355,446) (355,446)
(257,114) (257,114)
20 53,004 53,004
(559,556) (559,556)

The above consolidated stalement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying

notes.



Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax)

Payments to suppliers, government and employees (inclusive of goods

and services tax)

Finance costs

income taxes received

Insurance proceeds

Net cash inflow / from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Net cash outflow from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from financing activities

Net (decrease) / Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

Anglo Coal (Foxlelgh) Pty Ltd
Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014
Notes  $'000 $000

228,932 246,331
(241,314) (246,951)
(451) (1,027)

15,481 2,432

- 10,131

23 2,648 10,916
6,494) (9,995)
6,494) (9,995)
(4,181) (492)
(4,181) (492)

(8,027) 429

34,458 34,085
171 (56)

6 26,602 34,458

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015
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Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

Notes tothe consolidated financial statements
31 December2015

(continued)

1 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The
financial statements are for the consolidated entity consisting of Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd and its controlled
entities (‘the group').

(a) Basis of preparation

(i) Special purpose financial report

In 2015, Anglo American pic, the ultimate parent entity, announced that it plans to divest its interest in the
Foxleigh operations. The directors have prepared this special purpose financial report (the 'Financial
Statements') for the sole purpose of providing information as part of the divestment process of the company and

must not be used for any other purpose.

In the directors' opinion, the group is a for-profit non-reporting entity because there are no users dependent on
general purpose financial reports. As a wholly-owned controlled subsidiary of Anglo American Australia Limited,
pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 the company has relief from the requirement to prepare and lodge an
audited financial report under the Corporations Act 2007 and as such is not required to prepare standalone
financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with:

+ the basis of accounting specified by all Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations.

« the disclosure requirements of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, AASB 107 Statement of
Cash Flows, AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Eirors, AASB 1031
Materiality and AASB 1048 Interpretation of Standards.

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis which contemplates the continuity of
normal business activities and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of
business. The ability of the group to continue as a going concern is dependent on the continued funding support
of the group's parent entity. Funding is currently provided through a facility with Anglo American Metallurgical
Coal Finance Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Anglo American Australia Limited) under the terms of which
the group can apply for funding as required. Given the historic practice of providing funding, the relationship
between the lender and the group, the directors have no cause for concem that the funding will not continue. At
the date of signing these financial statements the parentis in the process of divesting of its interest in the group.
Once the divestment is completed, the group will be under the control of a new parent entity that will determine
the group's future direction and funding requirements.

The pending divestment of the group and the resultant change in the group's parent entity gives rise to significant
uncertainty as to whether the group will be able to continue as a going concern and therefore, whether the group
will be able to realise its assets and settle its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts
stated in the financial report. These financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the
recoverability and classification of recorded assets, or o the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be
necessary should the company be unable to continue as a going concern.

The preparation of the financial report requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group's accounting policies.

(i) Historical cost convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of available-for-sale financia! assets, financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments)
at fair value through profit or loss, and certain classes of property, plantand equipment and investment property.



Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(di) Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Material estimates include:

« usefuleconomiclives of assets and coal reserves;

» key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount of assets, in particular
+ commodity prices and exchange rates;
+ capital and operating expenditure; and
« availablereserves and resources.

» restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs are estimated using either the work of external consultants
or internal experts. Management uses its judgement and experience to provide for, discount and depreciate
these costs over the timeframe the rehabilitation activities are expected to occur. Predominantly this
timeframe is three years beyond the life of mine.

« the assessment of fair value is principally used in accounting for business combinations, impairment testing,
and the valuation of certain financial assets and liabilities.

+ on an ongoing basis the group is a party to various legal disputes, the outcomes of which cannot be
assessed with a high degree of certainty. A liability is recognised where, based on the group's legal views
and advice, it Is considered probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle a present
obligation that can be measured reliably. Disclosure of other contingent liabilities is made in note 21 unless
the possibility of a loss arising is considered remote.

The use of inaccurate assumptions in calculations for any of these estimates could result in a significant impact
on the financial results.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and any future periods affected.

(v) New and amended standards adopted by the group

In the current year, the group adopted all of the new and revised standards and interpretations issued by the
Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are relevant and applicable to its operations, effective for
annual reporting periods beginning 1 January 2015. These changes did not have a material impact on the
financial statements.

(v) Early adoption of standards
The group did not early adopt any new accounting standards and interpretations.

(vi) New accounting standards and interpretations not yet effective

New accounting standards, amendments to accounting standards and interpretations that are not yet effective for
the year ending 31 December 2015 have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. It is not
expected that these willhave a significant impact on the financial statements of the group.

Effective for annual reporting periods Expected to be initially applied in the

Standard / Interpretation beginning on or after financial year ending
AASB 9 'Financial Instruments’ 1 January 2018 31 December 2018

AASB 15°' Revenuefrom Contracts

with Customers' and AASB 2014-5

'Amendments to Australian

Accounting Standards arising from

AASB 15' 1 January 2018 31 December 2018

AASB 16'Leases’ 1 January 2019 31 December 2019

The potential effect of these Standards/Interpretations on the group's financial statements has notyet been
determined.



Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Principles of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Anglo Coal
(Foxeigh) Pty Ltd (‘company' or 'parent entity’) as at 31 December 2015 and the resuits of all subsidiaries for the
year then ended. Anglo Coal (Foxeigh) Pty Ltd and its subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report
as the group or the consolidated entity.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the group has control. The group controls an
entity when the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those retums through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated from the date
that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated balance sheet.

(i) Joint arrangements

Under AASB 11 Joint Arrangements investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or
joint ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than
the legal structure of the joint arrangement. Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd has joint operations.

Joint operations

Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd Limited recognises its direct right to the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses
of joint operations and its share of any jointly held or incurred assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These
have been incorporated in the financial statements under the appropriate headings.

The group's 70% proportionate interest in the assets, liabilities and expenses of the Foxleigh Joint Venture
operation have been incorporated in the financial statements under the appropriate headings. The group's
interest in the Foxlelgh Joint Venture is held both directly (30%) and indirectly via its 66.67% interest in CAML
Resources Pty Ltd. CAML Resources Pty Ltd holds a 60% in the Foxleigh Joint Venture resulting in the group's
total indirect interest of 40%.

Anglo Coal (Foxlelgh Management) Pty Ltd has been contracted by the group and other participants of the Joint
Venture to manage, supervise and conduct the operations of the Foxleigh Joint Venture. As operator, Anglo Coal
(Foxleigh Management) Pty Ltd enters into transactions (including employment and supply agreements) on
behalf of the Foxleigh Joint Venture. All transactions entered into by Anglo Coal (Foxleigh Management) Pty Ltd
for the benefit of the Foxlelgh Joint Venture are accounted for in the books of the Foxleigh Joint Venture.

Anglo Coal (Foxleigh Services) Pty Ltd is an employment company which enters into transactions of employment
on behalf of the Foxleigh Joint Venture. All transactions entered into by Anglo Coal (Foxeigh Services) Pty Ltd
for the benefit of the Foxleigh Joint Venture are accounted for in the books of the Foxleigh Joint Venture.

(iif) Sales companies

Foxleigh Sales & Marketing Pty Ltd acts as the sales agent for the group and the other Joint Venture participants.
The company proportionally consolidates 70% of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of Foxleigh Sales
& Marketing Pty Ltd.



Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic envionment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency'). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd's functional and
presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settiement of such
transactions and from the translation atyear end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated income statement, except when they are deferred in
equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net
investment in a foreign operation.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss, are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets, such as
equities classified as available for sale financial assets, are included in the fair value reserve in equity.

(iii)) Group companies
All of the group entities have a functional currency of Australian dollars ('AUD").

(d) Revenue recognition

(i) Salesrevenue
Sales revenue is recognised when the below criteria have been met and is received, on average, within 25 days
of sale.

Amounts are recognised when there has been a passing of risk to a customer, and:

+ the product is in a form suitable for delivery and no further processing is required by, or on behalf of, the
group;

« the quantity and quality of the product can be determined with reasonable accuracy;

« the product has been dispatched to the customer and is no longer under the physical control of the group (or
property in the producthas earlier passed to the customer); and

« the selling price can be determined with reasonable accuracy.

(ii) interestincome

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the
financial asset.

(iii) Dividends

Dividends are recognised as revenue when the right  receive payment is established.

(iv) Management fee income

Management fee income is recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is established.

10



Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Revenue recognition (continued)

(v) Government grants
Grants from the Government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the consolidated income statement over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in non-current
liabilities as deferred income and are credited to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over

the expected lives of the related assets.

(vi) Royalties
Royalties and other mining imposts are accrued and charged against earmings when the liability from production
or sale of the mineral crystallises.

(e) Exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is written off in the yearin which it is incurred. When a decision is taken
that a mining property has become viable for commercial production, all further pre-production expenditure is
capitalised (refer note 1(r)).

(f) Maintenance and repairs

Plantof the group is required to be overhauled on a regular basis. This is managed as part of an ongoing major
cyclical maintenance program.

The costs of this maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the replacement
of a component of an asset, in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated in accordance with note
1(0). Other routine operating maintenance, repair costs and minor renewals are also charged as expenses as
incurred.

(g) Income tax

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on the current period's taxable income based
on the national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the financial statements, and o unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences atthe tax rates expected to apply
when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or
substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of
deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exceptionis made
for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability. No deferred tax asset
or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose In a transaction, other than a
business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or the taxable profit
or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utllise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offsetcurrenttax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assetand settle the liability simultaneously.
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Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

{g) Income tax (continued)

Currentand deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised
directly in equity.

Royalties and resource rent taxes are treated as taxation arrangements when they have the characteristics of a
tax. This is considered to be the case when they are imposed under government authority and the amount
payable is calculated by reference to revenue derived (net of any allowable deductions) after adjustment for
temporary differences. For such arrangements, current and deferred tax is provided on the same basis as
described above for other forms of taxation. Obligations arising from royalty arrangements that do not satisfy
these criteria are recognised as current payables andincluded In expenses.

Tax consolidation legislation

The tax consolidation legislation allows a group of corporate entities comprising a parent entity and its Australian
wholly owned entities to elect to form a tax consolidated group and be treated as a single entity for income tax
purposes.

Entities in the wholly owned group, of which the group is a subsidiary, elected to form a tax consolidated group
from 1 July 2002 and notified the Australian Taxation Office (ATO") of this election on 27 February 2004.
Accordingly, Interpretation 1052 Tax Consolidation Accounting has been applied in preparing these financial
statements.

The head company of the tax consolidated group is Anglo American Australia Limited. Wholly owned entities in
the tax consolidated group were not separate taxable entities during the reporting period.

Tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the
members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of
the tax-consolidated group using the 'stand alone taxpayer’ approach by reference to the camying amounts in the
separate financial statements of each entity and the tax cost or adjustable values of the assets of the entity,
which are deemed to be held by the head company for tax consolidation purposes. Current tax liabilities and
assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and relevant tax credits arising from this allocation
process are then accounted for as immediately assumed by the head company, on the basis the head company
has the legal obligation (or right) to these amounts under Australian taxation law.

Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing agreements

Entities within the tax-consolidated group have entered into a Tax Sharing Deed ('TSD’) with the head entity,
which incorporates a tax funding arrangement and a tax sharing agreement. The TSD gives effect to the
following:

« the group's tax liability is allocated on the basis of notional taxable income to all members whose notional
taxable income is more than zero, being the contribution amounts;

< anydeferred tax balances (including deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and relevant tax
credits) arising each year that are assumed/received by the head entity are receivable / payable between

each contributing member and the head entity; and
- intercompany tax related payables are only paid by the contributing member when the head entity has paid

the liability to the ATO, and any tax losses incurred are paid for by the transferee company and received by
each loss company under the TSD.

Due to the existence of the TSD between the entities in the tax-consolidated group, amounts are recognised as
payable to or receivable by the head entity and each member of the group in relation to the tax contribution
amounts paid or payable between the head entity and the other members of the tax-consolidated group in
accordance with the arrangement.

Where the tax contribution amount recognised by each member of the tax-consolidated groupfor a particular
period is different to the aggregate of the current tax liability or asset, deferred tax assets (including those arising

from unused tax losses and tax credits) and deferred tax liabilities in respect of that period, the difference is
recognised as a contribution from (or distribution to) equity participants through retained earnings.
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Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the group, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease's inception at the fair
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding
rental obligations, net of finance charges, areincluded in other short-term and long-term payables. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the consolidated
income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is
depreciated over the asset's useful life or over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term if there is
no reasonable certainty thatthe group will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the group as
lessee are classified as operating leases (note 22). Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the period of the lease.

Lease income from operating leases where the group is a lessor Is recognised in income on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. The respective leased assets are included in the consolidated balance sheet based on their

nature.
The group did not have any finance leases at the reporting date.

() Impairment of assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Assets that are
subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate thatthe carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of
the impairment at each reporting date.

() Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions and other short
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

(k) Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fairvalue and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less
provision for doubtful debts.

The ability to collect amounts owed by trade and other receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which
are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision for doubtful debts is established when there is objective
evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.
The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short term receivables
are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. The amount of the provision is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.
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Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(I) Inventories

inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the amount estimated
to be obtained from sale or use of the item of inventory in the normal course of business, less any anticipated
costs to be incurred prior to its sale or use.

Coal stockpiles

Costs, including an appropriate portion of fixed and variable overhead expenses (including depreciation and
amortisation), are assigned to inventory on hand on the basis of a 12 month rolling average.

Spare parts and consumables

Inventories of consumable supplies and spare parts expected to be used in production are valued at weighted
average cost. Cost represents the purchase price and other costs incurred in the normal course of operations in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Obsolete or damaged inventories are valued at
net realisable value. A regular and ongoing review is undertaken to establish the extent of surplus items, and a
provision is made for any potential loss on their disposal. insurance and capital spare parts are capitalised and
depreciated over the same remaining life as the equipment with which they are associated.

Major capital spare parts are capitalised and depreciated over the same remaining life as the equipment with
which they are associated.

(m) Investments and other financial assets

Classification

The group classifies its investments in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables, held to maturity investments, and available for sale financial assets. T he classification
depends on the nature and purpose of the investments and financial assets. Management detemines the
classification of its investments and financial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at each
reporting date.

() Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is
classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as
current assets if they are expected to be settled within 12 months; otherwise they are classified as non-current.

(i) Loansand receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12
months after the reporting period which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included
in trade and other receivables (note 7) and other receivables (note 11) in the consolidated balance sheet.

(ii) Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. if the group were
to sell other than an Insignificant amount of held-to-maturity financial assets, the whole category would be tainted
and reclassified as available-for-sale. Held-to-maturity financial assets are included in non-current assets, except
for those with maturities less than 12 months from the end of the reporting period, which are classified as current

assets.
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Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that
are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in
non-current assets unless the investment matures or management intends to dispose of the investment within 12
months of the end of the reporting period. Investments are designated as available-for-sale if they do not have
fixed maturities and fixed or determinable payments and management intends to hold them for the medium to

long-term.

Recognition and derecognition
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date which is the date on which the
group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or
have been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in
other comprehensive income ar e reclassified to the consolidated income statement as gains or losses on
disposal of available-for-sale asset.

Measurement
l.oans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Available-for-sale financial assets are stated at fairvalue. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the available-for-sale investments revaluation
reserve. Dividend income on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in the consolidated income
statement when the group's right to receive the dividend is established.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
category are presented in the consolidated income statement within other income or expenses in the period in
which they arise.

Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement as part of revenue from continuing operations when the group's right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency and classified as
available-for-sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the
security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. The translation differences related to changes
in the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in carying amount are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Changes in the fair value of other monetary and non-monetary securities classified
as available-for-sale are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Impairment

The group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or group of financial assets measured at amortised cost is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only If there is objective evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a loss event) and that loss event (or
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financtal asset or group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated.

If there is evidence of impairment for any of the group’s financial assets carried at amortised cost, the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, excluding future credit losses that have not been Incurred. The cash flows are discounted at the financial
asset's original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

{n) Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives and available
for sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the group is the current bid price; the appropriate quoted market price for financial
liabilities is the current ask price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over the counter
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques. The group uses a variety of methods and makes
assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each reporting date. Quoted market prices or dealer
quotes for similar instruments are used for long term debt instruments held. Other techniques, such as estimated
discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of
forward exchange contracts Is determined using forward exchange market rates at the reporting date.

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate
their fair values due to their short-term nature.

(o) Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. In the event that settlement of all or
part of the purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined by discounting the amounts payable in the
future to their present value as at the date of acquisition.

Property, plant and equipment includes the group's share of the assets of Foxieigh Joint Venture and any fair
value adjustments that arose on acquisition of the group’s interestin its joint operations and any assets held
directly by the group.

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment. Depreciation is calculated on either a straight-line

basis or units-of-production basis so as to write off the net cost of each asset over its expected useful life to its
estimated residual value.

Certain parcels of freehold land have been acquired for the purpose of the extraction of mineral reserves. Such
parcels of freehold land are depreciated in a manner that reflects the benefits to be derived from it, otherwise

freehold land is not depreciated.

The units-of-production basis results in an amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of the recoverable
mineral resources. Each item's economic life has due regard to both its own physical life limitations and to
present assessments of recoverable mineral resources of the mine property at which the item is located, and to
possible future variations in those assessments, where applicable. Estimated lives normally vary from up to the
shorter of mine life and twenty years for items of plant and equipment to the shorter of mine life and forty years
for buildings.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual
reporting period.

An item's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the item's carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 1(i)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included
in the consolidated income statement.

(p) Leasehold improvements

The cost of improvements on leasehold properties is amortised over the unexpired period of the lease or the
estimated useful life of the improvement, whichever is the shorter. Leasehold improvements held at the reporting
date are amortised over the period of the lease.
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Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(q) Non-current assets constructed by the group

The costs of non-current assets constructed by the group includes the cost of all materials used in construction,
direct labour on the project, borrowing costs during construction and an appropriate proportion of variable and
fixed overhead.

(r) Mine development

Mine development represents costs incurred once a development decision has been taken. All future costs of
development subsequent to this decision are capitalised and classified under non current assets as 'Mine

Development.

Mine development costs are amortised either on the units-of-production method or a straight-line method so as to
write off the net cost over its expected useful life.

(s) Deferred stripping

When waste removal activities improve access to ore extracted in the current period, the costs of production
stripping are charged to the consolidated income statement. Where production stripping activity produces access
to ore in future periods the associated costs of waste removal are capitalised within Property, plant and
equipment as deferred development. Components are specific volumes of a mine’s ore body that are determined
by reference to the Life of Mine plan.

All amounts capitalised in respect of waste removal are depreciated using the unit-of-production method based
on the component of the ore body to which they relate.

(t) Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the group prior to the reporting date which
are unpaid.

The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
(u) Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in the consolidated income statement over the period of the borrowings, using the effective
interest rate method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facllitles, which are notincremental costs relating to the actual draw down
of the facility, are recognised as prepayments and amortised on a straight line basis over the term of the facility.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

(v) Borrowing coste

Interest on borrowings directly relating to the financing of qualifying capital projects under construction is added
to the capitalised cost of those projects during the construction phase, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale which, in the case of mining properties, is when they are capable
of commerclal production. Where funds have been borrowed specifically to finance a project, the amount
capitalised represents the actual borrowing costs incurred. Where the funds used to finance a project form part of
general borrowings, the amount capitalised is calcutated using a weighted average of rates applicable to relevant
general borrowings of the group during the period.
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Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(w) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is probable that recovery will be made and the amount of
the receivable can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows.

The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.

Dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the
discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting
period.

(x) Employee benefits

() Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave
expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employee's services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured
at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liability for annual leave and accumulating
sick leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. All other short-term employee benefit obligations
are presented as payables.

() Other long-term employee benefit obligations

To the extent the provision for long service leave is not expected to be settled within 12 months, the provision is
recognised as a non-current provision in the consolidated balance sheet. The provision for long service leave is
measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by
employees up to the end of the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels,
experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using
interest rates on national govemment guaranteed securities with terms to maturity that match, as closely as
possible, the estimated future cash flows.

Remeasurements as a result of experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in
the consolidated income statement.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet If the group does not have
an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting date, regardless of when
the actual settlement is expected to occur.
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Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)

1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(x) Employee benefits (continued)

(i) Industry long service leave fund

Under the Coal Mining Industry (Long Service Leave Funding) Act 1992, the group is required to make
contributions to the Coal Mining Industry Long Service Leave Scheme (Long Service Leave Fund) for long
service leave payments to employees under the terms of various coal mining industry awards.

Where appropriate, a corresponding entitiement to reimbursement from the Long Service Leave Fund has also
been recognised.

() Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or when an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The group recognises termination
benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of current employees according
to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after reporting date are
discounted to present value.

(y) Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental expenditure

An obligation to incur rehabilitation costs arises when the environment is disturbed by the development or
ongoing production of a mine. Costs arising from the installation of plant and other site preparation work
discounted to its net present value, are provided for and capitalised at the start of each project as soon as the
obligation to incur such costs arise. These costs are charged against profits over the life of the operation, through
the depreciation of the asset and the unwinding of the discount on the provision. Changes in the estimated future
costs or in the discount rate applied are added or deducted from the cost of the asset.

Costs for rehabilitation and restoration of subsequent site disturbance made on an ongoing basis during
production are provided for and charged against profits as extraction progresses.

Net present value has been calculated using a nominal discount rate of 5.60% (2014: 5.58%).

A current and non-current balance with respect to the provision for restoration and rehabilitation is disclosed, with
the current portion representing the estimated rehabilitation and restoration work to be undertaken in the coming

year.
(2) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax ('GST'), except:

+ where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of
the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense, or
- for receivables and payables, which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is induded as part of receivables
or payables.
(aa) Comparatives

Comparative amounts have, where necessary, been reclassified so as to be consistent with current year
disclosures.

(ab)Rounding off amounts

Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases,
the nearest dollar.
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2 Revenue

Revenue from continuing operations
Sales revenue
Sale of goods

Revenue from continuing operations
Interest revenue
Rental income

Total revenue from continuing operations

3 Otherincome

Insurance proceeds (refer note (a))
Foreign exchange gains
Otherincome

(a) Insurance proceeds

Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)
2015 2014
$°000 $'000
201,517 211,540
1,222 106
114 437
1,336 543
202,853 212,083
2015 2014
$'000 $'000
- 10,131
5,114 3,153
72 43
5,186 13,327

Final setlement in relation to insurance clalms lodged, as a result of rain and flooding which occurred in 2013,

was received in 2014.
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Anglo Coal (Foxlelgh) Pty Ltd
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)
4 Expenses
2015 2014
Classification of these expenses by nature: $'000 $'000
Coal stock movement 7,458 (13,581)
Contractors and professional services 37,792 31,870
Cost of carbon (9) 523
Depreciation and amortisation expense 15,803 29,852
(Despatch) / demurrage 4,362 4,416
Employee benefits expense 41,482 45,904
Equipment hire 19,852 22,171
Freight costs 36 1,316
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 191,036 102,606
Marketing 1,702 1,003
Materials 58,300 65,475
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 52 -
Other expenses 5,646 4,698
Port costs 12,434 11,869
Rail costs 24,348 22,242
Rates and licences 1,239 650
Rehabilitation movement 5,356 (2,739)
Royalties 14,001 14,904
440,890 343,179
Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses:
Depreciation
Buildings 585 751
Plant and equipment 7,513 7,874
Mine development 1,966 2,055
Total depreciation 10,064 10,680
Amortisation
Coal reserves and mining rights 3,869 17,439
Freehold land 1,786 1,513
Leasehold land - 138
Leasehold improvements 84 82
Total amortisation 5,739 19,172
Finance costs
Interest and finance charges paid / payable 16,565 17,354
Unwinding of discount relating to provisions 2,088 1,816
Total finance costs 18,653 19,170
Impairment of other assets
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (refer note (a)) 191,036 102,606
Total impairment of other assets 191,036 102,606
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Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)

4 Expenses (continued)
{a) Impairment expense

During 2015, the group recognised impairments of $191,036 thousand (2014: $102,606 thousand) to property,
plant and equipment. The 2015 and 2014 impairment changes were principally driven by the decline in high
quality pulverised coal injection coal prices.

5 Income tax (expense)/ benefit

(a) Income tax benefit

2015 2014

$'000 $'000
Current tax expense - 382
Deferred tax expense / (benefit) 6,782 (41,543)
Adjustments for current tax of prior periods - (6,353)
Adjustments for deferred tax of prior periods (1,158) 2,588
Total corporate income tax expense / (benefit) (refer note (i)) 5,624 (44,926)
Minerals resource rent tax expense (refer note (i)) - 6,476
Total income tax expense / (benefit) per the consolidated income statement 5,624 (38,450)

(i) Income tax legislation

Corporate income tax represents income tax under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. The Minerals resource
rent tax represents the income tax under the Mineral Resource Rent Tax Act 2012. This Act was repealed during
2014 resulting in a income tax charge for the year due to the derecognition of the deferred tax asset.

(b} Numerical reconciliation of income tax benefit to prima facie tax payable

2015 2014
$'000 $'000
Loss from continuing operations before income tax benefit (251,490) (136,930)
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2014 - 30%) (75,447) (41,079)
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible / (assessable)
in calculating taxable income:
Effect of unused taxlosses and tax offsets not recognised as deferred tax 53,004 -
Unrecognised temporary differences 23,893 -
Other 298 (82)
1,748 (41,161)
Previously recognised temporary differences now derecognised 5,034 -
Minerals resource rent tax expense - 6,476
Adjustments for current tax and deferred tax of prior periods (1,158) (3,765)
Total income tax expense / (benefit) per the consolidated income statement 5,624 (38,450)
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Anglo Coal (Foxlelgh) Pty Ltd
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

6 Current assets - Cash and cash equivalents

2015
$'000

Cash at bank and in hand 26,602

(continued)

2014
$'000

34,458

(a) Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year

The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the consolidated statement

of cash flows as follows:

2015 2014

. $'000 $'000
Balances as above 26,602 34,458
Balances per consolidated statement of cash flows 26,602 34,458

7 Current assets - Trade and other receivables

2015 2014

$'000 $'000
Trade receivables 5,611 9,251
Other receivables 6,024 5,885
11,635 15,136
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8 Currentassets - Inventories

Stores
Stores at cost
Stores allowance for obsolescence

Work in progress
Work in progress at net realisable value

Finished goods
Finished goods at net realisable value

Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

9 Current assets - Current tax receivables

Current tax receivables

10 Current assets - Other current assets

Prepayments

11 Non-current assets - Other receivables

Other receivables

(continued)
2015 2014
$'000 $'000
11,080 8,485
(1,290) (1,285)
9,790 7,200
1,198 7,108
10,772 12,319
21,760 26,627
2015 2014
$'000 $'000
3,823 6,583
3,823 6,583
2015 2014
$'000 $'000
931 842
931 842
2015 2014
$'000 $'000
1,310 1,676
1,310 1,676
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13 Non-current assets - Deferred tax assets

Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Property, plant and equipment
Provisions

Unrealised foreign exchange gains
Other

14 Non-current assets - Other non-current assets

Tax related amounts receivable from related party

15 Current liabilities - Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Sundry payables

16 Current liabilities - Provisions

Annual leave

Long service leave

Other employee benefits

Rehabilitation, restoration and environmental provisions

27

(continued)
2015 2014
$'000 $'000
- (205)
- 6,851
- (1,659)
- 47
- 5,034
2015 2014
$'000 $'000
39,249 -
2015 2014
$'000 $'000
21,778 16,354
2,243 4,115
2,474 4,515
26,495 24,984
2015 2014
$'000 $'000
4,164 4,208
3,824 3,386
2,604 2,984
2,117 1,651
12,709 12,229




17 Non-current liabilities - Borrowings

Unsecured
Loans from related parties

Represents an unsecured, interest bearing loan from Anglo American Metallurgical Coal Finance Ltd.

18 Non-current liabilities - Provisions

Employee benefits

Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental provisions

19 Non-current liabilities - Other non-current liabilities

Tax related amounts payable to related party

20 Accumulated losses

(a) Accumulated losses

Balance 1 January

Net loss the year

Tax consolidation adjustment
Balance 31 December

28

Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)

2015 2014
$'000 $'000
592,942 581,009
592,942 581,009
2015 2014
$'000 $'000
1,372 1,756
31,377 26,985
32,749 28,741
2015 2014
$'000 $'000
- 446
- 446
2015 2014
$'000 $'000
(355,446)  (256,967)
(257,114) (98,479)
53,004 -
(559,556)  (355,446)




Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

Notes to the consolldated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)

21 Contingencies
(a) Contingent liabilities
The group had contingent liabilities at 31 December 2015 in respect of:

I) Bank guarantees amounting to $5,608 thousand (2014: $7,156 thousand).
if) Other contingent liabilities amounting to $70 thousand (2014: $70 thousand).

Other contingent liabilities predominantly relate to personal injury claims made against the group.

In addition to the above, bank guarantees are held by the group (2015: $74,144 thousand; 2014: $82,500
thousand) as a requirement of mining leases held with the Queensland Government. The financial assurance
requirement relates to rehabilitation obligations in respect of land disturbed. Notably, these are not considered
contingent liabilities as the obligation to incur rehabilitation costs has been fully provided for (refer note1 (y)).

(b) Contingent assets
As at 31 December 2015, the group did not have any contingent assets (2014: $nif).

22 Commitments

(a) Commitments

Contracted capital commitments at the reporting date but not recognised as liabillties in the consolidated balance
sheet is as follows:

2015 2014
$°000 $'000

Within one year 84 841
84 841

In addition, the group had outstanding commitments under contracts relating to port and rail services.
(b) Mining leases
(i) Mining lease commitments

2015 2014

$'000 $'000
Within one year 377 3an
Later than one year but not later than five years 1,576 1,554
Later than five years 7,172 7,533
9,125 9,458

Mining lease commitments relate to lease rights to explore or exploit natural resources paid to various
Government Regulators and other non-cancellable arrangements in relation to property, plant and equipment.
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Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)

23 Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash (outflow) / inflow from operating

activities

Loss for the year
Impairment of non-current assets
Non-cash rehabilitation costs
Net gain on sale of non-current assets
Depreciation and amortisation
Net exchange difference
Interest capitalised to loan
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease in trade and other receivables
Decrease / (Increase) in inventories
Decrease in deferred tax asset
Decrease / (Increase) in provision for income taxes receivable
Increase In other operating assets
Decrease / (Increase) in tax related balances with related party
Increase / (Decrease) in trade and other payables
Increase / (Decrease) in other provisions
Net cash (outflow) / inflow from operating activities

30

2015 2014
$'000 $'000
(257,114) (98,479)
191,036 102,606
1,111 (1,624)
52 .
15,803 29,852
(171) 56
16,114 16,327
3,867 15,549
4,867 (13,355)
5,034 8,508
2,760 (799)
(89) (123)
13,309 (43727)
1,581 (3,638)
4,488 (237)
2,648 10,916




Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
31 December 2015

(continued)

24 Events occurring after the reporting period

No matter or circumstance has occurred subsequent to year end that has significantly affected, or may
significantly affect, the operations of the group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the group

or economic entity in subsequent financial years.

25 Additional company information

The principal activities of the group consist of:

* holding a 70% share of the Foxleigh Joint Venture, held both directly and indirectly;
« mining in Australia and sale of high quality pulverised coal injection coal, and
» exploration in Australia for additional coal resources.

The group consists of the parent company Anglo Coal (Foxieigh) Pty Ltd, an Australian proprietary company
limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. For information about the group’s policies in relation to
the basis of accounting for interests in other entities, see note 1. A list of the principal subsidiaries and joint
operations of the group are set out below:

« Anglo Coal (Foxleigh Management) Pty Ltd;
« Anglo Coal (Foxleigh Services) Pty Ltd;

» CAML Resources Pty Ltd;

* Foxleigh Land Pty Ltd; and

« Foxleigh Joint Venture.

The group's registered office and principal place of business is:
Ground floor

201 Charlotte Street
Brisbane Qld 4000

26 Controlling entities

The immediate parent entity is Anglo American Metallurgical Coal Assets Pty Ltd.
The ultimate Australian parent entity is Anglo American Australia Limited.

The ultimate parent entity is Anglo American pic, a company Incorporated in the United Kingdom with its primary
listing on the London Stock Exchange.
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Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd
Directors' Declaration
31 December 2015

As detailed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the group is not a reporting entity because in the opinion of the
directors' there are unlikely to exist users of the financial report who are unable to command the preparation of
reports tailored to satisfy, specifically, all of their needs. Accordingly this is a ‘special purpose financial report'
prepared for the purpose of providing information as part of the divestment process of the group.

In the directors' opinion:

(a) thefinancial statements and notes set out on pages 1 to 31:

0] comply with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described in Note 1 to the financial
statements;
(ii) presents fairly the group's financial position as at 31 December 2015 and of its performance, as

represented by the results of its operations, changes in equity and its cash flows, for the period
ended on that date; and

(b) at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Adriaan Esterhuizen
Director
Brisbane

" 30 X'\ March 2016
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN. 74490 121 060

- Riverside Centre
eloitte
® 123 Eagle Street

Brisbane QLD 4000
GPO Box.1463
Brisbane QLD 4001 Australia

DX 115

Tel: +61 (0) 7 3308 7000
Fax: +61 (0) 7 3308 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Board of
Directors of Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd

We have audited the accompanying financial report, being a special purpose financial report, of Anglo
Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd, which comprises the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2015, the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of cash flows and the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended,
notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and
the directors’ declaration as set out on pages 1 to 32.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance
with the basis of preparation described in Note 1 and have determined that the basis of preparation is
appropriate to meet the financial reporting requirements and needs of the Board of Directors. The
directors’ responsibility also includes such internal control as the directors’ determine is necessary to
enable the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report, in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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Deloitte.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd as at 31 December 2015 and its financial performance for the year then
ended in accordance with the basis of preparation as described in Note 1.

Significant uncertainty regarding continuation as a going concern

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the financial report which outlines the
potential divestment of the company. The matters set out in Note 1 indicate that a significant
uncertainty may exist which casts significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue as a going
concern and therefore, the company may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in
the normal course of business.

Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution and Use
The financial report has been prepared to meet the requirements of the Board of Directors in relation
to the proposed divestment of the Anglo Coal (Foxleigh) Pty Ltd. As a result, the financial report may

not be suitable for another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the directors and should not be
used or relied upon by parties other than the directors.

Dol Torete Tomido

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

e

Colin Brown

Partner

Chartered Accountants
Brisbane, 30 March 2016
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Proxy instructions

Registered Office

Suite 4101

Level 41

1 Macquarie Place

Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

Proxies

Shareholders are entitled to appoint up to two individuals or bodies corporate to act as proxies to attend
and vote on their behalf. The appointment of a second proxy must be done on a separate copy of the
Proxy Form. Where more than one proxy is appointed each proxy must be appointed to represent a
specific proportion of the Shareholder’s voting rights. If the appointment does not specify the proportion or
number of votes each proxy may exercise, each proxy may exercise half the votes.

A member may direct a proxy how to vote by marking one of the boxes opposite each item of business.
Where a box is not marked, the proxy may vote as they choose. Where more than one box is marked on
an item, the vote will be invalid on that item.

The Proxy Form (and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which the Proxy Form is
signed) or a copy or facsimile which appears on its face to be an authentic copy of the Proxy Form (and
the power of attorney or other authority) must be deposited at or sent by facsimile transmission to Realm
Resources Limited at:

e Online at www.investorvote.com.au

e in person at: Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited, Level 4, 60 Carrington Street, Sydney,
NSW, 2000 Australia;

e by post to: Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited, GPO Box 242, Melbourne, VIC, 3001.;
e by facsimile to: 1800 783 447 (within Australia) or +61 3 9473 2555 (outside Australia); or

¢ Custodians, nominees, non-broker participants, portfolio administrators, portfolio aggregators and
eligible financial advisers may also lodge their proxy online. Visit www.intermediaryonline.com.

Note that the Proxy Form must be received by the Company not later than 11.00 am AEST on 12 July
2017. Proxy forms received later than this time will be invalid.

The Proxy Form must be signed by the Shareholder or his/her attorney duly authorised in writing or, if the
Shareholder is a corporation, in a manner permitted by that corporation’s constitution.

The proxy may, but need not, be a Shareholder of the Company. A proxy may be a person or a body
corporate.

In the case of Shares jointly held by two or more persons, all joint holders must sign the Proxy Form.

For the convenience of Shareholders, a Proxy Form is enclosed. However, the Company will accept any
appointment of a proxy which complies with the requirements of section 250A of the Corporations Act.

Completion of a Proxy Form will not prevent individual members from attending the Extraordinary General
Meeting in person if they wish. Where a member completes and lodges a valid Proxy Form and attends the
Meeting in person, then the proxy’s authority to speak and vote for that member is suspended while the
member is present at the Meeting.



Voting Entitlement

For the purposes of Regulation 7.11.37 of the Corporations Regulations 2001 (Cth), the Directors have
determined that the persons eligible to vote at the Extraordinary General Meeting are those registered
shareholders of the Company at 7.00 pm (AEST) on 12 July 2017. Accordingly, transactions registered
after that time will be disregarded in determining entitlements to attend and vote at the Meeting.



Realm Resources Limited
ABN 98 008 124 025

RRP

MR SAM SAMPLE

FLAT 123

123 SAMPLE STREET
THE SAMPLE HILL
SAMPLE ESTATE
SAMPLEVILLE VIC 3030

Lodge your vote:
I:l Online:

www.investorvote.com.au

>4 By Mail:
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
GPO Box 242 Melbourne
Victoria 3001 Australia

Alternatively you can fax your form to
(within Australia) 1800 783 447
(outside Australia) +61 3 9473 2555

For Intermediary Online subscribers only
(custodians) www.intermediaryonline.com

For all enquiries call:
(within Australia) 1300 855 080
(outside Australia) +61 3 9415 4000

Proxy Form

XX

This Document is printed on Greenhouse Friendly~ ENVI Laser Carbon Neutral Paper

=

Vote and view the notice of meeting online

*Go to www.investorvote.com.au or scan the QR Code with your mobile device.
* Follow the instructions on the secure website to vote.

Control Number: 999999

SRN/HIN: 19999999999 PIN: 99999

Your access information that you will need to vote:

PLEASE NOTE: For security reasons it is important that you keep your SRN/HIN confidential.

22X For your vote to be effective it must be received by 11:00 am AEST Wednesday 12 July 2017.

How to Vote on Items of Business
All your securities will be voted in accordance with your directions.

Appointment of Proxy

Voting 100% of your holding: Direct your proxy how to vote by
marking one of the boxes opposite each item of business. If you do
not mark a box your proxy may vote or abstain as they choose (to
the extent permitted by law). If you mark more than one box on an
item your vote will be invalid on that item.

Voting a portion of your holding: Indicate a portion of your
voting rights by inserting the percentage or number of securities
you wish to vote in the For, Against or Abstain box or boxes. The
sum of the votes cast must not exceed your voting entitlement or
100%.

Appointing a second proxy: You are entitled to appoint up to two
proxies to attend the meeting and vote on a poll. If you appoint two
proxies you must specify the percentage of votes or number of
securities for each proxy, otherwise each proxy may exercise half of
the votes. When appointing a second proxy write both names and
the percentage of votes or number of securities for each in Step 1
overleaf.

A proxy need not be a securityholder of the Company.

Signing Instructions for Postal Forms

Individual: Where the holding is in one name, the securityholder
must sign.

Joint Holding: Where the holding is in more than one name, all of
the securityholders should sign.

Power of Attorney: If you have not already lodged the Power of
Attorney with the registry, please attach a certified photocopy of the
Power of Attorney to this form when you return it.

Companies: Where the company has a Sole Director who is also
the Sole Company Secretary, this form must be signed by that
person. If the company (pursuant to section 204A of the Corporations
Act 2001) does not have a Company Secretary, a Sole Director can
also sign alone. Otherwise this form must be signed by a Director
jointly with either another Director or a Company Secretary. Please
sign in the appropriate place to indicate the office held. Delete titles
as applicable.

Attending the Meeting

Bring this form to assist registration. If a representative of a corporate
securityholder or proxy is to attend the meeting you will need to
provide the appropriate “Certificate of Appointment of Corporate
Representative” prior to admission. A form of the certificate may be
obtained from Computershare or online at www.investorcentre.com
under the help tab, "Printable Forms".

Comments & Questions: If you have any comments or questions
for the company, please write them on a separate sheet of paper and
return with this form.

GO ONLINE TO VOTE, S
or turn over to complete the form

Samples/000001/000001




M&?A,]I\;:SSAMPLE |:| Change of address. If incorrect,
mark this box and make the

}ZHSESSA:B\I\Q/IPF!’_IFESI:II]ELE ET correction in the space to the left.
Securityholders sponsored by a

SAMPLE ESTATE
SAMPLEVILLE VIC 3030 broker (reference number

commences with ‘X’) should advise

your broker of any changes. I 9999999999 | N D

O Proxy Form Please mark | X | to indicate your directions

STEP 1 Appoint a Proxy to Vote on Your Behalf XX
I/We being a member/s of Realm Resources Limited hereby appoint
the Chairman 2 & PLEASE NOTE: Leave this box blank if
: h lected the Chai f th
of the Meetmg T }l(/(laeuetiﬁ;ésg ﬁgteinse(:t yot?rlrcr)nv?r?r?amee(s).

or failing the individual or body corporate named, or if no individual or body corporate is named, the Chairman of the Meeting, as my/our proxy
to act generally at the Meeting on my/our behalf and to vote in accordance with the following directions (or if no directions have been given, and
to the extent permitted by law, as the proxy sees fit) at the Extraordinary General Meeting of Realm Resources Limited to be held at Maddocks
Lawyers, Level 27, Angel Place, 123 Pitt Street, Sydney, NSW, 2000 on Friday, 14th July, 2017 at 11:00 am AEST and at any adjournment or
postponement of that Meeting.

STEP 2 Items Of BUSineSS ;Z:l’; PLEASE NOTE: If you mark the Abstain box for an item, you are directing your proxy not to vote on your

behalf on a show of hands or a poll and your votes will not be counted in computing the required majority.

1 Change to scale of activities

2  Consolidation of Capital

3 Approval for issue of shares under the Capital Raise

The Chairman of the Meeting intends to vote undirected proxies in favour of each item of business. In exceptional circumstances, the Chairman of the Meeting may
change his/her voting intention on any resolution, in which case an ASX announcement will be made.

m Signatu re of Secu rityholder(s) This section must be completed.

Individual or Securityholder 1 Securityholder 2 Securityholder 3
Sole Director and Sole Company Secretary Director Director/Company Secretary
Contact
Contact Daytime / /
Name Telephone Date

Bl RRP 228134A Computershare =
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